

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

2011

# POLYAMINE MODULATION IN ALCOHOLISM: EXAMINATION USING A NOVEL SCREENING PROCEDURE DESIGNED TO PREDICT ANTI-RELAPSE AND NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFICACY

J. Ben Lewis University of Kentucky, benlewis@ufl.edu

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

### **Recommended Citation**

Lewis, J. Ben, "POLYAMINE MODULATION IN ALCOHOLISM: EXAMINATION USING A NOVEL SCREENING PROCEDURE DESIGNED TO PREDICT ANTI-RELAPSE AND NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFICACY" (2011). *University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations*. 851. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/gradschool\_diss/851

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

# STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained and attached hereto needed written permission statements(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine).

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless a preapproved embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

# **REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE**

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's dissertation including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

J. Ben Lewis, Student

Dr. Susan Barron, Major Professor

Dr. David Berry, Director of Graduate Studies

# POLYAMINE MODULATION IN ALCOHOLISM: EXAMINATION USING A NOVEL SCREENING PROCEDURE DESIGNED TO PREDICT ANTI-RELAPSE AND NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFICACY

## DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Arts and Sciences at the University of Kentucky

By

Ben Lewis

Lexington, Kentucky Director: Dr. Susan Barron, Professor of Psychology Lexington, Kentucky

2011

Copyright © Ben Lewis 2011

Copyright © Ben Lewis 2011

### ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

## POLYAMINE MODULATION IN ALCOHOLISM: EXAMINATION USING A NOVEL SCREENING PROCEDURE DESIGNED TO PREDICT ANTI-RELAPSE AND NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFICACY

Alcohol dependence is a major public health concern. Despite the FDA's approval of multiple anti-relapse drugs, relapse rates remain unacceptably high. Furthermore, cognitive deficits among chronic drinkers are evident and are suggested to contribute to relapse risk. Current evidence suggests that several critical features of alcoholism and alcohol-associated neurodegeneration are mechanistically linked to glutamatergic actions; specifically, they appear positively affected by glutamatergic inhibition, particularly inhibition via polyamine modulation of a subpopulation of *n*-methyl-*d*-aspartate receptors. The current project was designed to evaluate the performance of two putative polyamine modulators (JR-220 and CP-101,606) in a variety of screens designed to identify the potential to reduce withdrawal severity, neurotoxicity and relapse risk. Screens included a complex organotypic screen designed to assess neuroprotective potential (Experiment 1), a simple behavioral screen designed to assess withdrawal severity (Experiment 2) as well as several more complex behavioral screens designed to examine cue-conditioning during withdrawal (Experiment 3), relapse behavior (Experiment 4), stress-associated consumption (Experiment 5) and binge-like consumption (Experiment 6). An additional open field experiment (Experiment 7) was conducted in order to address interpretational issues concerning activity in Experiments 2-6. Finally, as a first step in moving beyond simple screening, we expanded our binge screen to adhere more closely to an established, validated model of binge consumption (Experiment 8). While some interpretational issues were noted, taken together, the results from these experiments provide strong evidence for both drugs as potential pharmacotherapies for alcoholism and further implicate polyamines and NR2B subunits as critical mechanisms in ETOH consumption and withdrawal.

# KEYWORDS: Alcohol, Polyamines, Excitotoxicity, Relapse, NMDAr, Drug Development

Ben Lewis Student's Signature 11/15/2011

# POLYAMINE MODULATION IN ALCOHOLISM: EXAMINATION USING A NOVEL SCREENING PROCEDURE DESIGNED TO PREDICT ANTI-RELAPSE AND NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFICACY

By

Ben Lewis

Dr. Susan Barron

Director of Dissertation

Dr. David Berry

Director of Graduate Studies

11/15/2011

# POLYAMINE MODULATION IN ALCOHOLISM: EXAMINATION USING A NOVEL SCREENING PROCEDURE DESIGNED TO PREDICT ANTI-RELAPSE AND NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFICACY

By

Ben Lewis

Dr. John Littleton

Co-Director of Dissertation

Dr. Mark Prendergast

Co-Director of Dissertation

Dr. David Berry

Director of Graduate Studies

11/15/2011

This dissertation is dedicated to Kristen & Megan, whose shoulders were always there to lean on, and whose laughter & comfort I miss immeasurably.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This dissertation would not have been possible were it not for the guidance of numerous people. First and foremost, Dr. Susan Barron, whose tremendous dedication to the field of alcohol research and absolute devotion to her family, colleagues and students has been inspirational. During our time together Susan has been a mentor, always, and variously a teacher, surrogate mother and friend, all of which I am grateful for. Additionally, Drs. John Littleton, Mark Prendergast and Michael Bardo have provided constant support and encouragement and have always been willing to donate their time, whether to teach me a new technique or field my questions over a pint. Further thanks are due those who've guided me along the way, Paul Bugenhagen, Mark Beckenbach, and Drs. Heidi Harley, Gordon Bauer, Chana Akins and Sara Jo Nixon.

Data collection would not have been possible without Ben Overgaauw, Lindsay Carter, Ashlyn Adams, Nate Kremer, Justin Farook and Ana Kehrberg, all of whom helped make this work a pleasure.

Finally, I owe a tremendous debt of gratitude to my partner, Carrie Todd, and to my family. To my grandmother, Mary Lewis; my sisters, Caitlin Nelson, Angela DeCarlis and Fay Yancey; my brothers, Ian Thomas and Chris Lewis; and my parents, Anne Gilroy, Mark Lewis and Nan Szypulski; you are everything to me and I could never thank you enough.

Acknowledgements	i
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Subjective Effects	2
1.2 Absorption	2
1.3 Metabolism & Excretion	3
Chapter 2. Pharmacology	3
2.1 ETOH & Dopamine	4
2.2 ETOH & 5-HT	5
2.3 ETOH & Opiate Systems	5
2.4 ETOH & Acetylcholine	6
2.5 ETOH & GABA	7
2.6 ETOH & Glutamate	7
2.6.1 NMDAr	9
2.6.2 Polyamines	10
2.6.3 NMDArs & ETOH	12
Chapter 3. ETOH-Associated Brain Damage	16
3.1 Mechanisms of Damage	16
3.2 Excitotoxicity & Polyamines	
Chapter 4. ETOH Dependence	20
4.1 Acute & Protracted Withdrawal	20
4.1.1 Glutamatergic Hyperactivity	21
4.1.2 Stress, Anxiety & Negative Affect	22
4.2 Relapse & ETOH Reinforcement	23
4.2.1 Conditioned Cues	27

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 5. Pharmacotherapy	30
5.1 Disulfiram	30
5.2 Naltrexone	30
5.3 Current Promising Strategies	31
5.4 Acamprosate	33
5.5 Memantine	34
5.6 Eliprodil/Ifenprodil	35
5.7 CP-101,606	37
5.8 Agmatine & Our Current Development Strategy: Novel Polyamine Modulators	39
Chapter 6. Hypotheses & Project Summary	43
Chapter 7. Methods, Results & Discussion (by Experiment)	45
Experiment 1: Organotypic Hippocampal Slice Culture	47
Experiment 2: Handling-Induced Convulsion	61
Experiment 3: Conditioned Pseudo-Withdrawal in the Elevated Plus Maze	69
Experiment 4: Alcohol Deprivation Effect	76
Experiment 5: Stress-Associated Drinking	86
Experiment 6: Drinking in the Dark (Screen)	93
Experiment 7: Open Field Activity	101
Experiment 8: Drinking in the Dark (Model)	113
Chapter 8. General Discussion	119
8.1 Summary of Results	119
8.2 Clinical Futures	122
Appendix A: Table Legend	126
Appendix B: Figure Legend	127
References	132
Vita	159

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1, Species/Strain Use by Experiment	45
Table 2, JR-220 Treatments & Subjects	51
Table 3, CP-101 Treatments & Subjects	51
Table 4, Handling-Induced Convulsion Assessment Scale	63
Table 5, Sucrose Fading Schedule	78

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1, Simplified Polyamine Biosynthesis	11
Figure 2, Contributions of ETOH Withdrawal to Reinforcement and Cue Salience	22
Figure 3, Molecular Structure of Ifenprodil and its Analogue, CP-101,606	
Figure 4, Molecular Structure of Agmatine and its Analogue, JR-220	42
Figure 5, Treatment Distribution Within a Single Culture	50
Figure 6, JR-220 in CA1	52
Figure 7, JR-220 in CA3	53
Figure 8, JR-220 in DG	54
Figure 9, CP-101,606 in CA1	55
Figure 10, CP-101,606 in CA3	56
Figure 11, CP-101,606 in DG	57
Figure 12, Representative Slices from Select Treatment Groups	58
Figure 13, BEC as a Function of Time and 4MP Treatment	64
Figure 14, JR-220 HICs, Percent Control Values	65
Figure 15, CP-101,606 in HICs, Percent Control Values	66
Figure 16, Stretched-Attend Behaviors	72
Figure 17, Time Spent in Closed vs. Open Arms	73
Figure 18 Total Arm Entries,	74
Figure 19, 20 mg/kg JR in ADE	80
Figure 20, Water Consumption in ADE Reinstatement Phases (20 mg/kg)	81
Figure 21, 10 mg/kg JR in ADE	82
Figure 22, Water Consumption During ADE Reinstatement Phases (10 mg/kg)	83
Figure 23, Restrained vs. Unrestrained Drinking	89
Figure 24, JR-220 Treatment (Following 5-day Restraint Period)	90
Figure 25, Unrestrained Animales, 0 vs. 30 mg/kg JR	91
Figure 26, Latin-Square Design for Screen 1 and Screen 2	95

Figure 27, DID ETOH Access Schedule
Figure 28, Daily DID Consumption (4 hr/day) Prior to Treatment Phase
Figure 29, CP-101,606 (10 mg/kg) and JR-220 (10 mg/kg) in DID97
Figure 30, JR-220 (20 mg/kg) and Acamprosate (300 mg/kg) in DID98
Figure 31a, Open Field Quadrant Crosses (By Block) Following Saline, JR and CP103
Figure 31b, Open Field Quadrant Crosses (Total) Following Saline, JR and CP103
Figure 32, Open Field Center Dwell-Time Following Saline, JR and CP Treatment104
Figure 33, Activity 30-60 min Following JR-220 Administration (Sprague Dawleys)106
Figure 34, Activity 4-4.5 hr Following JR-220 Administration (Sprague Dawleys)107
Figure 35, Open Field Quadrant Crosses Following Saline or CP (C57 Mice)108
Figure 36, Open Field Quadrant Crosses Following Saline or JR (C57 Mice)109
Figure 37, Open Field Quadrant Crosses (Total) Following Saline, 10, 20, or 30 mg/kg JR110
Figure 38, Latin-Square Treatment Design114
Figure 39, DID ETOH Access Schedule115
Figure 40, Ethanol Consumption Following CP-101,606 Administration116
Figure 41, Ethanol Consumption Following JR-220 Administration117
Figure 42, Model of Relapse Progression with Experimental Evidence for Intervention120

### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

Alcohol dependence is a major public health concern, with an estimated annual economic cost of over \$180 billion (Harwood, 2000; NIAAA, 2004; Lupton, Burd & Harwood, 2004). In the US, alcohol dependence ranks 3<sup>rd</sup> in preventable mortality (DHHS, 2000), is estimated to affect approximately 4% of the population (Grant et al., 2004), and contributes to more than 100,000 deaths, annually (McGinnis & Foege, 1999).

Alcohol dependence, herein referred to as alcoholism, is a chronic, relapsing disorder with numerous detrimental health consequences. DSM-IV characterization of dependence includes frequent intoxication, compulsion to consume alcohol, tolerance, loss of control in limiting consumption despite adverse consequences and emergence of a negative emotional state during withdrawal (American Psychiatric Association [*DSM-IV-TR*], 2000). The DSM-IV recognizes both alcohol dependence and abuse as alcohol use disorders (AUDs), however alcohol abuse diagnoses are reserved primarily for individuals not reaching criteria for dependence, but who drink despite alcohol-related problems, or drink in dangerous situations (e.g., driving). Alcohol abuse was the most common problem treated in substance abuse treatment centers from 1994-1999, with 18.2 million people in the US meeting AUD criteria (SAMHSA, 2008).

Ethanol (C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>5</sub>OH; ETOH), also referred to as ethyl or grain alcohol, is a small straight-chain molecule, and the intoxicating component in alcoholic beverages. Evidence for human ETOH consumption has been noted as far back as the Neolithic period (McGovern et al., 2004), and its contemporary consumption across cultures is nearly ubiquitous. Ethanol is considered a central nervous system (CNS) depressant and psychoactive drug. Dosage is quantified as blood alcohol content (BAC), either as mg/dl, or as % v/v.

Due to the aforementioned economic and health concerns, the development and identification of efficacious treatments for alcoholism remain primary goals in basic research. The current work is focused on the identification and development of known and novel compounds, examining their potential efficacy as neuroprotective and anti-relapse agents.

#### **1.1 Subjective Effects**

ETOH has a wide array of subjective effects, dependent on individual differences, dose, and expectations (Sher et al., 2005), which can be generally characterized as anxiolytic, disinhibitive and euphorigenic. Paradoxically, while considered a CNS depressant, ETOH possesses strong stimulatory properties, particularly at lower doses, and during the ascending limb of the BAC curve. At lower doses (.02-.05 mg/dl BAC), ETOH produces feelings of "warmth" and relaxation. Moderate doses (.05-.09 BAC) are associated with reduced inhibitory control, euphoria and mild psychomotor perturbances. Higher doses (.1-.19 BAC) are associated with ataxia, confusion, mood disturbances and drowsiness, with still higher doses inducing amnesia, unconsciousness, respiratory distress and death, with an LD50 of approximately .4 (for review see Doweiko, 2010).

#### **1.2 Absorption**

Ethanol is both water and lipid soluble, facilitating its rapid distribution to all blood-rich tissues in the body. Due to its high water solubility, concentrations in brain quickly surpass those in blood, (Kranzler & Ciraulo, 2005). The small intestine provides the main route of ETOH absorption, however 10-25% of absorption occurs via stomach lining (Kaplan, Sadock & Grebb, 1994). Ethanol is detectable in blood within one minute following consumption (Rose, 1988), with its rate of absorption primarily dependent on the presence of food, which limit alcohol's ability to diffuse through the stomach lining and intestinal walls (Sher et al., 2005; for review see Doweiko, 2010).

### 1.3 Metabolism & Excretion

The primary metabolism of ETOH occurs in liver via several isoenzymes of alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH). There are five classes of ADH (1-5), but the hepatic form (in humans) is primarily Class 1, and is found in stomach and liver. ADH catalyzes the oxidation of ETOH to acetaldehyde by converting NAD<sup>+</sup> to NADH. A secondary mechanism of ETOH metabolism is the microsomal ethanol oxidizing system (for review see Lieber, 1999). This system involves metabolism by cytochrome P450, particularly CYP2E1 (Koop, 2006; Lieber, 2004), also producing acetaldehyde. Acetaldehyde is unstable, forming free radical structures (discussed in greater depth below) and prolonged acetaldehyde exposure in liver and kidneys is a major health concern in chronic alcoholics. Acetaldehyde is converted to acetic acid by acetaldehyde dehydrogenase. Acetic acid may be excreted in urine, or further reduced to Acetyl-CoA by Acetyl-CoA Synthetase. Acetyl-CoA can then enter the citric acid cycle, where it is converted to CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O (for review see Holford et al., 1987). 90-95% of ETOH elimination in humans is accounted for by oxidation, with excretion via skin, lungs and kidneys accounting for the remainder (Holford, 1987).

#### Chapter 2. Pharmacology

In the 1960s, the study of ETOH interactions with ion channels was initiated with the discovery of its suppressant effect on sodium and potassium currents in squid axons (Armstrong & Binstock, 1964; Moore, Ulbricht & Takata, 1964). Since that time, it is difficult to name a receptor/transmitter system whose interaction with ETOH has not been examined. While a complete review of these interactions is beyond the scope of the current work, ETOH effects on a number of neurotransmitter systems, with attention to neuropharmacology thought to relate to its neurotoxic and/or reinforcing effects, will be discussed.

#### 2.1 ETOH & Dopamine

Although a number of transmitter systems and brain structures contribute to ETOH's reinforcing action, alterations in mesolimbic dopamine (DA) is a common downstream effect. This system is comprised of DAergic projections extending from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) of the midbrain to the nucleus accumbens (NAcc). Systemic ETOH injections increase extracellular DA in rodent NAcc (e.g., Blomqvist, Engel & Nissbrandt, 1993; Diana, Pistis & Carboni, 1993; Di Chiara & Imperato, 1985), as does voluntary ETOH consumption (Howard et al., 2008), with DA and BAC levels highly correlated. Additionally, DA increases in human ventral striatum following ETOH administration, which correlate with subjective euphoria, have been reported (Boileau, et al., 2003). That mesolimbic DA is involved in ETOH reinforcement is supported by reductions in ETOH self-administration following DA antagonism in NAcc (Rassnick, Pulvirenti & Koob, 1992). Activation of mesolimbic circuitry is induced by a number of ETOH effects, including interaction with glutamate (GLU), nicotinic acetylcholine (nACh), opiate, serotonin (5-HT) receptors, and gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) receptors (for review see Vengeliene, 2009).

However, while mesolimbic DA activation is necessary for the reinforcing

properties of many drugs of abuse, ablation of mesolimbic and nigrostriatal systems does not abolish ETOH consumption in rodents (Kiianmaa et al., 1979; Shoemaker et al., 2002). Similarly, selective ablation of NAcc fails to disrupt consumption in both heterogenous (Fahlke et al., 1994; Myers & Quarfordt, 1991) and alcohol preferring (Ikemoto et al., 1997; Koistinen et al, 2001) rats. These findings do not suggest that ethanol's activation of DAergic systems is unimportant, but rather highlight the varied contribution of numerous systems to consummatory behavior (for review see Gonzales, Job & Doyon, 2004), in a manner which seems somewhat unique relative to other substances of abuse.

#### 2.2 ETOH & 5-HT

ETOH potentiates 5-HT receptor function (Lovinger & Zhou, 1994) and increases 5-HT at numerous nuclei throughout brain (McBride et al., 1993; LeMarquand et al., 1994; for review see Kirby et al., 2011). 5-HT is known to interact with DAergic systems, modulating mesolimbic DA output. While this interaction is not well understood, microdialysis studies suggest that 5-HT exposure in the NAcc and striatum stimulate DA release (Kelland & Chiodo, 1996). Direct synaptic contact between 5-HT terminals and DA cells in the midbrain supports such an interaction, and provide an additional mechanism through which ETOH is suggested to exert a reinforcing effect. However, while it is clear that altering 5-HT function can modulate ETOH self-administration, contrasting findings in the literature somewhat obscure the mechanistic contributions to this interaction; increasing 5-HT bioavailability appears to reduce ETOH intake (Fadda et al., 1991; Hodge et al., 1993), although 5-HTr antagonism of several receptor subtypes, including 5-HT3 and 5-HT2, also reduces intake (Roberts et al., 1998).

#### 2.3 ETOH & Opiate Systems

The opioid receptor system is composed of metabotropic receptors of at least three types ( $\mu$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\kappa$ ). Endogenous opioid peptides are known to play a role in the rewarding

effects of several drugs of abuse, primarily (though not exclusively) through their modulation of mesolimbic DAergic activity, although such action appears generally limited to peptides activating the  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  receptors. It is now clear that significant interaction with the opioid system occurs following ETOH exposure (for review see Hertz, 1997), however the details of much of this interaction remain equivocal. ETOH appears to increase the density of both  $\mu$  and  $\delta$  receptors in animal models (Charness et al., 1993; for review see Tabakoff et al., 1996). Low to moderate concentrations of ETOH increase the release of the endogenous  $\mu$  receptor agonist, beta endorphin, in the VTA (Jarjour, Bai & Gianoulakis, 2009). Such findings provide another mechanism through which ETOH exerts reinforcing effects, as activation of VTA-associated  $\mu$ receptors enhances DA efflux in NAcc. Additionally, powerful evidence for the significance of ETOH's interaction with this system has been elucidated via opioidspecific pharmacological manipulation (reviewed below).

#### 2.4 ETOH & Acetylcholine

ETOH alters the function of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs). ETOH enhances the response to nicotine *in vivo* (Breese et al., 1993) and appears to interact directly with nAChRs (Aistrup et al., 1999); it is suggested to act as a co-agonist to ACh at some receptor subtypes, and may function allosterically, increasing agonist affinity for the receptor (Forman, Righi & Miller, 1989). For example, ETOH increases responsiveness to nicotine in  $\alpha$ 2b2,  $\alpha$ 3b2, and  $\alpha$ 4b2 receptor subtypes (de Fiebre, Papke & Meyer, 1995), and potentiates inward currents at  $\alpha$ 3b4 nAChR subtypes. ACh agonism in VTA stimulates DA release in NAcc (Li et al., 2008) providing a possible mechanism of ACh-dependent ETOH reinforcement. However, inhibitory effects have also been noted (e.g., Covernton & Connolly, 1997), highlighting the complexity of ETOH-nAChR interactions. Of particular interest, ETOH has been shown to inhibit  $\alpha$ 7 nAChR subtypes (e.g., de Fiebre & de Fiebre 2005; Narahashi et al., 1999), with further examinations suggesting that this  $\alpha$ 7 subtype is particularly important in modulating several behavioral and physiological responses to ETOH (Bowers et al., 2005). Additional evidence for

cholinergic involvement is provided by nAChR antagonists, which attenuate consummatory responses in a variety of models and species (e.g., Ericson et al., 1998; Blomqvist et al. 1996).

### 2.5 ETOH & GABA

GABA is the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in mammalian CNS. ETOH allosterically modulates the ionotropic GABA-A receptor complex and potentiates chloride flux through the membrane, resulting in hyperpolarization produced by GABA. Many behavioral effects of ETOH mimic those of GABA-A receptor agonists, suggesting the direct involvement of GABA-A receptors in its action. GABA-A receptors are colocalized on DA neurons and GABAergic interneurons in VTA (Xi & Stein, 1998), facilitating a close interaction between these systems, with mesolimbic DA release regulated by GABA interneurons (Maldonado et al., 1997). Inhibition of these interneurons, thought to occur following ETOH exposure, increases NAcc DA release (Kalivas et al., 1990). GABA appears involved in ETOH's behavioral effects (e.g., ataxia, anesthesia), as GABA-mimetics enhance ETOH-associated behaviors, whereas functional antagonists decrease them (for review see Deitrich et al., 1989). Interestingly, such GABA antagonists also appear to reduce consummatory behaviors (Lister & Linnoila, 1991; Mihic & Harris, 1996; for review see Grobin et al., 1998). While these findings provide only surface detail concerning the interactions of ETOH in the GABA system, ample evidence suggests GABA receptor subunit composition and concentration of ETOH in the system can alter such interactions in a complex manner (for review see Lobo & Harris, 2008).

#### 2.6 ETOH & Glutamate

Glutamate is the major excitatory transmitter in the mammalian brain. To date, three groups of G-protein coupled metabotropic GLU receptors (mGluRs) have been identified; Group I (mGluR1 & mGluR5) activates phospholipase C, producing

diacylglycerol and inositol triphosphate as secondary messengers, while Groups II (mGluR2 & mGluR3) and III (mGluR4, mGluR6, mGluR7 & mGluR8) are negatively coupled to adenylyl cyclase. The mGluRs are responsible for slow glutamate-mediated neurotransmission and modulation of transmitter release. They couple with G-proteins and are located throughout the limbic and cortical brain regions implicated in alcoholism, and in particular, group I mGluRs (mGluR1 and mGluR5) appear important in regulating the effects of drugs of abuse (Kenny & Markou, 2004).

While mGluRs are almost undoubtedly involved in ETOH action, the ionotropic GLUrs have received far more attention; three basic receptors families have been identified, including the *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAr), the  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPAr) and the kainic acid receptor (KAr). All three are tetrameric complexes, and are inhibited by ETOH at physiologically relevant concentrations (Lovinger et al., 1989; Weiner, Dunwiddie & Valenzuela, 1999; Simson et al., 1991). Fast synaptic transmission within this system is mediated by AMPAr & KAr, while NMDArs appear to mediate slower synaptic kinetics, involving Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Ka<sup>+</sup> flux (for review see Hoffman, 2003).

AMPA receptors are composed of subunits GLUr1-4, which all contain a GLU binding site. AMPAr are generally permeable to Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup>, although many contain the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-impermeable GLUr2 subunit. ETOH inhibition of AMPArs is well noted (Dildy-Mayfield & Harris, 1992; Lovinger, 1993a; Wirkner et al., 2000) and occurs at a wide range of concentrations (10-100mM). AMPAr undergo strong desensitization following agonist exposure (Trussell et al., 1988; Tang et al., 1989), although comparably weaker and more rapid desensitization following AMPA or GLU exposure (Tang et al., 1989; Trussell & Fischbach, 1989; Hestrin, 1992; Barbour et al., 1994). Emerging evidence suggests that ETOH inhibits AMPArs by stabilizing this desensitized state (Moykkynen et al., 2009). Such inhibition is thought to be noncompetitive, distinct from channel blockade (Peoples et al., 1997; Wirkner et al., 2000), although interestingly, AMPAr do not appear to undergo adaptation following chronic ETOH (for review see Davis & Wu, 2001).

KA receptors are composed of subunits GLUr5-7 and KA1-2, and can form homomeric (GLUr only) or heterometric (GLUr5 and KA1-2) stoichiometries (for review see Dingledine et al., 1999). While initial reports indicated preferential sensitivity of NMDAr to ETOH, compared to AMPA/KAr (Hoffman et al., 1989; Lovinger et al., 1989), such sensitivity appears to rely heavily on receptor localization. For instance, KAr in hippocampal CA3 neurons appear strongly affected by ETOH exposure (Weiner, Dunwiddie & Valenzuela, 1999). Postsynaptic KArs appear to share a primary cellular function with AMPArs, both enabling the voltage-dependent functioning of the NMDAr.

## 2.6.1 NMDAr

The NMDArs are critically involved in the synaptic plasticity associated with neuronal development, learning & memory (Collingridge & Singer, 1990; Collingridge & Lester, 1989). It is generally agreed (see Hawkins et al., 1999; Premkumar & Auerback; 1997 for evidence to the contrary) that they are constructed as tetrameric ligand-gated cation channels, composed of two NR1 and two NR2 subunits (McBain & Mayer, 1994; Schorge and Colquhoun 2003). Although recent findings have also identified NR3 subunits, these appear to render receptors insensitive to GLU or NMDA and may assemble with NR1 subunits to form excitatory glycine receptors (Chatterton et al., 2002), however will not be discussed here. The receptor contains six major binding domains. The GLU binding site, which also binds NMDA, is located on NR2 subunits; the Mg<sup>2+</sup> binding site is located within the channel, which it blocks under resting conditions; the MK-801 binding site, which binds other phencyclidine-like compounds is also found in the channel; the glycine (GLY) binding site is located on NR1 subunits; polyamine binding sites are located densely on, but not confined to, NR2B subunits (discussed in the following section); the ifenprodil binding site, which also appears to bind several structurally related compounds (e.g. eliprodil), is also found on NR2B.

NMDArs are unique compared to other ionotropic receptors in that ion flux through the channel relies on three events. Firstly, GLY must bind NR1, co-activating the receptor. Secondly, GLU (or NMDA) must bind NR2. Finally, GLU must bind AMPArs or KArs, inducing partial depolarization of the membrane. This partial depolarization releases Mg<sup>2+</sup> from the pore, allowing Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup> flux through the channel. The requirement of both GLU binding and partial depolarization of the resting potential allow the NMDAr to act as a molecular "coincidence detector", facilitating its roles in longterm potentiation and synaptic plasticity.

Crystallization studies have demonstrated that NR1/NR2 dimers form within the receptor complex, providing allosteric modulation of gating activity. NR1 subunits are ubiquitous in brain, and expressed as at least eight splice variants (Nakanishi et al., 1992). Four NR2 transcripts have been identified (NR2A-D), and are implicated in the pharmacologic specificity of the receptor, such that various subunit combinations can differ widely in their pharmacology (Wafford et al., 1993; Monaghan et al., 1998; Cull-Candy et al., 2001). NR2 subunits appear to determine the synaptic localization and function of the receptor, as NR2 C-terminal deletion disrupts receptor localization, activity, and plasticity (Chung et al., 2004). While receptor stoichiometries are clearly localization-dependent in brain, the degree to which ternary versus binary compositions are found is a matter of some debate. It has been suggested that NR1/NR2A/NR2B composition is the most abundant, with binary species present at much lower levels, however the opposite has also been suggested (Chazot & Stephenson, 1997; Blahos & Wenthold, 1996). Of particular interest to the current project is the NR2B subunit, for a variety of reasons; NR2B appear highly plastic, are concentrated in areas known to be particularly sensitive to ETOH and contain a major binding domain for polyamines.

#### 2.6.2 Polyamines

Polyamines are simple cation compounds, derived from the amino acid arginine. Arginine can be converted into ornithine, which is then further converted to putrescine

via ornithine decarboxylase (ODC) the rate limiting step in the synthesis of polyamines. Alternatively, arginine can be converted to agmatine and then further converted to putrescine, however this pathway appears to account for only a small portion of polyamine production. Putrescine is the precursor for two other major polyamines, spermine and spermidine, converted via spermidine synthase and spermine synthase, respectively (see Figure 1). These polyamines are ubiquitous in brain, and are involved in cell proliferation, differentiation, growth and apoptosis (Slotkin & Bartolome, 1986; Slotkin et al., 2000).



# Figure 1. Simplified Polyamine Biosynthesis

Polyamines bind to NMDArs at several sites (Williams et al., 1995; Kashiwagi et al., 1996; Zheng et al., 1999; Sharma and Reynolds, 1999), and spermine and spermidine

potentiate GLU-mediated responses by binding to the receptor and allosterically increasing GLU binding affinity (Williams, 1997a). Putrescine appears to act differently, exhibiting some antagonistic effects (Romano et al., 1992). Due to the diminished implication of putrescine in NMDAr activity, and its significantly lower concentration in brain (4-70 nM/g vs. 50-1400 nM/g for spermine/spermidine; Seiler and Schmidt-Glenewinkel, 1975; Shimizu et al., 1964), for the purposes of this dissertation 'polyamines' will refer primarily to spermine and spermidine. Polyamines exert this effect even in the presence of saturating concentrations of GLY ('GLY-independent stimulation'; Benveniste & Mayer, 1993; Lerma, 1992; Rock & Macdonald, 1992), however a GLY dependent mechanism has also been noted, with polyamines increasing the affinity of GLY binding (GLY-dependent stimulation; Benveniste & Mayer, 1993; McGurk, Bennett & Zukin, 1990). Furthermore, voltage-dependent inhibition, possibly involving polyamine interaction within the channel has also been noted (for reviews see Dodd, 2000; Williams, 1997b). Subunit composition appears to strongly influence the aforementioned effects. For instance, GLY-dependent stimulation appears to occur regardless of composition (in NR2A/2A, 2B/2B and 2A/2B stoichiometries), while GLYindependent stimulation is favored by a composition including NR2B subunits (for review see Williams, 1997). While polyamines are known to affect NR2A-containing receptors, it is the presence of NR2B which appears to confer polyamine sensitivity (Williams et al., 1994; Gallagher et al., 1997; Sharma and Reynolds, 1999).

### 2.6.3 NMDArs and ETOH

Behavioral and molecular examinations strongly implicate the NMDAr in the acute actions of ETOH. Early *in vitro* studies have demonstrated ETOH's inhibition of NMDAr-mediated transmission (Lovinger, et al., 1989; Hoffman et al., 1989). Since then, such observations have been confirmed and elaborated upon by examining slices in cortex (Wright, Peoples & Weight, 1996; Wirkner et al., 2000), amygdala (Calton, Wilson & Moore, 1998), NAcc (Maldve et al., 2002; Nie, Madamba & Siggins, 1994), dorsal striatum (Yin et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2007; Popp et al., 1998) and hippocampus (Wright, Peoples & Weight, 1996; Lovinger, White & Weight, 1990; Morrisett, 1991; Kolb, Trettel & Levine, 2005). While the literature has focused on post-synaptic mechanisms of inhibition, more recent evidence suggests ETOH interactions with the receptor may also involve a presynaptic component (Hendricson et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2007). It remains unclear exactly how and where ETOH binds the receptor; it does not appear to block the channel (Reynolds & Rush, 1990), to compete with GLU binding (Abdollah & Brien, 1995), polyamine binding (Matsumoto et al, 1993), Mg<sup>2+</sup> or Zn<sup>2+</sup> binding (Morrisett et al., 1991; Chu et al., 1995). However, evidence for ETOH occupation of hydrophobic pockets (Peoples & Weight, 1992; Ren et al., 2003; Ronald et al., 2001) has been observed, which suggests ETOH functions allosterically to alter channel-gating properties and is consistent with observations of its wide-ranging pharmacology.

NMDArs appear involved in the discriminatory stimuli involved in ETOH exposure. NMDAr antagonists substitute for ETOH in two-choice discrimination (Bienkowski et al., 1996; Kotlinska and Liljequist, 1997; Grant, 1999; Holter et al., 2000). While such discrimination studies clearly implicate the NMDAr as a primary target of ETOH, the recognition that GABA-A or 5-HT agonists can also substitute for ETOH in drug discrimination highlight both the complexity of its CNS action, and its lack of selectivity for any single transmitter system (Hodge & Cox, 1998; Grant, 1999; Hodge et al., 2001). It is known that the training dose of ETOH used in discrimination studies alters the degree to which NMDAr antagonists can act as substitutes, with higher concentrations involving a stronger NMDAr component (Colombo & Grant, 1992; Green & Grant, 1998). This is particularly interesting, suggesting that at higher doses (associated with AUDs), the NMDAr may become a more important target for ETOH, and thus perhaps a more important target for pharmacological intervention in treating alcoholism.

ETOH inhibition of NMDAr function appears to depend, at least in part, on subunit composition. Receptors containing NR2A and/or NR2B subunits appear to display much

greater sensitivity to alcohol than those including NR2C or NR2D (Kuner et al., 1993; Mirshahi & Woodward, 1995; Masood et al., 1994; for reviews see Allgaier, 2002; Sucher et al., 1996). However, whether NR2A or NR2B is the critical subunit for ETOH interactions remains a matter of some debate. Early studies suggested ETOH targeted NR2B-containing NMDArs (Lovinger, 1995; Fink & Gothert, 1996), however such claims were at least partially refuted with demonstrations in the cerebellum, where NR2C is abundantly expressed (Popp et al., 1999). Furthermore, examinations in hippocampus have produced divergent results, suggesting both NR2A (Suvarna et al., 2005) and NR2B-specific (Izumi et al., 2005) action. Such examinations are further complicated by the lack of NR2A-specific NMDAr antagonists, the suggestion that NR1 splice-variant expression affects sensitivity (Jin & Woodward, 2006) and noted differences in sensitivity depending on expression system (Smothers et al., 2001). A recent study utilized NR2A knockout mice to demonstrate equivalent ETOH inhibition of both knockout and wild types, suggesting the presence of NR2A is not a requirement for NMDAr inhibition (Kash et al., 2008), however, this demonstration was conducted in the ventral bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, and while supported by other examinations (Roberto et al., 2004; Izumi et al., 2005), these results may be unique to the regions studied. While NR2A-specific interactions are still being explored, the current literature suggests a substantial interaction with NR2B-containing NMDArs, which is further described and explored in the current project.

Exposure to ETOH is known to change NMDAr function and expression, particularly following chronic and/or binge-like exposure, and during withdrawal (WD) from ETOH. NMDAr upregulation appears to occur following chronic treatment (for reviews see Tabakoff & Hoffman, 1996; Kumari & Ticku, 2000). Ligand binding and autoradiography has demonstrated increases in receptor number following chronic exposure (Grant et al., 1990; Gulya et al., 1991; Snell et al., 1993), however examinations of subunit alterations reveal some inconsistencies. It seems that following chronic exposure, NR2B may be upregulated in cortex (Follesa & Ticku, 1995; Kalluri et al., 1998) and hippocampus (Hardy et al., 1999; Follesa & Ticku, 1995; Kalluri et al., 1998), however some examinations failed to detect this upregulation (Chandler et al., 1997). Importantly, while much of this literature utilizes rodents, ETOH-associated increases in NR2B have been noted in humans (Biermann et al., 2007; Biermann et al., 2009).

ETOH-related NR2A increases in hippocampus are found consistently (Kalluri et al., 1998; Follesa & Ticku, 1995; Snell et al., 1996). However, cortical increases were detected by some groups (Follesa & Ticku, 1995; Chandler, 1999), but not others (Snell et al., 1996; Hu et al., 1996; Follesa & Ticku, 1996a; 1996b; Chandler et al., 1997). NR1 examinations have been similarly inconsistent, with upregulation detected in hippocampus by some (Snell et al., 1996; Trevisan et al, 1994; Kalluri et al., 1998), but not others (Follesa & Ticku, 1995), and in cortex by some (e.g., Chandler et al., 1999; Kalluri et al., 1998) but not others (e.g., Snell et al., 1996; Hu et al., 1996). While the variables contributing to such inconsistent results have not yet been fully elucidated, the basic finding that ETOH increases subunit expression, resulting in enhanced NMDAr agonist sensitivity, is well supported. Furthermore, polyamines appear to play a complex role in mediating effects of ETOH on the NMDAr (Davidson and Wilce, 1998; for review see Littleton et al., 2001), and are increased following chronic exposure. The implications of both subunit and polyamine increases are thought to be far-reaching for dependence, relapse, and ETOH-associated neurotoxicity, areas which are primary foci of the current work, and which are discussed at length in their respective sections, below.

#### **Chapter 3. ETOH-Associated Brain Damage**

AUDs are associated with cognitive deficits and neurodegeneration, although even moderate drinking has been associated with reduced cognitive function (Evert & Oscar-Berman, 1995). A subset of alcoholics display deficits in intellectual functioning, with the most prevalent impairments including visuo-spatial ability and higher cognitive function (Oscar-Berman et al., 1997). Imaging studies have revealed reductions in brain size and density (Pfefferbaum, et al., 1988; Pfefferbaum et al., 1992), most noticeable in cortex and cerebellum, regions in which brain activity also appears altered in heavy drinkers (Eberling & Jagust, 1995). Fortunately, many such deficits in structure and function appear at least partially reversible during abstinence (e.g., Sullivan et al., 2000; Sullivan, Rosenbloom & Pfefferbaum, 2000). Of particular relevance to the current work, cognitive impairments appear most severe during and immediately following acute WD (Allen, Goldstein & Seaton, 1997).

#### 3.1 Mechanisms of Damage

The proposed mechanisms underlying deficits originating from either adulthood or fetal exposure are numerous: oxidative stress, non-oxidative metabolites (e.g., fatty acid ethyl esters), malnutrition, HPA-axis dysfunction, intracellular microtubule disruption and excitotoxic cellular damage have all been implicated (Butterworth, 1995). While multiple mechanisms undoubtedly contribute to ETOH-induced damage, the current work focuses on GLU and disrupted GLUr function, which appear to play primary roles. While ubiquitous, and crucially important to homeostatic function, GLU can also be toxic; it is implicated in the pathogenesis of a wide variety of disorders, including ischemia (Hammerman & Kaplan, 1998), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (for review see Bogaert et al., 2010), AIDS and/or HIV-associated dementia (Prendergast et al., 2002; Self et al., 2004), neuropathic pain (for review see Brown & Krupp, 2006), Parkinson's disease (Bonuccelli and Del Dotto, 2006), epilepsy (Tzschentke, 2002) and Huntington's disease (Fan et al., 2007). GLU over-activation of NMDArs, leading to excessive Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry, can induce several intracellular cascades which lead to both necrotic and apoptotic cell death.

This pathological excitation of the receptor is termed 'excitotoxicity' and appears to occur, at least in part, due to increases in NMDAr expression and sensitivity following chronic ETOH exposure (e.g., Hoffman et al., 1995; for review see Lovinger., 1993). *A major underlying hypothesis of the current project is that ETOH-associated cell death and neurodegeneration involves this hyper-excitable state, resulting in excitotoxic injury during withdrawal.* 

While the toxicity of GLU has been recognized for some time (Lucas & Newhouse, 1957), this was followed by the identification of  $Ca^{2+}$  increases as a major contributor (Choi et al., 1985; Choi et al., 1987). Increases in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> may be achieved via multiple mechanisms, however, NMDAr-mediated  $Ca^{2+}$  entry has been critically implicated; higher concentrations of  $Ca^{2+}$  from alternate sources have been shown to be less toxic than lower concentrations whose source was NMDAr-mediated (Tymianski et al., 1993; Sattler, Charlton & Hafner, 1998). One proposed mechanism for the NMDArspecificity of excitotoxicity involves its intracellular coupling to neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS; Sattler, Xiong & Lu, 1999); increased NO is a hallmark of excitotoxic events and major contributor to damage. NOS inhibitors are known to prevent cell death in vitro (Dawson et al., 1991), and resistance to NMDAr-mediated excitotoxicity is conferred by nNOS knockout (Dawson, Kizushi & Huang, 1996). The structural link between NMDAr and nNOS appears to involve a postsynaptic density protein associated with the C-terminus of the NR2B subunit and N-terminus of nNOS, creating a "microenvironment" wherein Ca<sup>2+</sup> entering the cell via NR2B-containing NMDArs preferentially activate nNOS via calmodulin (Sattler, Xiong & Lu, 1999). NO appears to directly interact with glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) to initiate apoptotic cascades (Hara et al., 2005), as well as the free radical superoxide, forming toxic peroxynitrite. Free radicals are highly reactive molecules formed during mitochondrial reactions with oxygen during energy production. Free radicals and peroxides are collectively referred to as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and when overproduced under pathological conditions, damage several intracellular structures including proteins, lipid membranes (Sun et al., 1997) and nucleic acids (Navasumrit et

al., 2000). "Oxidative stress" generally refers to both increases in ROS-associated intracellular damage (Reinke et al., 1987; Henderson et al., 1995; Davis et al., 1990), and reductions in the cell's ability to compensate (Bailey et al., 2001). Excitotoxicity and oxidative stress are frequently dissociated in the literature as differential pathways of cell death, however the role of NO in excitotoxicity illustrates the interconnected nature of these pathways. ROS production following excitotoxicity is well-established (Dugan, Sensi & Canzoniero, 1995; Reynolds & Hastings, 1995) and appears dose-dependent with increased NMDAr activation (Lafon-Cazal et al., 1993). In sum, the literature suggests a model wherein excessive intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> accumulation via NMDArs pathologically increases NO production and results in mitochondrial failure. ROS produced by such failure interact with NO to form peroxynitrite, directly damaging DNA and leading to the release of apoptosis-inducing factors from mitochondria, resulting in cell death (for review see Lau & Tymianski, 2010).

#### **3.2 Excitotoxicity & Polyamines**

Polyamines may play a critical role in ETOH-associated excitotoxicity; increased polyamine expression has been reported in hippocampus, striatum, cortex, and cerebellum during periods of ETOH WD (Davidson & Wilce, 1998; Gibson et al., 2003). Increases in ODC expression (indexing increases in polyamine concentration) are noted in these areas following chronic ETOH exposure (Koenig et al., 1990; Shibley et al., 1995; Davidson & Wilce, 1998). Additionally, polyamine activity seems to correlate positively with behaviors indexing the severity of WD-associated damage, including WD-induced tremor and seizure in dependent animals (Davidson & Wilce, 1998). Additionally, reductions in ODC activity correlate with reductions in severity of WD symptoms (Davidson & Wilce, 1998). *In vitro* examinations of WD-induced excitotoxic damage suggest that exogenous application of polyamines exacerbates damage (Butler et al., 2010; Mayer et al., 2002a), while polyamine antagonism (Gibson et al., 2003) attenuates damage. Furthermore, inhibition of polyamine synthesis via difluoromethyl ornithine, an ODC inhibitor, inhibits WD-induced seizure, improves WD-associated outcomes *in vivo* (Davidson & Wilce, 1998), and attenuates cell death *in vitro* (Gibson et al., 2010; Mayer et al., 2010; Mayer et al., 2010; Mayer & WICe, 1998), and attenuates cell death *in vitro* (Gibson et al., 2003).

al., 2003). Taken together, this evidence suggests that the withdrawal state can be characterized by increases in polyamine-sensitive (NR2B-containing) NMDArs as well as increases in polyamine synthesis and accumulation. This suggests that polyamine modulation during WD may provide a useful substrate for pharmacotherapeutic intervention. Further evidence for this hypothesis is garnered from examinations of compounds that inhibit polyamine-sensitive NMDArs (reviewed below in section 5).

#### **Chapter 4. ETOH Dependence**

The aforementioned evidence implicates the GLU system in ETOH-associated neurotoxicity, however the selection of this system as a pharmacological target in the current project is also due to its contribution to ETOH dependence and withdrawal. While numerous neurotransmitter systems are involved, GLUergic intervention seems uniquely capable of reducing relapse risk through multiple mechanisms, including positive and negative reinforcement, as well as alterations in cue conditioning and salience.

#### 4.1 Acute & Protracted Withdrawal

Cessation of chronic ETOH consumption is associated with the alcohol withdrawal syndrome, characterized by autonomic hyperactivity, increased tremor, nausea/vomiting, anxiety, hallucination, psychomotor agitation and seizure (APA, 2000). Recent estimates suggest up to 2 million Americans experience symptoms of alcohol withdrawal per year (Bayard et al., 2004). Although acute withdrawal is potentially life-threatening, detoxification has become a routine medical procedure which rarely results in mortality (for review see Romach & Sellers, 1991). Current detoxification practices involve GABAergic manipulation via benzodiazepines, and are extremely effective at controlling withdrawal symptoms and morbidity, however there is no evidence for reductions in neurotoxicity or relapse risk following treatment. *The current project focuses on developing compounds with the capability of reducing both toxicity and relapse*.

Withdrawal can be characterized by increased glutamatergic activity and increased stress/anxiety. While the most severe withdrawal symptoms generally dissipate within 1-2 weeks, symptomology and underlying altered brain function can persist for months, and possibly much longer. It is hypothesized that such altered glutamatergic function and negative affect during both acute and protracted withdrawal contribute to increased relapse risk.

#### **4.1.1 Glutamatergic Hyperactivity**

Extracellular concentrations of GLU appear increased following withdrawal, and are highly correlated with withdrawal symptomology (Gonzales et al., 1996; Rossetti & Carboni, 1995). The hyperexcitability during withdrawal appears mediated by NMDArs, whose upregulation following chronic exposure is well-established; a similar syndrome of hyperexcitability is noted following withdrawal from chronic NMDAr antagonism (Ripley & Little, 1995). Furthermore, GLU inhibition during withdrawal reduces symptom severity (Grant, 1990; Liljequist, 1991; Morrisett et al., 1990; Rossetti & Carboni, 1995) while agonism worsens it (Danysz et al., 1992; Davidson et al., 1995; Morrisett et al., 1990; Sanna et al., 1993). As noted above, elevations in polyamines appear to contribute to this hyperactivity, and polyamine inhibition is also capable of reducing WD symptoms (Davidson & Wilce, 1998).

GLU hyperactivity also appears to contribute to ETOH dependence and relapse (Tsai & Coyle, 1998; Pulvirenti & Diana, 2001; Siggins et al., 2003; Heinz et al., 2003; Krystal et al, 2003). Although the exact mechanisms are still being investigated, GLUmediated increases in cue salience and incentive motivation for ETOH during withdrawal are implicated. Additionally, GLU hyperactivity may exacerbate negative affect during withdrawal, indirectly increasing cue salience and ETOH reinforcement further. Though discussed in greater detail below, a simple schematic of these relationships is presented in Figure 2.

Figure 2. Contributions of ETOH Withdrawal to Reinforcement and Cue Salience



### 4.1.2 Stress, Anxiety & Negative Affect

Withdrawal from chronic ETOH increases anxiety (Rassnick et al., 1993; Valdez et al., 2002). Stress & anxiety during withdrawal appear closely related to resumption of drinking in humans (Hershon, 1977). Stress responses are controlled by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis; basic functioning of this system involves CNS stimulation of corticotropin-releasing hormone from hypothalamus, inducing pituitary secretion of adrenocorticotropin, resulting in adrenal glucocorticoid (GC; cortisol, in humans) production. Alcohol intoxication and withdrawal are known to increase GCs (Adinoff et al., 1991; Keedwell et al., 2001; Mendelson et al., 1971), with a number of implications. Hippocampal GCrs, via negative feedback, are responsible for regulating HPA-axis activity and recovery. Chronically elevated GC levels and chronic
ETOH binge/WD cycles are known to induce hippocampal damage, disrupting negative feedback control and dysregulating the HPA system (for review see Adinoff et al., 1998).

Both GLU hyperactivity and disrupted HPA-axis activity are thought to contribute to relapse behaviors by altering ETOH reinforcement and ETOH-associated cue salience, as indicated in Figure 2. However, these systems also appear to interact with one another dynamically during withdrawal. GC exposure upregulates polyamine-sensitive NR2B subunit expression (Lu et al., 2003), as well as increasing the production of polyamines. (Weiland, Orchinik & Tanapat, 1997). Finally, GC elevations upregulate excitatory amino acid activity, increasing Ca<sup>2+</sup> flux via NMDAr (for review see, Reagan & McEwen, 1997; Armanini et al., 1990). However, inhibition of GLUrs is anxiolytic (Dunn et al., 1989; Faiman et al., 1994), protects from GC-associated hippocampal neurotoxicity (Mulholland et al., 2005), and reduces WD-associated behaviors indexing stress (Cagetti et al., 2004).

Taken together, these interactions suggest that GLU inhibition during withdrawal may serve to balance GLU activity both directly, as well as indirectly, by preventing increased GC activity via neuroprotection to critical (hippocampal) stress-regulation circuitry. Thus, reductions in GLU activity are likely to reduce negative affect and HPA-axis dysregulation, both critical contributors to relapse.

#### 4.2 Relapse & ETOH Reinforcement

Following cessation of chronic drinking, the majority of dependent individuals will experience a relapse, despite efforts to maintain sobriety (Hayashida et al., 1989; Prochaska, DiClemente, & Norcross 1992). Preventing relapse is a (if not *the*) major therapeutic challenge in treating ETOH dependence. Contemporary theories of relapse hold that following chronic consumption and cessation, drug-associated alterations in

neurochemistry contribute to a state in which the reinforcing value of the drug is increased during sobriety.

Positive reinforcement is indicated when a stimulus (alcohol) increases the probability of a particular response (consumption or ETOH-seeking behavior). Negative reinforcement is indicated when the probability of the response is increased when it allows for escape or alleviation from an aversive stimulus (e.g., anxiety). It is now generally agreed that the pathogenesis of alcoholism can be described as a transition from motivation to consume ETOH based on its positive reinforcement, to compulsive use associated with its alleviation of the negative affective state created during WD. This conceptualization of addiction, wherein use becomes driven by homeostatic maintanance has been described as 'allostasis' originated with Himmelsbach (1943) following his work in opiate dependence, and was not described as 'allostasis' until much later (Sterling and Eyer, 1988). Allostasis describes the dynamic adaptation of multiple systems to achieve (or restore) homeostatic function, making it a particularly apt description of the varied physiological adaptations to drugs of abuse noted in dependence & addiction. Allostasis has become a primary, driving conceptual model in the field (e.g., Koob & Le Moal, 2001; Koob & Volkow, 2010).

While progression from positive to negative reinforcement as a basic concept has been popularized, it potentially ignores a subset of individuals with high stress/anxiety prior to initiation of use, whose primary initial motivation to consume may involve ETOH's anxiolytic properties. Regardless of initial motivation, following the cessation of chronic consumption, ETOH-exacerbated negative affect is thought to persist for months or longer, is referred to as "protracted withdrawal" and is characterized by stress, anxiety, depression and hyperalgesia (Koob, 2003). Thus, heightened negative reinforcement for consumption of ETOH appears to remain persistent despite the absence of acute withdrawal symptoms. However, sensitization to the positive reinforcing value of ETOH may also contribute to its enhanced reinforcing value during withdrawal. Conceptualizations of conditioning and relapse based on positive vs. negative reinforcement can be referred to as 'incentive salience' vs. 'opponent-process' models, respectively. Incentive salience models suggest that drug cues will produce conditioned drug-like responses (euphoria), which enhance the incentive motivation to consume the drug. Opponent-process models suggest that with prolonged drug use, physiological 'drug-opposite' responses to conditioned cues develop to maintain homeostasis. In a drug-free state, exposure to such cues produces a dysphoric state in which the negative reinforcing value of the drug is increased. Importantly, both of these views hold that relapse involves a state wherein the increased reinforcing value of drugs is "triggered" by environmental cues.

It is clear that ETOH has both positive (euphoric, stimulating) and negative (anxiolytic) reinforcing effects. DA efflux in NAcc has received the most attention as a biological requirement for positive reinforcement, however as noted above, mesolimbic dopamine is modulated by input from a number of transmitter systems (including GLU). Pharmacological interventions which reduce DA efflux or blunt its effects are noted for their ability to disrupt ethanol consumption in humans and animals (discussed in greater depth below). Glutamate tone, NAcc DA levels, ETOH consumption and ETOH's positive reinforcing value all appear closely related; NAcc DA levels increase in anticipation of ETOH consumption, suggesting an important role for cue-associated increases in positive reinforcement during relapse (Katner, Kerr & Weiss, 1996; Melendez et al., 2002). Furthermore, manipulation of NAcc GLU via microinjection of GLUr inhibitors (including NMDAr antagonists) reduces drinking (Rassnick, 1992; Besheer et al., 2010), emphasizing the GLUergic component of ETOH's reinforcing effects.

In one particularly interesting study, Spanagel and colleagues (2005) genetically altered astrocytic GLU transporter expression to create mutants with persistently high synaptic GLU activity (as is known to occur in ETOH withdrawal). These mutants

demonstrated increased ETOH intake and increased operant responding for ETOH. Further demonstrating GLUergic control of the behavior, Spanagel's group pharmacologically inhibited the GLU hyperactivity and observed normalized consumption. However, while this work appears to implicate GLUergic mechanisms in positive reinforcement (since the animals received no aversive stimuli or previous ETOH exposure) an alternative interpretation suggests that such persistently high synaptic GLU activity may produce a negative affective state, potentially driving consumption. This interpretation is consistent with observations that the negative reinforcing properties of ETOH are also mediated via GLUrs.

That ETOH reinforcement can also be driven by negative components is emphasized by the finding that ablation of the mesolimbic DA system fails to extinguish ETOH consumption (Rassnick et al., 1993). A major underlying hypothesis of the current project is that inhibition of GLUergic activity during acute and protracted withdrawal can mitigate negative affect, thereby reducing ETOH's negative reinforcing value. Supporting evidence includes that GLU inhibition can reverse or attenuate dysregulation in HPA-axis function (described above) and that numerous compounds with GLUergic action which are shown to reduce consumption and relapse behavior (clinically and preclinically) possess anxiolytic action. Finally, amygdalar nuclei which regulate negative affect, particularly anxiety and fear responses, are implicated as key modulators of ETOH reinforcement and appear sensitive to GLU imbalance. The basolateral amygdala is rich in GLU receptors (Farb et al., 1995; for review see Davis et al, 1994;) as is one of its major efferents, the central nucleus (CeA; Nose et al., 1991; Davis et al., 1994). GLU levels in these areas are persistently higher in animals chronically exposed to ETOH (Roberto et al., 2004), contributing to the anxiogenic properties of WD. Similarly, reductions in GLUergic transmission in these areas, whether due to ETOH or NMDArspecific antagonism, produce anxiolytic effects (Miserendino et al., 1990; Kim et al., 1993). Of particular importance to the current project, amygdalar neuroadaptations to chronic ETOH appear mediated by NR2B-containing NMDArs; CeA NR2B upregulation is persistent (> 4 weeks; Obara et al., 2009) following chronic exposure and the

heightened sensitivity of CeA NMDArs to ETOH observed following such exposure is attenuated via NR2B-specific antagonism (Roberto et al., 2004).

Taken together, the aforementioned evidence suggests that (i) ETOH consumption is under the control of both positive and negative components of reinforcement; (ii) that both positive and negative components are mediated at least in part by GLU; (iii) and that GLU inhibition, specifically NMDAr inhibition, appears capable of reducing both types of reinforcement.

## **4.2.1 Conditioned Cues**

Changes in the reinforcing value of ETOH during withdrawal increase relapse risk, serving to prime the system for relapse, however cues or "triggers" which reinstate the conditioned behavior of alcohol seeking are also critically involved. In traditional conditioning models, environmental cues (including ETOH itself, referred to as 'priming' cues) become associated with alcohol use, after which they function as classically conditioned stimuli, evoking conditioned physiological responses. These appear to induce alcohol-related effects that can include feelings of euphoria (drug-similar responses) and/or feelings of withdrawal (drug-opposite responses referred to as "conditioned pseudo-withdrawal" (Solomon, 1980; O'Brien et al., 1998), both of which may result in 'craving' or the desire to experience alcohol's effects. As mentioned previously, divergent models of relapse/reinforcement conceptualize craving as being driven by either euphoric or dysphoric feelings, however contributions are likely to vary on an individual basis and it is suggested that even within individuals craving and relapse may be precipitated by a variety of environments and/or internal states (Connors et al., 1996). Regardless of reinforcement mechanism, extinction of these conditioned cues appears to improve relapse measures (Glautier & Drummond, 1994).

Protracted relapse constitutes a period of heightened stress and anxiety, during which acute stressors are known to trigger conditioned relapse (Annis, 1998; Sinha et al., 2000; for review see Sinha, 2001). Interestingly, acute stress also appears to have a permissive function, enhancing the salience of other conditioned ETOH cues (Field & Powell, 1997). This may be a bi-directional relationship, since (as opponent-process theory would predict), exposure to alcohol cues via guided imagery in abstinent alcoholics increases negative affect (Cooney et al. 1991, Sinha et al., 2000). However, stress-induced relapse appears to operate via dissociable neural mechanisms from cueinduced relapse; Liu & Weiss (2002) demonstrated that opioid antagonism could attenuate cue-induced, but not stress-induced reinstatement of drinking, while a CRF antagonist suppressed stress-induced, but not cue-induced consumption. When animals were simultaneously exposed to both conditioned cues (a situation with greater face validity to human behavior), both the CRF and opioid antagonist were only capable of partial mediation. Their experiment highlights the complexity of relapse/reinstatement behavior, and suggests that an ideal pharmacological intervention would be capable of attenuating both stress and cue-induced reinstatement.

As suggested in Figure 2, in addition to impacting reinforcement, the GLUergic system is critically involved in the conditioning and expression of ETOH-associated cues. ETOH cue-induced reinstatement of self-administration has been demonstrated and attenuated in dependent animals via GLU inhibition (e.g., Backstrom & Hyytia, 2004). Additionally, GLU inhibition reduces responding for ETOH-associated cues in conditioned place preference studies (McGeehan & Olive, 2003; Brown, Lee & Sorg, 2008; Gremel & Cunningham, 2009). More recent examinations have suggested specific GLUr subpopulations, particularly NMDArs containing polyamine-sensitive subunits, may be critical for drug-associated conditioning. In general, polyamines are known to enhance learning and memory processes (Rubin et al., 2000; 2001; Mikolajczak et al., 2002), including cue-associated conditioning (Rubin et al., 2004). However, inhibiting NMDArs via polyamine modulation reduces drug-associated responding while leaving responding for natural reinforcers intact (Ma et al., 2006). Although not yet examined

directly, these findings suggest that known increases in polyamine expression and sensitivity during ETOH withdrawal may enhance conditioned responding to alcoholassociated cues.

Taken together, evidence presented in the preceding sections suggests that chronic ETOH exposure is associated with neurotoxicity and pathological alterations in both GLU and HPA-axis function. These changes are associated with increases in the reinforcing value of ETOH, and increased sensitivity to ETOH-conditioned cues, both of which increase relapse risk. The complexity and range of the involved mechanisms suggests numerous substrates for pharmacological intervention (discussed below), however based on evidence discussed above, *inhibition of polyamine-sensitive NMDArs may provide a unique opportunity to simultaneously reduce excitotoxicity, GLU hyperactivity and negative affect during WD, the downstream effects of which include reductions in reinforcing value (positive and negative) of ETOH and sensitivity to ETOH-conditioned cues. Additional evidence for this hypothesis is garnered from examinations of a number of pharmacological interventions, presented below.* 

#### **Chapter 5. Pharmacotherapy**

While the current work is focused on mediation of ETOH-associated alterations in physiology and behavior via NMDAr-targeted pharmacotherapy, several FDA-approved pharmacological interventions already exist, as do a number of potentially useful strategies which do not target the NMDAr. Disulfiram and naltrexone are discussed here, while the third FDA-approved compound (acamprosate) will be discussed with other GLUergic compounds, below.

## 5.1 Disulfiram

Disulfiram (Antabuse) has been FDA-approved since 1951. Disulfiram inhibits the enzyme acetaldehyde dehydrogenase (ADH), stimulating a number of negative symptoms normally associated with WD ("hangover") from ETOH (e.g., nausea, vomiting). It is unique in that it acts indirectly, providing a punishing stimulus when ETOH is consumed. Early studies reported high efficacy, while later results have been more mixed. Regardless, the most recent data indicate that with supervised use, which greatly improves patient compliance, disulfiram has clinical utility (for review see Fuller & Gordis, 2004).

## 5.2 Naltrexone

Naltrexone (ReVia, Depade) was FDA-approved in 1995; its extended release formula (Vivitrol) was approved in 2006. Both naltrexone and its active metabolite, 6- $\beta$ naltrexol, competitively antagonize opioid receptors, particularly  $\mu$  receptors, leading to reductions in NAcc DA levels (Benjamin & Grant, 1993; Gonzales & Weiss, 1998; Middaugh et al., 2003). Such reductions are associated with reduced ETOH consumption, as has been shown in several clinical studies (Latt et al., 2002; Krystal et al., 2001), as well as demonstrated by the multi-center COMBINE study, which suggested efficacy when administered apart from adjunct psychotherapeutic intervention (Anton et al., 2006). Such recognized efficacy has been demonstrated by a number of meta-analyses

(e.g., Kranzler & Van Kirk, 2001; Streeton & Whelan, 2001; for review see Anton, 2008; Bouza et al., 2004). Naltrexone is recognized to reduce craving associated with environmental cues, reducing conditioned anticipation of ETOH (Monti et al., 1999; Middaugh & Bandy, 2000), however such reductions are likely to result from blunting of incentive motivation associated with ETOH, rather than weakened cue conditioning.

#### **5.3 Current Promising Strategies**

While not yet FDA-approved, a number of additional pharmacotherapeutic agents are currently being investigated for abstinence maintenance and relapse prevention (for review see Johnson et al, 2008). Several do not employ GLUergic manipulation; for instance, specific serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) have been employed in a number of preclinical models, with mixed results. It appears that SSRI treatment is capable of reducing ETOH consumption and operant responding for ETOH (Haraguchi, Samson & Tolliver, 1990; Murphy et al., 1988). However, evidence suggests that such attenuations may be non-specific, resulting in suppressions of food and fluid intake (Simpson et al., 1981; for review see Gill & Amit, 1989). Furthermore, it is suggested that while SSRIs are capable of initial reductions in consummatory behavior, rebound to baseline levels are noted (Gulley et al., 1995). Clinical investigations appear to produce short-term decreases in consumption, but many have limited longevity: there is evidence that initial decreases do not persist after the first month of treatment (Gorelick & Paredes 1992; for review see Kenna, 2010). However, it is recognized that SSRIs may have unique utility among ETOH-dependent populations with comorbid depressive symptoms (Pettinati et al., 2010).

While restoring homeostatic GLU tone during and after WD is a focus of the current work, agonism of GABAr to restore GLU/GABA balance has also been explored. For instance, the GABA-B agonist, baclofen, decreases consumption (Colombo et al., 2000; Colombo et al., 2002), operant responding for ETOH (Colombo et al., 2003a) and reduces relapse-behavior (Colombo et al., 2003b), preclinically. In humans, baclofen

shows efficacy in reducing cravings and improving abstinence (Addolorato et al., 2000; for review see Leggio et al., 2010), effects which may be related to reductions in WD-associated anxiety and negative affect. While promising, clinical examinations of baclofen are limited, and it's noted sedative properties may interact negatively with acute ETOH intoxication.

Given the aforementioned involvement of the HPA axis in WD, protracted withdrawal, and the negative reinforcing effects of ETOH, it is not surprising that direct manipulation of this system has been investigated as a pharmacotherapeutic strategy. Antagonists of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) have received significant attention; it is known that ETOH WD increases CRF levels (Merlo Pich et al., 1995; Olive et al., 2002), and that CRF antagonists attenuate stress and anxiety responses (Britton et al., 1986). Thus, CRF antagonists appear capable of attenuating ETOH WD-induced stress responses (Baldwin et al., 1991). Interestingly, CRF antagonists, while anxiolytic in nature, appear capable of reducing ETOH consumption in models that other anxiolytics (e.g., diazepam) do not, perhaps suggesting the specific modulation of HPA-axis function is necessary, as opposed to general reduction in anxiety/negative affect (Lodge & Lawrence, 2003).

Additional investigations include cannabinoid receptor antagonists, DAr antagonists (e.g., aripiprazole), DAr agonists (e.g., bromocriptine), 5-HT antagonists (e.g. ritanserin), 5-HT agonists (e.g., buspirone), nAChR antagonists (e.g., varenicline), and others. While all have demonstrated some clinical potential, many have significant side effects or show efficacy only in limited clinical populations. Furthermore, and perhaps most importantly for our strategic approach, neither of the aforementioned FDAapproved compounds, nor these experimental approaches, are noted for significant neuroprotection.

#### **5.4 Acamprosate**

The current project focuses on GLUergic manipulation, a key characteristic of which may be the ability to alter relapse trajectories while offering neuroprotection during acute and protracted withdrawal (an ability which may synergize with anti-relapse mechanisms). However, this is not a novel area of investigation. A number of GLUergic manipulations have been explored, both clinically and preclinically, and the third FDAapproved medication, acamprosate, is thought exert its effects primarily via GLUergic action.

Acamprosate (Campral) is structurally related to a number of amino acids thought be to critically important to ETOH's CNS actions, including GLU, GABA and GLY (Spanagel & Zieglgansberger, 1997). These similarities contribute to its varied pharmacology (for reviews see Littleton, 1995; Littleton et al., 2001; De Witte et al., 2005; Mann et al., 2008); it is recognized as an anti-oxidant (Dahchour et al., 2005), GABA-A agonist (Pierrefiche et al., 2004), NMDAr antagonist (Zeise et al., 1993), polyamine modulator (Al Qatari et al., 1998; Naassila et al., 1998; Popp & Lovinger, 2000), and Group I mGLUr antagonist (Harris et al., 2002). Despite FDA approval, the mechanism of action contributing to its anti-relapse efficacy is equivocal. However, it appears capable of normalizing elevated extracellular GLU following repeated binge-WD cycles (Dahchour & De Witte, 2003; Ulrichsen et al., 1998), and it is generally agreed that this action contributes to reductions in the negative reinforcement of ETOH during WD and protracted withdrawal. In animal models, acamprosate inhibits WD-associated behaviors (Spanagel & Ziegelgansberger, 1997), reduces relapse behavior (Spanagel et al., 1996), suppresses conditioned pseudo-withdrawal behavior (Cole, Littleton & Little, 1999) and attenuates cue-induced ETOH-seeking behaviors (Bachteler et al., 2005). Clinically, acamprosate appears effective at reducing a number of behavioral endpoints associated with relapse-risk and abstinence maintenance (Mason et al., 2006; Feeney et al., 2006).

Additionally, acamprosate appears to confer neuroprotection, reducing toxicity and  $Ca^{2+}$  entry in neocortical cultures (Al Qatari et al., 2001). In hippocampal cultures, which are used in the current project, acamprosate attenuates WD-associated  $Ca^{2+}$  entry and neurotoxicity (Mayer et al., 2002a;b), however acamprosate appears to have a unique neuroprotective profile, thought to include mGLUr manipulation, as it is noted to inhibit ETOH WD-associated toxicity but not NMDA-associated toxicity (Harris et al., 2003).

The varied GABAergic and GLUergic interactions of acamprosate are similar in nature to topiramate (Topamax). In animal models, topiramate reduces stress-induced relapse behaviors (Farook et al., 2009) and ETOH cue-conditioned behaviors during WD (Farook et al., 2007). Clinically, the drug appears efficacious (Johnson et al., 2003;2007), and may share acamprosate's neuroprotective potential (Rustembegovic et al., 2002).

#### **5.5 Memantine**

A number of GLUergic approaches have utilized NMDAr-specific antagonists. Classic channel-blockers are noted for their lack of clinical potential, however, lowaffinity, non-competitive antagonists appear to induce rapidly dissociating channel blockade and may have anti-relapse efficacy. One such compound in particular, memantine, has received attention. Due to its rapid dissociating kinetics, memantine is thought to interfere less with homeostatic NMDAr transmission, compared to classic channel blockade (Chen & Lipton, 1997; Bleich et al., 2003; Johnson & Kotermanski, 2006; Lipton, 2006; for review see Kohr, 2007). It has shown anti-relapse potential (Krupitsky et al., 2007a) in humans, and appears to reduce WD symptoms (Krupitsky et al., 2007b). Memantine is also recognized for its neuroprotective potential in models of excitotoxicity (Lipton, 2007) including ETOH WD (Stepanyan et al., 2008). One criticism of an NMDAr-blockade strategy involves the potential disruption of learning & memory; MK-801 disrupts responding for natural rewards (Lee & Everitt, 2008; Bevins & Bardo, 1999), as does memantine (Popik et al., 2003). However, as noted previously, NR2B-specific antagonism may provide a solution, disrupting drug-associated cues while leaving cues for natural reinforcers unperturbed (Ma et al., 2006).

#### 5.6 Ifenprodil & Eliprodil

Due to the recognized contribution of the NR2B in ETOH-associated WD, cueconditioning and neurotoxicity, investigation of compounds capable of targeting NR2Bcontaining subpopulations has been substantial. One such compound is ifenprodil, which is characterized as a non-competitive allosteric inhibitor of the spermine and  $Mg^{2+}$ binding sites, whose action exhibits use-dependence, such that bound GLU increases the receptor's affinity for ifenprodil (Kew et al., 1998). A secondary mechanism of inhibition, shared by ifenprodil and its analogue CP-101,606 (described below), involves proton inhibition. NMDArs are inhibited by protons with an  $IC_{50}$  value that corresponds to pH 7.3 (e.g., Giffard et al., 1990; Tang et al., 1990; Traynelis & cull-Dandy, 1990). While this mechanism is largely understudied, a major function of such proton sensitivty appears related to its neuroprotective capacity during acidification of the extracellular space, noted during seizures and ischemia, during which pH can fall by up to 1 pH unit (e.g., Chesler & Kaila, 1992). Under conditions of excessive extracellular GLU, such decreases in pH appear to limit NMDAr-mediated excitotoxicity (Kaku et al., 1993). In the presence of ifenprodil (and CP-101,606), NMDAr sensitivity to protons is increased, providing an additional mechanism of antagonistic activity (Mott et al., 1998). It is likely that proton inhibition is a mechanism shared by phenylethanolamines in general (i.e., eliprodil and others), however this has yet to be demonstrated empirically.

Ifenprodil has shown promise as a neuroprotectant during excitotoxic events, reducing edema and infarct volume in ischemia models (for review see Wang & Shuaib, 2005), improving outcomes in reserpine & MPTP models of Parkinson's (Nash et al., 1999; Nash et al., 2000) and models of neuropathic pain (for review see Chizh & Headley, 2005). Such neuroprotection extends to *in vitro* ETOH WD-associated neurotoxicity (Mayer et al., 2002a), and it appears protective *in vivo* as well, based on attenuation of WD-associated seizure behaviors (Pawlak et al., 2005; unpublished data). Eliprodil is an ifenprodil analogue, maintaining high specificity for NMDARs containing the NR2B subunit (Avenet et al., 1997), and has shown similar efficacy as a neuroprotectant in several models of excitotoxic injury (Toulmond et al., 1993; Bath et al., 1996; Reyes et al., 1998). Eliprodil's neuroprotective action has been investigated in developmental models of insult; administration during acute WD rescues adulthood behavioral deficits in rodent FAS models (Thomas et al., 2004).

Ifenprodil & eliprodil appear to have more modest inhibitory effects (compared with non-subunit selective compounds) synaptically, where diverse populations of NMDArs are found, including NR1/NR2A and NR1/NR2B diheteromers as well as NR1/NR2A/NR2B triheteromers (Tovar & Westbrook, 1999). However, extrasynaptic populations of NMDArs appear more homogenous, composed primarily of NR1/NR2B diheteromers (Tovar & Westbrook, 1999), and thus are strongly inhibited by ifenprodil. The synaptic localization of NMDArs appears to determine their opposing effects on gene regulation and neuronal survival; synaptic receptors induce anti-apoptotic effects, while Ca<sup>2+</sup> entry via extra-synaptic NMDArs elicits loss of CREB function, reduced BDNF expression and ultimately mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death (Hardingham et al., 2002). Thus, NR2B-specific antagonism may exert its neuroprotection via extrasynaptic NMDAr inhibition, while largely preserving synaptic function.

Additionally, ifenprodil appears to reduce ETOH consumption in a relapse model examining binge-like consumption following periods of forced abstinence, known as the alcohol-deprivation effect (ADE), a procedure also utilized in the current project (Sinclair & Senter, 1967). Furthermore, ifenprodil has been shown to block ETOH's stimulatory effects (Broadbent, Kampmueller & Koonse, 2003), suppress ETOH WD effects in dependent rodents (Narita et al., 2000, Malinowska et al., 1999) and attenuate ETOH's amnestic effects (Napiórkowska-Pawlak et al., 2000). Interestingly, NR2B-containing NMDArs appear to play an important role in behaviors related to other drugs of abuse. For instance, ifenprodil is known to block both CPP induction and expression for

morphine (Suzuki et al., 1999; Ma et al., 2006; Ma et al., 2007). Similarly, treatment with an antibody against NR2B subunits abolishes morphine-induced place preference, whereas antibodies against NR2A do not (Narita et al., 2000). These results suggest that examination of NR2B-specific compounds as anti-relapse agents for alcohol may inform research examining other drugs of abuse.

While examinations of eliprodil and ifenprodil have returned promising results, and further implicated NR2B involvement in ETOH action, their clinical development has been slowed due to secondary effects including calcium channel blockade as well as alpha-adrenergic, 5HT<sub>1A</sub>, 5HT<sub>2</sub>, 5HT<sub>3</sub> and sigma receptor inhibition (Chenard et al., 1991; McCool & Lovinger, 1995; Biton et al., 1994). Although additional receptor system activation does not necessarily preclude clinical advancement, the aforementioned pattern of activation suggests complex cardiovascular and affective complications.

#### 5.7 CP-101,606

Recent medication development efforts altered the composition of ifenprodil at several sites, producing a similar compound (see Figure 3), CP-101,606 (*1S*,2*S*)-*1*-(*4*-*hydroxyphenyl*)-2-(*4*-*hydroxy*-*4*-*phenylpiperidino*)-*1*-*propanol* (Pfizer). Radioligand binding studies have determined that CP-101,606 (CP) represents a distinct class of NR2B specific antagonists, which bind NR2B with high affinity only if the receptor is an NR2B/NR2B diheteromer (Chazot et al., 2002). This high degree of specificity is thought to limit its side effect profile in humans, suggesting its potential for clinical use in alcoholism. Additionally, this NR2B/NR2B specificity provides a unique pharmacological tool with which to investigate NR2B involvement in ETOH-associated relapse and neurotoxicity, and was thus selected as one of the compounds examined in the current project.

Figure 3. Molecular Structure of Ifenprodil and its Analogue, CP-101,606



Thus far, CP has received limited attention in alcohol research, but has been used in several other fields. CP has shown efficacy as an antinociceptive agent (Boyce et al., 1999), an anticonvulsant (Brackett et al., 2000) and has demonstrated anti-parkinsonian action (Nash et al., 2004; Steece-Collier et al., 2000). CP attenuates the effects of traumatic brain injury and focal ischemia in animal models (Okiyama et al., 1998; Okiyama et al., 1997; Tsuchida et al., 1997; Di et al., 1997; Kundrotiene et al., 2004) and protects hippocampal neurons from glutamate toxicity *in vitro* (Menniti et al., 1997), and of particular relevance to the current project, CP was used in a cortical cell culture model of ETOH WD, and demonstrated the ability to reduce excitotoxic effects *in vitro* (Nagy et al., 2004).

Furthermore, our own work has demonstrated CP's neuroprotective potential. Following chronic, neonatal ETOH exposure, a single administration of CP during withdrawal was able to attenuate a number of behavioral deficits reliably produced by this FAS model, including balance deficits, hyperactivity and learning & memory dysfunction (Lewis et al., submitted).

In experimental mammals, CP seems to have few side effects; it neither impedes

motor performance (Boyce et al., 1999) or learning and memory as measured in Morris water maze (Guscott et al., 2003). In contrast to other NMDAr antagonists, it may enhance performance in cognitive tasks (Higgins et al., 2005). Importantly, CP has been used in several clinical studies, where it appeared well-tolerated (Johnson et al., 2003; Merchant et al., 1999); two in particular report positive reduction in the behavioral consequences of stroke and traumatic brain injury (Yurkewicz et al., 2005; Bullock et al., 1999). Due to the mechanistic contributions of polyamine-sensitive NMDArs in neurotoxicity and relapse, and due to the noted safety and potential of CP-101,606, it was selected for use in the current project.

#### 5.8 Agmatine & Our Current Development Strategy: Novel Polyamine Modulators

Agmatine (decarboxylated L-arginine) was recognized approximately a century ago (Kossel, 1910) but identified in mammalian brain only within the last few decades (Li et al., 1994). The accumulated evidence suggests agmatine meets the criteria of a central modulator, and is currently considered a putative neurotransmitter (for review see Halaris & Plietz, 2007). Agmatine is synthesized in neurons (Reis & Regunathan, 2000; Iyo et al., 2006); is released presynaptically in a Ca+ dependent manner (Goracke-Postle et al., 2006); is disrupted by exogenous drugs (I1r antagonists; Wu, Su & Liu, 2006); is distributed in specific neuronal populations (i.e., hippocampal; Reis, Yang & Milner et al., 1998); has specific reuptake processes (Reis & Regunathan, 1998; Sastre, Regunathan & Reis, 1997), is enzymatically degraded (i.e., agmatinase; Sastre et al., 1996; Iyer et al., 2002); and acts on receptors (e.g., Olmos et al., 1999; Piletz et al., 1995; Askalany et al., 2005), effecting specific neuronal processes (e.g., nNOS inhibition; Demady et al., 2001).

The action of agmatine most relevant to the design of the current project involves its ability to act as an endogenous modulator of polyamine activity, functioning as a low potency NMDAr inhibitor, however it appears unique for several reasons, including its ability to inhibit or inactivate nNOS by up to 50%, at physiologically relevant concentrations (Auguet et al., 1995; Galea et al., 1996; Demady et al., 2001). NMDArs and nNOS are both recognized for their contribution to glutamatergic neuroplasticity, suggesting agmatine may provide unique modulation of such neuroplasticity, unattainable via either NMDAr or nNOS-selective manipulation. The observation that agmatine is increased in hippocampus (~85%) following training of learning-dependent tasks (Morris maze) supports this suggestion, however the functional significance of increased agmatine is unknown. Furthermore, its unique NMDAr/nNOS profile suggests its prophylactic potential for excitotoxic damage (given the closely related involvement of both NMDAr and nNOS). Initially, reports of agmatine's physiological concentration in CNS were low (pM-nM), however it is now recognized that acute stress or trauma may induce rapid agmatine synthesis, such that >10  $\mu$ M concentrations have been noted following insult (Aricioglu, Regunathan & Piletz, 2003).

Of further significance, particularly in terms of its consideration as a therapeutic agent or lead compound, agmatine appears only a very weak channel inhibitor, with an IC50 of approximately 1 mM, significantly lower than other polyamine modulators ifenprodil or arcaine (IC50s of 500 nM and 5  $\mu$ M, respectively). However, agmatine exhibits a Ki of ~15  $\mu$ M for MK-801 binding in the presence of spermidine (100  $\mu$ M; Ring, 2006), suggesting its ability to inhibit the NMDAr is polyamine-specific, at relevant concentrations.

Agmatine's noted neuroprotective potential (e.g., Gibson et al., 2003; Gilad et al., 1996; Lewis et al., 2007), anxiolytic effects (Lavinsky, Arteni, & Netto, 2003), attenuation of drug-associated conditioning (Wei et al., 2005), and reduction of ETOH WD symptoms (Uzbay et al., 2000) have generated interest in its clinical development for a range of diseases including schizophrenia (Uzbay et al., 2009), neuropathic pain (Onal et al., 2003) and substance abuse disorders. Recently, agmatine's clinical efficacy as an antinociceptive agent was demonstrated in subjects suffering herniated lumbar discassociated radiculopathy (Keynan et al., 2010). While Kenyan & colleagues observed only mild-to-moderate side effects, concerns about uraemia (Piletz et al., 2003) and toxic

interactions with elevated potassium levels (Abe, Abe & Saito, 2003) are noted. One alternative to direct agmatine administration involves agmatinase inhibition (e.g., piperazine carboxamidine), a solution being explored currently (Huang et al., 2003). The current project has selected another strategy, using agmatine as a lead structure for the development of novel, higher potency, agmatine analogues.

To this end, we established a medications development screening project at the University of Kentucky, wherein novel molecules were synthesized in the Pharmaceutical Sciences Division of the College of Pharmacy and examined in molecular screens for polyamine inhibition. Compounds testing positive were then examined in simple cellular screens, followed by more complex tissue screens, simple behavioral screens and finally complex behavioral screens, all contingent on success in the previous tier of screening.

The primary molecular screen involved detection of [3H]MK-801 binding in membrane preparations, both in the presence and absence of spermidine. MK-801 is an open-channel ligand, whose  $B_{max}$  is enhanced by approximately 75-100% when spermidine is added to the membrane preparation (Gibson et al., 2002). In this screen, compounds acting via competitive inhibition or steric hindrance display a monophasic binding curve, reducing [3H]MK-801 binding regardless of the presence or absence of spermidine. Compounds which display biphasic curves, such that at low concentrations [3H]MK-801 binding is only reduced in the presence of spermidine, are thought to display selectivity for polyamine inhibition. Over 1500 compounds have been screened in this manner, including a group of aryliminoguanidines. One member of this group, JR-220 ([4-Chlorobenzylidenamino]-guanidine Hydrochloride; see Figure 4), was highly potent, with an IC<sub>50</sub> of 3.6  $\mu$ M.



Figure 4. Molecular Structure of Agmatine and its Analogue, JR-220

The neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y expresses functional GLUergic cells and receptors, and is used in the current project to screen novel compounds for their ability to inhibit NMDA-induced  $^{45}Ca^{2+}$  entry. JR-220 (JR) was shown to inhibit calcium entry in a concentration-dependent manner with greater potency (10-100  $\mu$ M) than agmatine (100-500  $\mu$ M). Neuroprotection of SH-SY5Y cells from NMDA insult (500  $\mu$ M) at saturating concentrations of glycine and spermidine (10  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M, respectively), was assessed using the colorimetric assay, MTT. JR-220 significantly and concentration-dependently (10-100  $\mu$ M) reduced toxicity. This cell line was further used to screen for protection from ETOH withdrawal-associated damage (with identical concentrations of glycine and spermidine) after a 4-day exposure (180 mM). JR-220 (10-50  $\mu$ M) demonstrated the highest neuroprotective capability in this screen. Importantly, when these SH-SY5Y experiments were conducted without adding exogenous spermidine, JR-220 failed to show efficacy at aforementioned doses, consistent with the hypothesis that JR-220's mechanism of NMDAr inhibition is polyamine-dependent.

Given its success in the aforementioned molecular and cellular experiments, JR-220 was selected to continue advancement through our screening procedure and is the focus of the current work.

### **Chapter 6. Hypotheses & Project Summary**

The hypothetical framework for the current project conceptualizes the behavioral and cellular alterations associated with chronic ethanol consumption as being driven in large part by persistent alterations in glutamatergic tone and function, and being reversible via NMDAr antagonism.

# **<u>HYPOTHESIS 1</u>**: Compounds which selectively inhibit polyamine stimulation of the NMDAr will perform positively in predictive screens for attenuation of a wide range of ETOH-associated effects and behaviors. Specifically:

**Hypothesis 1a**) JR-220 will reduce both in vitro and in vivo (convulsion) indications of neurotoxicity

**Hypothesis 1b**) *JR-220* will reduce cue-conditioned withdrawal behavior

**Hypothesis 1c**) JR-220 will reduce drinking behaviors associated with both positive and negative reinforcement, including stress, relapse, and binge screens.

# <u>HYPOTHESIS 2:</u> Compounds which selectively inhibit polyamine stimulation in a subset of NMDArs containing NR2B/2B diheteromers will be sufficient for positive performance in our predictive screens. Specifically:

- **Hypothesis 2a)** *CP-101,606 will reduce both in vitro and in vivo (convulsion) indications of neurotoxicity.*
- **Hypothesis 2b**) *CP-101,606 will reduce drinking behaviors associated with both positive and negative reinforcement, including stress, relapse, and binge screens.*
- **<u>HYPOTHESIS 3:</u>** Selective polyamine inhibitors which perform positively in our predictive screens will demonstrate efficacy in standardized, established models of pathological ETOH consumption. Specifically:

Hypothesis 3a) JR-220 will reduce consumption in the 'Drinking in the Dark' model.

**Hypothesis 3b**) *CP-101,606 will reduce consumption in the 'Drinking in the Dark' model.*  Experiments presented here were conducted in the context of a drug discovery project, designed to identify novel compounds with the potential to reduce withdrawal severity, neurotoxicity and relapse risk. The current work presents a subset of screens from this project. The included screens have been validated with relevant drugs (i.e., acamprosate, topiramate, memantine), with one notable exception (see below). Screens include a complex organotypic hippocampal culture screen designed to assess neuroprotective potential (Experiment 1), a simple behavioral screen designed to assess withdrawal severity (Experiment 2) as well as several more complex behavioral screens designed to examine cue-conditioning during withdrawal (Experiment 3), relapse-like drinking behavior (Experiment 4), stress-associated consumption (Experiment 5) and binge-like drinking behavioral screen (Experiment 7) was included to assess potential anxiety-related and/or activity-related effects of the compounds tested. Finally, a model of binge-like drinking was utilized to further examine screening results (Experiment 8).

The primary compound of interest for the current project is JR-220, a modulator of polyamine enhancement of NMDAr function. *Data generated from the examination of JR-220 in Experiments 1-6 will directly test Hypothesis 1*. CP-101 was examined both due to its therapeutic potential as well as its unique pharmacological profile, which may help illuminate the contribution of NR2B-containing NMDArs to the behaviors examined here. *Although only examined in Experiments 1, 2, and 6, data generated from these experiments will directly test Hypothesis 2*. Based on the results of these screens, we utilized a well-recognized model of binge-like consumption (Experiment 8) to further explore these compounds. While *Experiment 8 will directly test Hypothesis 3*, it does not represent a complete examination, but rather the first in a series of planned explorations, the entirety of which are beyond the scope of this dissertation.

## **Chapter 7. Methods, Results & Discussion (By Experiment)**

Experiments presented here represent screens which were developed based on several well-established models of ETOH intake behavior, as well as some lesser-known paradigms (e.g., Experiment 3). We use Sprague-Dawley rats as well as Swiss Webster and C57BL6J mice. Species/strains were selected based on either established literatures suggesting the appropriateness of our chosen species/strains (Experiments 1,2,5 and 6) or the experiences of our group in establishing these paradigms (Experiment 3). The exception is Experiment 4; Wistar rats are the most common strain used (P rats are also common) in the model from which this screen was established; Sprague-Dawley rats were selected for pragmatic reasons (our group maintains an established Sprague-Dawley breeding program and has extensive experience with this strain). However, using well-established methods (discussed below) we have repeatedly demonstrated the paradigm's utility with this strain. The information above is described in Table 1.

Exp.	Screen/Model	Species/Strain	(Strain-specific) References
1	Hippocampal Slice Culture (OHSC)	<b>Rat</b> : Sprague-Dawley ( <i>In vitro</i> )	(e.g., Stoppini et al., 1991; Gibson et al., 2003; Prendergast et al., 2000; Stepanyan et al., 2008; Noraberg and Zimmer, 1998)
2	Handling-Induced Convulsion (HIC)	Mouse: Swiss Webster	(e.g., Farook et al., 2007; Stepanyan et al., 2008; Crabbe et al., 1980)
3	Conditioned Withdrawal in Elevated Plus Maze (EPM)	Mouse: Swiss Webster	(Farook et al., 2007; Wilson et al., 1998*; Cole et al., 1999*; Cole et al., 2000*) * used TO Mice, derived from Swiss Websters.
4	Alcohol Deprivation Effect (ADE)	<b>Rat</b> : Sprague-Dawley	* The use of Sprague-Dawleys is atypical; Wistars and P rats are used most commonly.
5	Stress-Associated Drinking	Mouse: C57BL/6J	(Farook et al., 2009; Lopez et al., 2011)
6/8	Drinking in the Dark (DID)	Mouse: C57BL/6J	(e.g., Rhodes et al., 2005; Rhodes et al., 2007; Moore & Boehm, 2009; Gupta et al., 2008)
7	Open Field (OF)	All species/strains	(e.g., Rubin et al., 2008; Wellmann et al., 2011)

## Table 1. Species/Strain Use by Experiment

Preclinical models (both *in vivo* and *in vitro*) have three basic measures of validity. Construct validity describes the extent to which the physiological mechanisms or underlying pathophysiologies are similar between the cellular/animal models and humans. Face validity describes the extent to which the model mimics the behaviors or symptoms exhibited in the human disease. Construct and face validities are historically the models more heavily weighted when considering the usefullness of a particular model. However, for the purposes of drug discovery, predictive validity, or the ability to predict a drug's action and/or efficacy in humans, is considered critical. The challenge for establishing predictive validity is generally the need for an efficacious pharmacotherapy in humans to use as a benchmark with which screen results may be compared. While these data are not shown, Experiments 1-5 were previously validated with several relevant compounds, including ifenprodil, memantine, and most importantly, acamprosate, which was considered a 'best-in-class' reference drug both for its efficacy in treating human alcoholics as well as its putative mechanisms of action, which most closely resemble (compared to other FDA-approved drugs) those of our compounds.

In the development of our screeens and screeening procedure, predictive validity was the most strongly considered, since high throughput screeening with strong predictive validity should have the greatest power to identify potential compounds of interest, which can then be tested more thoroughly in models with face and construct validity (this idea is well represented in our transition from simple screeens to Experiment 8). Designations of 'screen' and 'model' are particularly challenging in the current work, which utilizes both. In the context of this project, 'screen' is used to describe an experiment whose primary function involves prediction of, rather than direct evidence for, efficacy. Experiment 2 (described in detail below) illustrates this concept; the elicitation of convulsions during artificially exacerbated ETOH withdrawal fails to resemble clinically-manifested behaviors, but predicts modulatory actions at the receptor level which resemble current NMDAr-directed pharmacotherapies. It is thusly considered a screen, rather than a model. While Experiments 2 and 8 provide clear examples of screens and models, respectively, other experiments are less easily dissociated, and although selected for their predictive validity, offer significant face and construct validities.

#### **Experiment 1: Organotypic Hippocampal Slice Culture (OHSC)**

Although numerous in vitro models have been utilized to examine neuroprotection from excitotoxic insult, our complex in vitro screen required a paradigm which could efficiently characterize the effect of pharmacological agents in live brain tissue. The organotypic hippocampal slice (OHSC) procedure uses a brain area known to be particularly vulnerable to ETOH, and is conducive to the type of screening procedure used here. The procedures described here were originally developed by Stoppini and colleagues (1991), and produce hippocampal slices containing live, intact neurons and glia, maintaining a high level of complex neuronal connection and surviving in an apparently healthy state for extended periods of time (Stoppini et al., 1991). This method has been used extensively by our group (e.g., Gibson et al., 2003; Prendergast et al., 2000; Stepanyan et al., 2008) and others (e.g., Noraberg and Zimmer, 1998) to investigate chronic ETOH exposure and WD. Importantly, the OHSC screen has been validated with a number of highly relevant compounds. If enprodil (Gibson et al., 2003), memantine (Stepanyan et al., 2008) and acamprosate (Mayer et al., 2002a) have all been shown to reduce excitotoxic insult during/following ETOH withdrawal in this model. Furthermore, the contribution of polyamines to damage in this paradigm is established, as evidenced by attenuated damage following DFMO treatment (Gibson et al., 2003) and exacerbated damage following exogenous polyamine application (Mayer et al., 2002b), suggesting its particular sensitivity as a screening tool for polyamine modulators.

While described in detail below, the procedure involves extracting hippocampi from rat pups, plating the slices in hormone/nutrient-rich media and chronically exposing the slices to ETOH. Upon removal of the ETOH, significant CA1 toxicity occurs. In the studies presented here, various concentrations of JR-220 and CP-101,606 were examined for their ability to prevent this withdrawal-associated excitotoxicity. In all conditions slices were exposed to exogenous NMDA, either a toxic dose (20  $\mu$ M) or a mild dose (5  $\mu$ M), which does not induce significant toxicity (unpublished data). This mild dose was used to model excessive GLU influx from hippocampal afferents during WD. The competitive NMDAr antagonist MK-801 was also included as a treatment. [5  $\mu$ M

NMDA] alone was used as a negative control, while [20  $\mu$ M NMDA] and [5  $\mu$ M NMDA + MK-801] provided positive controls (indicating maximal toxicity and protection, respectively). Cell death was indexed by fluorescence of propidium iodide (PI), which binds DNA, entering via compromised cell membranes (Zimmer et al., 2000). This index of cell damage has been validated by several other markers (Wilkins et al., 2006).

Specifically, we hypothesized that both CP and JR would reduce ETOH WD-associated PI fluorescence in CA1, a direct measure of cellular damage.

## **Subjects**

Sprague-Dawley rats used in the current project were born in our breeding facility at the University of Kentucky (UK) Psychology Department. Parent animals were obtained from Harlan Labs (Indianapolis, IN). Animals were mated nightly, and the presence of a seminal plug the following morning indicated copulation had occurred. Pregnant females were individually housed in plastic cages in a temperature controlled nursery (70±3° F) on a 12:12 light:dark cycle (on at 0700h, off at 1900h) with food and water provided *ad libitum*. On the day following birth (PND1) litters were culled to 10 animals, maintaining a 1:1 sex ratio when possible. All research was conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the National Institute of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (NIH Publications No. 80-23, 1996) and approved by the University of Kentucky Institutional Animal Use and Care Committee.

#### **Hippocampal Extraction & ETOH Exposure**

PND8 Sprague-Dawley rat pups were used in all OHSC experiments. Pups from 11 litters were sacrificed (3 males/3 females, per litter) via rapid decapitation, brains aseptically removed, and transferred to ice-cold dissecting media [*Minimum Essential Medium (MEM; Gibco BRL, Gaithersburg, MD), 25 mM HEPES (ATCC, Manassas, VA),* 200 mM L-glutamine (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), 50 μM streptomycin/penicillin (ATCC, Manassas, VA)]. Following removal of the meninges, hippocampi were removed, sliced coronally at 200 μm (McIllwain Tissue Chopper; Campden Instruments Ltd., Lafayette, ID) and plated in triplicate onto 0.4 μm Biopore membranes (Millipore, Marlborough, MA). Membranes were suspended in 1 ml culture media [*dissecting media*, *36 mM glucose*, *25% Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS; Gibco BRL, Gaithersburg, MD)*, 25% heat-inactivated horse serum (HIHS; Sigma, St. Louis, MO)] using six-well plates.

Plates were incubated at 37 °C in a 5%  $CO_2/21\% O_2/74\% N_2$  medical grade gas composition for 5 days *in vitro* (DIV) to allow affixture to the membrane. On the fifth day *in vitro* (DIV 5) the plates were treated with new culture medium, with half exposed to 100mM ETOH. This media change was repeated on DIV 10. Between media changes, plates were housed in airtight plastic chambers with humidity and ethanol vapor concentrations maintained by placing 50 ml of 100 mM ETOH into the chambers; control chambers received 50 ml of water instead of ETOH. The chamber environment was filled with an identical composition of medical grade gas before being sealed and placed back into the incubator.

## NMDA Challenge & ETOH Withdrawal

On DIV 15, a final media change was conducted, with ETOH-free media containing PI (2.5  $\mu$ g/ml, Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) added to each well. Well treatments included 5  $\mu$ M NMDA (5N), 20  $\mu$ M NMDA (20N; used as a negative control), 5  $\mu$ M NMDA + MK-801 (20  $\mu$ M; used as a positive control) and 5  $\mu$ M NMDA + Drug (e.g., JR). In order to reduce litter effects and facilitate comparison between groups, treatments were divided across subjects such that no treatment was repeated within a single subject in either the ETOH or control condition. Figure 5 illustrates an example of assigned treatments in a particular culture.





## **Imaging & Analysis**

PI uptake was visualized at 5x objective using a Leica DMBIRM microscope (W. Nuhsbaum Inc.: McHenry, IL) fitted for fluorescent detection (Mercury-arc lamp), and imaging software (SPOT Advanced, version 4.0.2, W. Nuhsbaum Inc.; McHenry, IL). PI fluorescence was analyzed using Image J, v1.29x (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD). Dentate gyrus (DG), and cornu ammonis regions 1 (CA1) and 3 (CA3) were all analyzed. For each slice, background fluorescence was subtracted from the region of interest prior to analysis. Fluorescence was recorded in arbitrary units, then converted to percent of control, facilitating comparison across multiple cultures and controlling for variation between litters. Two-way analyses of variance (ANOVAs) were conducted (Sex x Treatment) on a regional basis. If no effect of sex was detected, sex was collapsed in further analyses. If the initial ANOVA was significant, planned comparisons (Fisher's protected t) were conducted to compare treated slices to their appropriate controls (ETOH-exposed or ETOH-naïve). Experiments with JR utilized six litters (N=217), distributed across 20 treatment groups, as depicted in Table 2. Experiments with CP utilized five litters (N=177), distributed across 16 treatment groups, as depicted in Table 3.

 Table 2. JR-220 Treatments & Subjects

Table 3. CP-101 Treatments & Subjects

Treatment	Control	ЕТОН
No Tx	<i>n</i> =23	<i>n</i> =22
20 µM NMDA	<i>n</i> =18	<i>n</i> =19
MK-801	<i>n</i> =18	<b>n=2</b> 0
50 µM JR	<i>n</i> =8	<i>n</i> =7
60 µM JR	<i>n</i> =7	<i>n</i> =8
75 µM JR	<i>n</i> =16	<i>n</i> =18
80 µM JR	<b>n</b> =4	<i>n</i> =3
90 µM JR	<i>n</i> =3	<b>n</b> =4
100 µM JR	<b>n</b> =4	<b>n</b> =4
125 µM JR	<b>n</b> =4	<i>n</i> =6

Treatment	Control	ЕТОН
No Tx	<b>n=2</b> 1	<i>n</i> =21
20 µM NMDA	<i>n</i> =12	<i>n</i> =12
MK-801	<i>n</i> =12	<i>n</i> =12
5 nM CP	<i>n</i> =6	<i>n</i> =6
10 nM CP	<i>n</i> =10	<i>n</i> =9
25 nM CP	<i>n</i> =12	<i>n</i> =12
50 nM CP	<i>n</i> =12	<i>n</i> =12
75 nM CP	<b>n</b> =4	<b>n</b> =4

### **JR-220 Results**

Images of representative slices are presented in Figure 12, following these results.

#### CA1

In CA1, administration of JR reduced fluorescence in ETOH-treated slices at all concentrations. No toxicity in ETOH-naïve slices was noted. The initial overall analysis revealed an effect of TREATMENT, F(18, 193)=27.633, p<.001, in CA1. No effect of sex was detected. Planned comparisons (Fisher's protected *t*) revealed that in ETOH-treated groups, fluorescence was significantly reduced by MK and all concentrations of JR (p<.001, p=.003, p<.001, p=.001, p=.002, p=.021, p<.001, respectively). Fluorescence was increased following 20  $\mu$ M NMDA treatment (p<.001), as expected. A second set of planned comparisons conducted among ETOH-naïve slices indicated differences only in the positive and negative control conditions; increased flouresence following 20  $\mu$ M NMDA treatment (p<.001) and decreases following MK-801 treatment (p=.004) were noted. Figure 6 depicts PI uptake in the CA1 region relative to controls.





# CA3

In CA3, administration of JR reduced fluorescence at the lowest dose, while appearing toxic at 100  $\mu$ M. An overall ANOVA revealed a main effect of TREATMENT, F(18, 193)= 6.301, p<.001, in CA3. No effect of sex was detected. Planned comparisons (Fisher's protected *t*) revealed that fluorescence differed between the ETOH control group and four other ETOH-exposed groups. In the case of MK-801 (p=.013) and 50  $\mu$ M JR (p=.023) this difference reflected reduced PI uptake, while in the cases of 20  $\mu$ M NMDA (p<.001) and 100  $\mu$ M JR (p=.024), increased uptake was observed. Among ETOH-naïve slices, 20  $\mu$ M NMDA increased uptake (p<.001). Figure 7 depicts PI uptake in the CA3, relative to controls.





In DG, 100  $\mu$ M JR was associated with increased fluorescence, no other effects were noted. An overall ANOVA revealed a main effect of TREATMENT, *F*(18, 193)= 4.982, *p*<.001, in DG. No effect of sex was detected. Planned comparisons (Fisher's protected *t*) revealed only a difference between ETOH-exposed 20  $\mu$ M NMDA slices and controls (*p*=.001). Among ETOH-naïve slices 100  $\mu$ M JR was associated with increased fluorescence (*p*=.018), as was 20  $\mu$ M NMDA (*p*<.001). Figure 8 depicts PI uptake in the DG, relative to controls.



Figure 8. JR-220 in DG

DG

#### CP-101,606 Results

## CA1

In CA1, administration of CP reduced fluorescence in ETOH-treated slices at low concentrations, but was associated with toxicity at higher concentrations in both ETOH and ETOH-naïve groups. The overall ANOVA revealed a main effect of TREATMENT, F(14, 155)=21.338, p<.001, in the CA1. No effect of sex was detected. Planned comparisons (Fisher's protected *t*) revealed decreased PI uptake in 10 nM CP (p<.001), 25 nM CP (p<.001) and MK-801 (p<.001) treated slices, relative to ETOH controls, and increased PI uptake in 75 nM CP (p=.022) and 20  $\mu$ M NMDA-treated slices (p<.001). Among ETOH-naïve controls, increased uptake among 20  $\mu$ M NMDA-treated (p<.001), 50 nM CP-treated (p=.003) and 75 nM CP-treated (p<.001) slices was noted. Figure 9 depicts PI uptake in the CA1, relative to controls.



Figure 9. CP-101,606 in CA1

CA3

No effects of CP were noted in CA3. An overall ANOVA revealed a main effect of TREATMENT, F(18, 193)= 8.864, p<.001, in CA3. No effect of sex was detected. Planned comparisons (Fisher's protected *t*) revealed fluorescence differences between ETOH controls and ETOH+20  $\mu$ M NMDA (p<.001), only. Among ETOH-naïve controls, only increased uptake among 20  $\mu$ M NMDA-treated slices (p<.001) was noted. These results are depicted in Figure 10, below.



Figure 10. CP-101 in CA3

No effects of CP were noted in DG. An overall ANOVA revealed a main effect of TREATMENT, F(18, 193)=8.290, p<.001, in DG. No effect of sex was detected. Planned comparisons (Fisher's protected *t*) revealed fluorescence differences between ETOH controls and ETOH+20  $\mu$ M NMDA (p<.001), only. Among ETOH-naïve controls, only increased uptake among 20  $\mu$ M NMDA-treated slices (p<.001) was noted. These results are depicted in Figure 11, below.





DG

# Figure 12. Representative Slices From Select Treatment Groups

including a) Control, b) ETOH, c) 20  $\mu M$  NMDA, d) 50  $\mu M$  JR-220 , e) 25 nM CP-101, and f) 20  $\mu M$  MK-801 .


# **OHSC Discussion**

Results from the OHSC screen demonstrated the neuroprotective potential of both compounds. Among cultures examined in the JR experiments, the untreated, ETOHexposed slices demonstrated increases in PI fluorescence of approximately 70% in CA1. At all concentrations examined, JR-220 reduced fluorescence. Comparison among ETOH-naïve slices indicated no associated toxicity in controls at any concentration of JR. Results from the CA3 region were slightly perplexing; ETOH was associated with a moderate increase in PI fluorescence. The lowest concentration of JR (50  $\mu$ M) appeared to reduce ETOH-associated toxicity; while 100 µM significantly increased it. This higher dose was also associated with toxicity in ETOH-naïve cultures. A similar pattern of effects were noted in DG, however only the increased toxicity among ETOH-naïve slices treated with 100 µM JR retained significance. These results are somewhat perplexing, in that JR did not appear toxic in the CA1, considered particularly sensitive to polyamines and polyamine manipulation (Butler et al., 2010), but did appear toxic in less sensitive regions. While these findings should be interpreted cautiously (given the low number of subjects exposed to the 100  $\mu$ M concentration), they may suggest additional mechanisms of JR-220 action, and potentially an unanticipated toxic mechanism (discussed in greater depth in the final discussion section).

Among cultures examined in the CP-101 experiments, the untreated ETOHexposed slices demonstrated increases in PI fluorescence of approximately 90% in CA1. The results from CA1 were suggestive of a U-shaped curve; low doses (5 nM) were ineffective at reducing toxicity, moderate doses (10 and 25 nM) were efficacious, while higher doses (50 and 75 nM) indicated an exacerbation of toxicity. These effects were mirrored in ETOH-naïve slices (50 and 75 nM concentrations increased fluorescence). While the high selectivity of CP-101 is suggested to limit its inherent toxicity and side effect profile, the NR2B class of NMDAr antagonists has been associated with toxic effects in NR2B-rich nuclei (Parsons, Danysz & Quack, 1998). In contrast to those cultures in which JR was examined, no ETOH-associated increases in CA3 or DG were noted among control slices in these experiments. Furthermore, no evidence of CP-

59

associated toxicity was noted among either ETOH-exposed or naïve slices in either CA3 or DG. The contrast between marked CA1 toxicity is likely due to the noted concentration of NR2B subunits in CA1, and suggests low, if any, expression of NR2B/2B stoichiometries in either DG or CA3.

These results are consistent with our hypotheses that inhibitory polyamine modulation, whether NR2B-specific or not, would attenuate excitotoxic injury. The success of both compounds in this screen (at multiple doses) indicated their potential for neuroprotection, thus both compounds were advanced to simple behavioral screening.

#### **Experiment 2: Handling-Induced Convulsion (HICs)**

Examining seizure-susceptibility in ETOH-exposed rodents via handling has been used as a behavioral model of withdrawal severity for some time. The HIC procedure was first developed by Goldstein & Pal (1971), and has been utilized by a variety of groups since (e.g., Crabbe et al., 1980; Grant et al., 1990; Wilson & Little, 1998). HICs are precipitated by removing the animal from its home cage by holding the tail, then gently spinning it. HIC seizures are graded in their severity, producing a scorable response, facilitating their use as both an indicator of CNS hyper-excitability and a sensitive assessment tool. However, many HIC studies have used either extended periods of exposure or ETOH inhalation chambers. The current experiment utilizes an abbreviated procedure, designed to more efficiently screen compounds for anticonvulsant effects. Instead of prolonged or inhalation exposure, our procedure utilizes an ETOH dehydrogenase inhibitor (4-methylpyrazole; 4MP), administered concurrently with ETOH. While pyrazole has been used in this manner previously (e.g., Terdal & Crabbe, 1994), our lab has demonstrated that with its use, convulsant activity may be precipitated after only three days of *i.p.* ETOH exposure (Farook et al., 2007).

NMDAr antagonism induces known anticonvulsant effects during ETOH WD (Rossetti & Carboni, 1995). Our abbreviated screening procedure has been validated with numerous relevant compounds; reductions in HICs associated with acamprosate (Farook et al., 2008), topiramate (Farook et al., 2007) memantine (Stepanyan et al., 2008) and ifenprodil (unpublished data) have all been demonstrated. Moreover, while our screen uses Swiss Webster mice, reductions in WD-associated seizures appear across other strains/species (e.g., memantine; Bienkowski et al., 2001; Kotlinska, 2001).

Specifically, we hypothesized that following chronic ETOH+4MP treatments, JR and CP would reduce withdrawal-associated handling-induced convulsion.

# **Subjects**

Male Swiss Webster mice (Harlan, IN) weighing  $29\pm3$  g (approximately 15-18 weeks) were housed 3/cage. A 16/8 light/dark cycle (on at 0600h, off at 2100h) and *ad libitum* chow and water were maintained throughout the experiment. Thirty-five mice were used per experimental replication, divided into 7 groups of 5 animals, each. Three experimental replications were conducted for each drug tested.

# **ETOH & Drug Treatments**

A 2.5 g/kg ETOH solution was administered (*i.p.*) daily (1300 h), using an injection volume of 10 ml/kg, for three consecutive days. 4MP (9 mg/kg; Sigma-Aldrich, USA), an ETOH dehydrogenase inhibitor, was co-administered with saline or ETOH. 10 h following the third and final administration of ETOH, animals were administered treatment dissolved in saline and injected at 10 ml/kg (*i.p.*). Thirty minutes following drug administration, animals were assessed for convulsive activity.

A range of JR-220 doses was examined in this paradigm; the first replication utilized low doses (1-15 mg/kg), and when no obvious behavioral perturbances were noted the dose was increased (10-40 mg/kg) for subsequent replications. Since we had greater confidence in our selection of active doses for CP based on available animal literature, all three replications utilized the same 1-20 mg/kg range.

# **HIC Scoring**

Assessment of seizure susceptibility was performed by gently lifting each mouse by the tail and observing convulsive behavior; if no convulsions were present, they were precipitated by gently spinning the animals 360 degrees clockwise, then counterclockwise, using the thumb and forefinger, for a period of 5 sec, after which convulsions were assessed. Scoring was based on a modified scale (Wilson & Little, 1998) and is described in Table 4. Scores indicated severity, with 0 indicating no convulsive activity, 3 indicating clonic convulsion, and 4 indicating convulsion (prior to spin) upon tail-lift. All scoring was conducted by an experimenter blind to treatment condition.

 Table 4. Handling-Induced Convulsion Assessment Scale

Score	Behavior
0	No activity on tail lift or 360° spin
1	Facial grimace only after 360° spin
2	Only tonic convulsion after 360° spin
3	Tonic/clonic convulsion after 360° spin
4	Tonic/clonic convulsion upon tail lift

# **Blood Sampling**

Blood samples were collected following the  $3^{rd}$  day of alcohol exposure and analyzed using the Analox AM1 Alcohol Analyzer (Lunenberg, MA). Animals received either ETOH alone or in combination with 4MP. Approximately 8 animals were used for each treatment condition, divided into two groups, such that each group was sampled at three exclusive time points (i.e. group 1 sampled at 30, 120, 480 min; group 2 sampled at 60, 240, 600 min). Blood was gathered by removing the tip of the tail (1 mm) and collecting approximately 40  $\mu$ L of tail blood in heparinized tubes. Tubes were centrifuged and plasma frozen for analysis. Blood was collected at 30, 60, 120, 240, 480 and 600 min following injection, and again at 24 h. A separate group of animals were used for the BEC analyses.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Each compound was analyzed in three experimental replications (*N*'s=105). HIC scores were converted to a percentage of the ETOH-naïve group average, to reduce variability and allow for comparison across replications. Scores were analyzed using one-way ANOVA (treatment). Post-hoc comparisons were conducted using Dunnett's test, comparing each group to the ETOH controls. BEC analyses were conducted using repeated measures ANOVA, with 4MP exposure as the between-subjects variable.

# **Results: BECs**

4MP increased BECs at two time-points. An initial repeated measures ANOVA (4-MP x TIME) revealed an interaction of time and treatment. *T*-tests conducted at each time point indicated significantly higher blood ethanol at 120 and 240 minutes following injection (p's <.001) showing the differential ethanol exposure caused by the addition of 4MP (or something to provide the reader with what it means in a simple sentence or two). Blood ethanol in both groups was reduced to minimal levels by eight hours, post-injection. These results are depicted in Figure 13.

#### Figure 13. BEC as a Function of Time and 4MP Treatment



# JR-220 HICs

JR-220 reduced HIC behaviors at doses ranging from 10-40 mg/kg. HIC scores from all three JR-220 replications were converted to percentages of the average control group's score, and combined into a single dataset. The ANOVA indicated a significant effect of treatment, F(7, 79)=4.297, p=.001. Dunnett's tests detected differences between ETOH controls and 10 (p=.019), 15 (p=.010), 20 (p=.001), 30 (p=.002) and 40 (p=.001) mg/kg doses of JR-220. These results are depicted in Figure 14.

Figure 14. JR-220 HICs, Percent Control Values



# **CP-101,606 HICs**

CP-101 reduced convulsions at all doses tested. The ANOVA indicated an effect of treatment, F(4, 90)=15.444, p<.001. Dunnett's tests indicated significant reductions in HICs for all doses of CP tested, including 1 (p<.001), 5 (p<.001), 10 (p<.001) and 20 (p<.001) mg/kg. Results are depicted in Figure 15.

Figure 15. CP-101,606 in HICs, Percent Control Values



# **HIC Discussion**

In the HIC tests, both compounds were found to be effective at reducing convulsive behavior during ETOH withdrawal, across a range of doses. JR-220's attenuation of HICs was dose-dependent, with 1 and 5 mg/kg doses failing to significantly reduce the behavior. However, the trend for reduction noted at 5 mg/kg and the striking similarity in the means and SEs between the 5 and 10 mg/kg groups suggest that the 5 mg/kg dose would have achieved significance had the subject representation been equivalent across groups (5 mg/kg n=5; 10 mg/kg n=15).

Prior to analyzing compounds in this screen, BEC curves were generated to establish 4-MP's elevation and potentiation of ETOH in blood. While a clear increase in peak BEC was noted following 4MP, as was an increase at the 4 hr measurement, increases in the duration of detectable ETOH in blood may be inferred due to the linear metabolism of ETOH (but are not directly demonstrated in this experiment); BECs returned to 0 between our 4 and 8 hr measurements. Importantly, 4MP has been tested in ETOH-naïve animals, with no discernable effect on HIC scores (Farook et al., 2007).

CP-101,606 appeared to dose-dependently reduce HICs at every dose tested, demonstrating slightly higher potency relative to JR. This is not surprising, when efficacious concentrations in the OHSC experiment are considered (10 & 25 nM CP vs. 50-125 mM JR). The magnitude of CP effects at equivalent doses also appeared greater. However, NR2B-containing NMDArs are thought to uniquely contribute to seizure/convulsive behaviors, and the implication of NR2B involvement in excitotoxicity (thought to underlie convulsive behavior) is well established. Thus, CP's potency should again be unsurprising. While the data are not presented in the current work, CP's potency appeared approximately equivalent to that of the NR2B-specific antagonist ifenprodil. A parsimonious interpretation of these results suggests that ETOH WD-associated seizure susceptibility is under at least partial control by NR2B subunits. Speculatively, the observed reductions in convulsive behavior, which at higher doses of both compounds were well below that of the ETOH-naïve animals, corroborates evidence that NR2B antagonists have potent anticonvulsant potential (e.g., Wlaz et al., 1999), and suggests that JR-220 shares agmatine's noted anticonvulsant properties (Feng et al., 2005). The success of both compounds in this screen provide further (albeit indirect) evidence for neuroprotection. Taken together, OHSC and HIC results suggested that both compounds possessed the potential to blunt withdrawal effects and protect from withdrawal-associated damage.

These results support the hypothesis that inhibitory polyamine modulation will reduce withdrawal-associated handling-induced convulsion.

# Experiment 3: Conditioned Pseudo-Withdrawal in the Elevated Plus Maze (EPM)

Opponent-process theory, mentioned in previous sections, conceptualizes drug effects (*a*-processes) as being mediated by compensatory physiological responses designed to maintain homeostasis (*b*-processes). Following chronic use, it is hypothesized that *b*-processes are induced by drug-associated cues and are thought to trigger drug-opposite effects similar to withdrawal, increasing the negative reinforcing value of the drug and potentially leading to resumption of use. One important capability of potential anti-relapse treatments, therefore, is the ability to blunt responses to drug-associated cues during acute and protracted withdrawal.

While several relapse models have utilized ETOH-associated conditioned cues, the behavioral responses of interest are generally consummatory in nature, and therefore unable to answer questions about inhibition of ETOH-conditioned behavior, since the reinforcing effects of ETOH confound interpretation. The current screen was developed as a solution, and involves repeated pairing of ETOH with an ETOH-associated environment (an elevated-plus maze; Cole et al., 1999). Following repeated ETOH-maze pairings, a vehicle injection appears to induce conditioned abstinence behavior. This behavior is not elicited when the vehicle injection is delivered in a non-conditioned environment, when ETOH is on board, or when previously ETOH-naïve animals are administered ETOH in the plus maze. The primary abstinence behavior is termed 'stretched-attend' posture, and involves extension of the forepaws and upper body ("stretch"), without forward movement. An alternate interpretation of this behavior is that it could indicate cued behavior resulting from positive interoceptive or internally rewarding feelings (an 'incentive salience' interpretation, rather than an 'opponentprocess' interpretation), indicating pleasure derived from the conditioned stimulus. However, when naltrexone was examined in this model, no attenuation of the stretchedattend behavior was noted (Cole et al., 2000). In contrast, acamprosate (thought to relieve negative affect) was effective in reducing these behaviors (Cole et al., 2000), suggesting their association with negative affect or conditioned withdrawal. The demonstration of acamprosate's efficacy in this model suggests strong predictive validity for its use as an

69

anti-relapse screen. Furthermore, while potentially any novel environment could be conditioned in this manner, the use of the elevated plus maze (EPM) allows for the additional examination of secondary effects of the compounds, including the examination of exploratory and anxiety-related behaviors.

Specifically, we hypothesized that JR would reduce stretched-attend responses to an ETOH-conditioned environment (the elevated plus maze).

#### Apparatus

The EPM was constructed from black Plexiglas, with two arms enclosed by walls  $(30 \times 17 \times 6 \text{ cm})$  and two open (unprotected) arms  $(30 \times 6 \text{ cm})$ . The maze was elevated 44.5 cm above the floor.

### Procedure

Mice were divided into 4 groups (*n*'s=5-6) in which 2 groups received saline and 2 received *i.p.* ETOH injections (1.75 g/kg). Animals were injected daily for 9 days, between 1200h and 1300h. 10 min after injections, they were placed on the center of the plus maze test apparatus for a 5 min conditioning session (Cole et al., 2000; Farook et al., 2007). On day 10, subjects received either saline or a 20 mg/kg dose of JR. A 40 mg/kg group was also included, however the generated data were not interpretable due to sedative effects and thus were removed from the dataset; see discussion for further details. Thirty minutes following injection they were then placed in the center of the maze. On day 10, behavior in the maze was recorded for a 5 min test session. The dependent variables included time spent in the open vs. closed arms, total number of arm entrances and number of stretched-attend postures (defined as when the subject stretches forward with its forepaws without actually moving its hind paws) (Cole et al., 1999, 2000; Farook et al., 2007). An arm visit was defined as all four paws in one arm. Behavior was recorded using a tripod-mounted video recorder (SONY). An experimenter remained in the room but was screened from the animals' view.

70

# Analysis

For each dependent variable a 2 x 2 ANOVA (ETOH Exposure x Treatment) was conducted. *Post hoc* tests (Fisher's protected t) were conducted to further explore significant effects.

# Results

JR-220 reduced stretched-attend posture in ETOH and saline-treated animals. A 2 x 2 ANOVA for stretched-attend behaviors revealed main effects of both pretreatment and JR treatment. Pretreatment with ETOH was associated with increased stretched-attends, F(1,20)=33.665 p=.029, while JR treatment was associated with reductions in the behavior, F(1,20)=29.106 p=.002. *Post hocs* revealed that among JR-naïve animals, ETOH pre-exposure was associated with increases in stretched-attends, relative to saline (*p*=.001). JR-associated reductions were evident among both saline (*p*<.001) and ETOH-pretreated controls (*p*<.001). These differences are depicted in Figure 16.

Figure 16. Stretched-Attend Behaviors



JR-220 was associated with increases in closed-arm occupancy and reduction in open-arm occupancy. A 2 x 2 ANOVA conducted for time spent in closed arms detected a main effect of JR, such groups receiving JR spent greater time in the closed arms of the maze, F(1,20)=7.425 p=.014. *Post hoc* tests revealed that the significance of this effect persisted for saline pretreated animals (p=.016), but was not significant for the ETOHpretreated animals. Identical analyses were conducted for time spent in open arms; a significant main effect of JR, such that JR treatment reduced time spent in open arms, was detected, F(1,20)=10.282 p=.005. Again, this effect was significant among salinepretreated animals, but not ETOH animals. These results are depicted in Figure 17, with the scales being made equal to facilitate direct comparison between the variables.





JR-220 was associated with hypoactivivity in saline-treated animals. A 2 x 2 ANOVA for total arm entries revealed main effects for both pretreatment and JR treatment. Pretreatment with ETOH was associated with increased arm entries in the maze, F(1,20)=5.672 p=.029, while JR treatment was associated with reductions in entries, F(1,20)=13.859 p=.002. *Post hocs* revealed that JR-associated reductions in activity persisted only among saline-treated animals (p=.004), although the reduction approached significance among ETOH-treated animals (p=.07). These results are depicted in Figure 18.





# **EPM Summary**

The primary measure of interest in the cue-conditioned EPM screen was stretched-attend postures, thought to index conditioned withdrawal behavior. ETOHexposed animals produced a greater number of stretched-attends in the conditioned environment, relative to controls. Stretched-attends in this group were significantly reduced following a 20 mg/kg dose of JR-220. While this action is consistent with our hypothesis, JR's action in ETOH-naïve animals provided some interpretational difficulty; JR reduced stretched-attends significantly, and with a similar magnitude as was noted for ETOH-exposed animals.

One possible interpretation would indicate a generalized anxiolytic effect. Agmatine (of which JR-220 is an analogue), as well as a number of compounds which would be hypothesized to produce agmatine-like action (including L-arginine, DFMO, aminoguanidine and arcaine) are known to reduce ETOH-associated withdrawal anxiety in the EPM (Taksande et al., 2010), consistent with the hypothesis of a generalized anxiolytic effect. However this anxiolytic action would be atypical, as open-arm dwelltime was reduced by JR (and closed-arm dwell-time increased) among the ETOH-naïve group. Generally, this closed-arm preference would be interpreted as evidence of an anxiogenic action.

It is also possible that reduction in stretched-attends was due to a generalized hypoactivity induced by JR, an interpretation consistent with the noted reduction in arm entries among ETOH-naïve animals and the trend (p=.07) toward a reduction in ETOH-exposed animals. This interpretation is also supported by the effects of the 40 mg/kg JR dose in this paradigm (data not shown). The 40 mg/kg dose resulted in complete immobility in a subset of animals, precluding any interpretation of stretched-attend behaviors, and thus this data was discarded.

While JR's effects in this screen were equivocal, reductions in stretched-attend behavior among ETOH-exposed animals at least suggested the potential to reduce ETOH-associated cues. Thus, when considered in light of its efficacy in previous experiments, JR was advanced to the more complex behavioral screens. However, we decided that analyzing JR's effects on activity in a more direct manner would be prudent (activity data are presented below in Experiment 7).

Although results are consistent with the hypothesis that JR would reduce stretchedattends, however they add little additional support, considering noted interpretational issues.

#### **Experiment 4: Alcohol Deprivation Effect**

The alcohol deprivation effect (ADE) refers to temporary increases in ETOH consumption, compared with baseline conditions, when ETOH is reinstated following a period of forced abstinence (Sinclair & Senter, 1967). The ADE is thought to indicate relapse-like behavior (Spanagel et al., 1996). The phenomenon is noted across several species, including rats (e.g., Vengeliene, 2003), mice (e.g., Salimov et al., 1993), non-human primates (e.g., Kornet et al., 1990) and humans (Burish et al., 1981; Mello & Mendelson, 1972). Adding to its face validity to human relapse, the ADE phenomenon is noted to occur following short deprivations (e.g., 12 h; Sinclair & Li, 1989) as well as following an extended abstinence period (75 d; Sinclair et al., 1973).

Interestingly, alcohol preference among rodents appears relatively unrelated to their propensity to display an ADE (for review see Rodd et al., 2004). While the alcoholpreferring ("P") rats display robust ADE behaviors, the Alko Alcohol ("AA" line) rats only display short term (12 and 24 h) ADEs (Sinclair & Li, 1989); Sardinian alcoholpreferring ("sP" line) rats do not display ADE behavior (Agabio et al., 2000); and high alcohol drinking ("HAD" line) rats display ADE only under certain conditions (Rodd-Henricks et al., 2000). Vengeliene and colleagues examined these preferring lines with Wistar rats (2003) and found ADE behavior only in the P and Wistar animals. However, the majority of this work examines ADE following only the first deprivation period. When repeated deprivation periods are used, ADE behaviors in preferring lines (e.g., HAD rats) which are not immediately evident initially, can emerge (Rodd-Hendricks et al., 2000). Similarly, in animals which do display initial ADE behaviors, repeated deprivation cycles can markedly increase intake; one study demonstrated 16 g/kg consumption during the 24 hr following reinstatement in P-rats (Li et al., 1993).

Taken together, these findings suggest that relapse-like behavior thought to be modeled in the ADE paradigm may reflect pathophysiological changes occurring during chronic consumption and abstinence, rather than the positive reinforcing value of ETOH or initial ETOH preference. However, the noted ability of naltrexone to reduce ADE behavior (Heyser, Moc & Koob, 2003; McBride, Le & Noronha, 2002) suggests that the behavior is still under at least partial control of the positively reinforcing value of ETOH following reinstatement. While the mGLUr antagonist, MPEP, reduces ADE behavior (Backstrom et al., 2004), the efficacy of acamprosate in this paradigm (Vengeliene et al., 2010; McBride, Le & Noronha, 2002) is of greatest relevance to the current work, and suggests the predictive validity of our ADE procedure.

Although described in detail below, our modified ADE screen uses Sprague-Dawley rats, which do not readily acquire significant ETOH self-administration. Thus, we employ a sucrose-fading procedure to train drinking. Animals undergo at least three reinstatement periods after deprivation. The first is an untreated period to verify that the deprivation effect is detectable. The second and third reinstatements are conducted following treatment with either the compound of interest, or vehicle, in a within-subject manner (with treatment order balanced across groups). This procedure allows us to efficiently and reliably produce ADE behavior in Sprague-Dawleys following less than one month of ETOH exposure.

Specifically, we hypothesized JR-220 would attenuate increases in consumption following ETOH reinstatement, relative to baseline levels.

# Subjects

Subjects were male Sprague-Dawley rats individually housed in plastic cages in a temperature-controlled colony room (70° $\pm$ 2 F) on a 12h light-dark cycle, with food and water provided *ad libitum*.

# **ADE Procedure**

Male Sprague-Dawley rats were trained to consume ETOH using a sucrose-fading procedure, which entailed gradually replacing the sucrose in a 10% solution with ETOH, until animals were consuming a sucrose-free 12% ETOH solution. Free access to water was maintained throughout the experiment in one drinking tube, while varying solutions of sucrose and ETOH were provided in the other. The sucrose fading schedule is presented in Table 5.

Phase	Solution
Days 1-3	Water in both bottles
Days 4-6	One bottle replaced with 10% sucrose
Days 7-9	10% sucrose / 3% ETOH
Days 10-12	10% sucrose / 6% ETOH
Days 13-15	10% sucrose / 9% ETOH
Days 16-18	10% sucrose / 12% ETOH
Days 19-21	5% sucrose / 12% ETOH
Days 22-27	<b>12% ETOH</b>

Tal	ble	5.	Sucrose	Fading	Sci	hedu	le
1		<b>~</b> •	5000000	1 aans		<i>courre</i>	~~

Ethanol consumption during the last 3 days of 12% ETOH access was averaged and used as a baseline for comparison with post-deprivation consumption. Following the sucrose-fading procedure, ETOH deprivation/reinstatement cycles began. Each reinstatement period lasted for 72 hours. Deprivation periods were varied at 4±1 days, to insure that the animals did not adapt to a schedule. All animals received a single (nondrug treated) reinstatement cycle to assess elevations in drinking compared to baseline. During the following reinstatement period animals were randomly divided into treatment groups, receiving either drug or saline. Two experiments were conducted (each examining a different dose of JR); separate animals were used for each. An initial experiment examined a 20 mg/kg dose (n=54), followed by a smaller-scale experiment examining 10 mg/kg (n=13) designed to alleviate interpretational issues concerning general fluid consumption. Injections were administered (*i.p.*) 30 minutes prior to ETOH reinstatement, and then repeated daily for the duration of the treatment phase. The dependent measure was ETOH consumption (g/kg BW).

## Analysis

Paired-samples *t*-tests were used to compare g/kg ETOH consumption during each day of the ADE phase with baseline drinking. Total fluid consumption was also analyzed in this manner. Paired-samples t-tests were further utilized to disambiguate the direct effects of JR, as compared to saline, on water consumption.

#### Results

## 20 mg/kg JR

20 mg/kg JR appeared to both attenuate ADE behavior, and reduce consumption on days 2 and 3. Paired sample *t*-tests revealed that following a deprivation period, the animals consumed significantly more ETOH following reinstatement, compared to their baseline drinking. A similar pattern as described above was observed, with increased consumption on day 1, t(53)=3.890, p<.001, and day 2, t(53)=3.087, p=.003. Following treatment with JR-220, day 1 consumption did not differ from baseline, however consumption was reduced on day 2, t(53)=2.693, p=.010, and day 3, t(53)=4.164, p>.001. Animals which received saline consumed significantly more on day 1, t(53)=5.170, p>.001 and 2, t(53)=2.643, p=.011, relative to baseline. ADE phases compared with baseline drinking are depicted in Figure 19.



No differences in water consumption were associated with the untreated reinstatement phase, however both JR-220 and saline injections were associated with reductions in water consumption during all injection days. In order to examine whether JR-220 was associated with reductions in water consumption compared to saline controls, a secondary set of paired-samples t-test was employed to compare these groups. Water consumption was reduced by JR during day 1 t(53)=3.673, p=.001, and day 2, t(53)=2.423, p=.019, but not day 3 of reinstatement. These results are depicted in Figure 20.

Figure 20. Water Consumption in ADE Reinstatement Phases (20 mg/kg).



# 10 mg/kg JR

10 mg/kg JR appeared to attenuate ADE behavior. Paired samples t-tests revealed that following a deprivation period, the animals consumed significantly more ETOH following reinstatement, compared to their baseline drinking. This increase persisted for both day 1, t(12)=3.084, p=.006, and day 2, t(12)=2.397, p=.034. Animals which received saline consumed significantly more on day 1 of the drinking phase, t(12)=3.841, p=.002. During the treated ADE phases, 10 mg/kg JR treatment appeared to attenuate increases in consumption. ADE phases compared with baseline drinking are depicted in Figure 21.





A second set of *t*-tests were performed to examine the effects of JR on water consumption during reinstatement. No differences in water consumption were associated with the untreated reinstatement phase, or treatment with JR-220. However, water consumption on the first day of reinstatement was significantly lower among animals administered saline, relative to baseline drinking. These results are depicted in Figure 22.

Figure 22. Water Consumption During ADE Reinstatement Phases (10 mg/kg)



# **ADE Summary**

Using a modified procedure designed to facilitate efficient drug screening, we demonstrated that Sprague-Dawley rats with less than a month of exposure to ETOH-containing solutions will substantially increase ETOH drinking behaviors following a period of forced abstinence. This is notable both for the relatively short pre-deprivation drinking period, as well as the rat strain used, as Wistar or various selectively bred lines are used most commonly in this procedure. Additionally, one advantage of our screeening procedure is the relatively high levels of consumption it produces, ranging from 6-9 g/kg during the first 24h following reinstatement, which contributes to the face validity of the screen. Our observed levels of consumption are greater than is generally found in other works (with several notable exceptions involving P-rats), however, the inclusion of a sucrose fading procedure to accelerate ETOH consummatory behavior also raises the possibility that consumption is being partially driven by previous associations with sweetness/calorie content. While this complicates interpretation somewhat, it does not

necessarily subtract from the face validity of the screen, as initiation of ETOH consumption in humans rarely involves high ETOH/low carbohydrate solutions.

JR-220 administration at both 10 and 20 mg/kg doses attenuated the ADE, reducing post-reinstatement consumption to control levels (or below). Paired-samples *t*tests indicated that following the 10 mg/kg dose, consumption levels during all treatment days were indistinguishable from control levels, compared to saline treatment, in which a significant day 1 increase was noted. Furthermore, the 10 mg/kg dose was not associated with any reduction in water consumption. Saline-treated animals displayed reduced water consumption during day 1, however this was most likely do to their preference for the ETOH solution.

20 mg/kg administration of JR was also associated with a reduction in ADE behavior. Following reinstatement, no increases in ETOH consumption relative to control were noted in the first 24 h of access, in contrast to the significant increase in day 1 consumption among vehicle-treated animals. Interestingly, while animals treated with 10 mg/kg JR were no different from controls on any of the treatment days, 20 mg/kg JR was associated with reductions in drinking on days 2 and 3. However, this is consistent with the hypothesis that JR is capable of reducing a number of ETOH-associated behaviors, including relapse (ADE day 1 consumption), and general reductions in consumption, reflecting reduced reinforcing value. Reductions in water consumption during the treated ADE phase were noted. While some reduction is expected due to the hydrating capability of the injections (injections contained 2.5-5 mL saline, depending on body weight), direct comparison of the saline and JR-220 treatments indicated a significant reduction in water consumption associated with JR. Since saline treated animals demonstrated greater preference for the ETOH solution, yet still consumed more water than JR-treated animals, this is unlikely to be an artifact. The most likely possibilities for this noted reduction in water include general reductions in the reinforcing value of natural rewards or a general reduction in activity levels (including normal drinking behavior). The former possibility

is unlikely, as JR has been directly examined in other drinking paradigms and found not to affect water consumption (Justin Rhodes, personal communication). Furthermore, the 10 mg/kg dose was associated with reductions in ETOH but not water consumption, arguing against a generalized reduction in reinforcement. Thus, JR's potential effects on activity remained a concern and were consequently examined in Experiment 7.

CP was not examined in this screen due in part to limited resources, and in part because NR2B antagonism has been examined previously in the ADE paradigm; the NR2B antagonist ifenprodil dose dependently reduces ADE behavior (Vengeliene et al., 2005). Thus, while CP's efficacy would have been noteworthy due to the noted differences in its binding profile, the recognition of NR2B antagonist efficacy in this paradigm influenced our decision to prioritize its examination in behavioral paradigms in which NR2B involvement is less well-established (i.e., binge drinking).

Taken together, these results supported the hypothesis that inhibitory polyamine modulation has the ability to attenuate reinstatement-associated increases in ETOH consumption. Attenuation of relapse behavior in this experiment was encouraging, however this paradigm lacks a major component associated with human relapse: stress. Thus, we advanced JR to Experiment 5, examining its effects in chronically stressed animals.

#### **Experiment 5: Stress-Associated Drinking**

It is well known that stress increases alcohol consumption in a variety of species, and is thought to be a primary contributor to relapse behavior in humans. Thus, we included a stress-related paradigm into our screening hierarchy. A variety of stressors are known to increase drinking behaviors in rodents, including foot-shock (e.g., Matthews et al., 2008), social isolation (e.g., Nunez et al., 2002) and restraint/immobilization (e.g., Farook et al., 2009). C57BL/6J mice are known to readily consume ETOH, and their consumption is both increased following stress challenge (e.g., Boyce-Rustay, 2008) and sensitive to such factors as quality, severity, duration and frequency of stress. We therefore used this strain in a simple restraint-stress procedure to screen for the ability of our compounds to reduce stress-associated consumption.

Unfortunately, the literature involving GLUergic manipulations of stressassociated drinking is limited. There is some evidence suggesting acamprosate has the ability to reduce stress-associated increases ETOH consumption (Füllgrabe, Vengeliene & Spanagel, 2007), however these findings were age and sex-specific. Clinically, acamprosate appears anxiolytic (Schwartz et al., 2010), and in a sample of patients comorbid for anxiety and alcohol misuse disorders, reduced both anxiety symptoms and alcohol use (Schwartz, Chilton & Aneja, 2007). These findings suggest compounds with 'acamprosate-like' action will positively modulate alterations in drinking behavior resulting from stress, despite the paucity of available preclinical examinations involving NMDAr manipulation.

While acamprosate has not yet been examined in this restraint-stress procedure, a previous study conducted by our group using topiramate (Farook et al., 2009) suggests that restraint elevates drinking behavior, and that such elevation may be moderated by the 'acamprosate-like' action of topiramate. While the screen presented below was designed in a highly similar manner to that described by Farook (2009), the size of the unrestrained

86

group was substantially reduced in order to increase efficiency and throughput, and only saline and a single dose of JR was examined in controls.

Specifically, we hypothesized that stress-induced increases in ETOH consumption would be attenuated following JR-220 administration.

### **Subjects**

Male C57BL/6J (n=28) mice weighing 29±2 g (15-18 weeks old; Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) were singly housed in standard polycarbonate cages with corncob bedding. Chow and water were provided *ad libitum*.

# Procedure

Prior to the start of an experiment, C57BL/6J mice were allowed to adjust to the colony room for a period of 7 days, following shipment. Afterwards, water and ETOH were available in feeding tubes (Dyets Inc., PA) inserted directly into the animal cage. During the course of 7 days, the concentration of ETOH was gradually increased from 3% (days 1-2) to 6% (day 3-5) to 12% (days 6-7). Drinking tube position was alternated daily in order to avoid any positional bias. Water and ETOH consumption were measured daily, throughout the experiment.

At the start of the restraint phase, mice were divided into groups; 20 animals received restraint, with 8 controls. Restraint was performed daily, for 5 days, by placing mice into transparent plexiglass restraint chambers (10 cm x 4.5 cm x 3.2cm) for one hour. Unrestrained animals were handled briefly, then transported in their home cage to the restraint room and left for one hour. Restraint was ceased after 5 days (prior to the first day or treatment). Animals exposed to the restraint stress were subdivided into four groups (n's=5), each receiving 0, 10, 20 or 30 mg/kg JR-220. Unrestrained animals were divided into two groups (n's=4), receiving saline injections or the high dose (30 mg/kg) of JR-220. Injections were repeated, daily, for five days, post-restraint.

# **Statistics**

An initial repeated measures ANOVA (group x day) was performed between unrestrained controls and restrained animals, to assess the effects of daily restraint on ETOH consumption. Following restraint, the multiple doses of JR were analyzed using a two-way repeated measures ANOVA (Dose x Day). Additional ANOVAs, and subsequent *post hocs* (Fisher's protected *t*) were conducted to further examine significant effects, where appropriate.

# Results

Restraint stress was associated with increases in ETOH consumption. A group x day RM ANOVA detected a main effect of group, revealing that ETOH consumption was increased among animals undergoing restraint, F(1, 26)=122.479, p<.001. Additionally, a significant interaction between group and day was noted F(1, 26)=6.773, p=.015. Thus, *t*-tests were conducted between groups for each day, individually. In all cases a significant difference between groups was detected (p<.001, p=.001, p<.001, p<.001, p<.001, for days 1-5, respectively). Graphing the interaction (Figure 23) suggests divergence of ETOH consumption over time, in a group-dependent manner. Consumption among restrained animals increased over time, while unrestrained animals' consumption decreased over time.

Figure 23. Restrained vs. Unrestrained Drinking



Following the 5-day restraint phase, restrained animals were administered one of four doses of JR (0, 10, 20, 30 mg/kg), daily, and allowed to consume ETOH freely for an additional 5 days. JR administration reduced drinking in a time-dependent manner. An initial RM ANOVA detected an interaction between day and dose, F(12, 64)=2.186, p=.023, thus, individual ANOVAs were conducted for each day, individually. No effect of dose was noted for days 1 or 2, however by day 3 dose emerged as significant, F(3,19)=10.958, p<.001, and remained significant during day 4, F(3,19)=21.722, p<.001, and day 5, F(3,1)=8.636, p<.001. Fisher's post hocs were performed for days 3-5. During day 3, saline treated animals consumed significantly more ETOH than 10, 20, or 30 mg/kg JR-treated animals (p=.008, p<.001, p<.001, respectively). On day 4, salinetreated animals again consumed significantly more ETOH (p=.006, p<.001, p<.001, respectively), however the animals exposed to 30 mg/kg also consumed less than animals receiving either 10 or 20 mg/kg JR (p<.001, p=.008, respectively). On day 5 JR-treated animals again consumed less than saline-treated (p=.010, p=.003, p<.001, respectively), although among JR-treated animals consumption did not differ as a function of dose. These results are depicted in Figure 24, below.



Figure 24. JR-220 Treatment (Following 5-day Restraint Period)

Additional analyses were conducted on animals which received no exposure to the restraint paradigm, but were treated with either saline or the highest (30 mg/kg) dose of JR-220. An RM ANOVA (treatment x day) was conducted, however no main effects or interactions were noted.

Since the investigation of JR in unrestrained animals was not a primary focus of this experiment, sample size for this analysis was low (n's=4). Thus, we were concerned that the (treatment x day) RM ANOVA lacked sufficient power to detect differences on individual days. We therefore chose to examine the final day of treatment (Day 5), using a *t*-test. 30 mg/kg JR appeared to reduce Day 5 consumption, t(6)=2.900, p=.033, despite the lack of an overall (treatment x day) interaction (depicted in Figure 25). While the *t* value for this analysis was modest, the low *n*'s suggested a sizeable effect. The effect size for the 5<sup>th</sup> day was found to be a "large" effect (Cohen's d=2.37).

Figure 25. Unrestrained Animals, 0 vs. 30 mg/kg JR



### **Restraint Stress Summary**

Prior to drug treatment, daily restraint stress induced elevations in ETOH selfadministration. The primary measure of interest in this screen was alterations in ETOH self-administration following chronic stress. At all three doses examined (10, 20, 30 mg/kg) JR-220 was capable of reducing consumption. However, the temporal pattern of this reduction was particularly interesting; during the first 2 days of JR administration no differences were detectable, and it was only during the 3<sup>rd</sup>, 4<sup>th</sup> and 5<sup>th</sup> days of ETOH consumption that such differences emerged. However, this is not a unique pattern. Previous use of this procedure (Farook et al., 2009) produced a similar pattern of results, with significant differences between treated and un-treated groups not emerging until the last half of the treatment phase. One interpretation of such delayed efficacy would suggest that both compounds require several days for concentrations to reach maximally effective levels. While the 21 h half-life of topiramate (Bialer, 1993) is consistent with this interpretation, no data is currently available concerning metabolism of JR-220. An alternative interpretation is that dysregulation of HPA function and resultant negative affect are not immediately reversible, but rather need some time to 'balance' or 'down-regulate'.

However, while patterns of slow-onset efficacy in restrained animals are similar between studies, the patterns of ETOH consumption during the restraint phase, and the magnitudes of consumption in both restrained and non-restrained animals appear markedly different when the current project is contrasted with the topiramate study. Consumption among restrained vs. unrestrained animals in the topiramate study increased from ~10 to ~19 g/kg and ~7.5 to ~12.5 g/kg in restrained and unrestrained animals, respectively; the current study observed only a slight increase associated with restraint (~9 to ~11.5 g/kg), and a decrease (~6 to ~4 k/kg) in unrestrained animals. Since both sets of experiments employed nearly identical methodologies, such differences are puzzling. However, the overall findings from both studies, that restraint-associated increases in consumption may be attenuated in a time-dependent manner via GLUergic modulation, are consistent.

The inclusion of unrestrained controls in this paradigm was primarily to insure that restraint stress resulted in increased consumption, however following the restraint phase this group allowed for the additional examination of JR in unrestrained animals. A JR-associated reduction was noted, however only after several days of treatment (similar to the restrained animals). Finally, the large effect size of the Day 5 difference suggests the reliability of this finding, even with unfortunately low n's.

These results were consistent with our hypothesis that inhibitory polyamine modulation would reduce stress-associated ETOH consumption.

#### **Experiment 6: Drinking in the Dark (Screen)**

As noted previously, the C57BL/6J mouse is considered an alcohol-preferring strain. However, among C57s, other mouse strains, or other species, it has been (historically) difficult to produce binge-like self-administration to the point of behavioral intoxication. For instance, while C57s will take nearly all daily fluid intake from a 10% ETOH solution in a 2-bottle choice, 24 h access paradigm, measurable effects on physiology and/or behavior are lacking and pharmacologically significant BEC levels are not maintained (Dole & Gentry, 1984). Although some noted exceptions exist (e.g., Middaugh et al., 1999; Ryabinin et al., 2003), these and other binge models generally involve extended periods of previous administration, stress (or other environmental manipulation, e.g., food deprivation) or previous forced administration (e.g. ETOH vapor inhalation chambers). While operant techniques are able to avoid many of these pitfalls (e.g., Roberts, Heyser & Koob, 1999), the procedures require significant individualized training over time, and are thus ill-suited for high-throughput screening.

Fortunately, a limited-access procedure which involves neither food nor water restriction, and leads to pharmacologically significant levels of consumption, has recently been established. Rhodes and colleagues (2005), in a methodologically rigorous examination, described the tendency of C57BL/6J mice to consume significant quantities of alcohol under limited-access conditions (2-4 hours) during their active (dark) cycle, termed 'Drinking in the Dark'. Under these conditions the mice are known to consume high concentrations (20%) of ETOH to the point of intoxication with BECs as high as .16 g/dl (Rhodes et al., 2005). Furthermore, several behavioral indices of intoxication are noted, including impaired performance on the accelerating rotarod and balance beam tests (Rhodes et al., 2007) and gait abnormalities (Rhodes et al., 2005). Finally, the establishment of such high levels of consumption requires few days of ETOH experience, and may be generated within 1-2 weeks. This DID procedure thus provides a simple binge model with high face validity which is particularly well suited to genetic and pharmacological investigations.

The predictive validity of this model has been established using a number of compounds. The binge-like nature of DID behavior and the short amount of time required to establish it, suggest that in this particular model consumption may be driven largely by positive reinforcement. The effects of VTA micro-injection of baclofen (Moore & Boehm, 2009), as well as systemically administered naltrexone (Kamdar et al., 2007), are consistent with this hypothesis. However, GLUergic manipulations also appear to reduce consumption; both MPEP (an mGLUr inhibitor) and acamprosate significantly and dose-dependently reduce the behavior (Gupta et al., 2008). Interpretation of such efficacy is equivocal; these GLUergic compounds may serve to reduce positive reinforcement, or, despite short onset of the binge-like behavior, it may still be partially driven by the negatively reinforcing value of ETOH.

The experiments presented below are DID screens which were adapted from Rhodes and colleagues (2005). While the basic methodology was retained, treatment schedules differed (allowing us to assess prolonged effects of treatment on ETOH consumption the day following treatment) and dose ranges were more limited (to facilitate higher throughput). Unlike many of the aforementioned screens, this procedure was novel for our lab at the time of JR and CP testing, thus we included acamprosate in these initial experiments to further the establishment of the screen's predictive validity.

We hypothesized that the high levels of ETOH consumption noted during brief periods of dark-cycle access to ETOH would be reduced by inhibitory polyamine modulation via JR and CP.

# **DID** (Screen) Subjects

Male C57BL/6J (N=20) mice weighing  $30\pm3$  g (15-18 weeks old; Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) were singly housed, in a room maintained on a 12:12 reversed light/dark cycle, with lights turned off at 0600 h and on at 1800 h EST. Red incandescent lamps were used during feeding, cage-changing and testing to avoid circadian disruption. Animals were housed in standard polycarbonate cages with corncob

94
bedding. Rat chow and water were provided *ad libitum*, except when ETOH was substituted for water.

### **DID (Screen) Procedure**

Upon arrival, animals were habituated to the colony room for seven days. Twenty percent ETOH solutions were prepared daily. ETOH solutions were delivered in 10 ml graduated cylinders, fitted with double ball bearing sipper tubes (to prevent leakage). ETOH access was initiated 4 hr into the dark cycle. This was done in the home cage, where animals were singly housed. The cylinders remained in place for 4 hrs, after which cylinders were removed and water bottles re-introduced.

A three week (5 days/week) period ETOH exposure was conducted prior to drug treatment. Each animal received all compounds tested, in a counterbalanced, latin-square design (Figure 26). ETOH consumption was allowed each day preceding and following a treatment. Screen 1 examined saline, 10 mg/kg JR and 10 mg/kg CP. Screen 2 examined saline, 300 mg/kg acamprosate, and 20 mg/kg JR. Doses were selected based on efficacy in previous experiments and/or selected from the literature. Figures 27 and 28 depict the treatment schedule and consumption prior to treatment exposure, respectively.

#### Figure 26. Latin-Square Design for Screen 1 and Screen 2

	Phase 1			Phase 2		
Group 1 (n=7)	Saline	JR	СР	Saline	JR	Acamp
Group 2 (n=7)	СР	Saline	JR	Acamp	Saline	JR
Group 3 (n=6)	JR	СР	Saline	JR	Acamp	Saline

*Figure 27. DID ETOH Access Schedule* (Single Phase; Dark/Light Boxes Indicate ETOH/Water, Respectively)



Figure 28. Daily DID Consumption (4 hr/day) Prior to Treatment Phase



### **DID (Screen) Results**

Data were analyzed with paired-samples *t*-tests, comparing treatment groups to controls. An alpha of .05 was used for both phases of the experiment. In screen 1, ETOH consumption was significantly reduced following CP treatment, compared to saline, t(19)=3.483, p=.002. Likewise, JR-220 treatment significantly reduced consumption, t(19)=4.041, p=.001. These results are presented in Figure 29.

Figure 29. CP-101,606 (10 mg/kg) and JR-220 (10 mg/kg) in DID



In screen 2, 20 mg/kg JR reduced ETOH consumption relative to saline t(18)=9.074, p<.001. Acamprosate was associated with increased consumption, t(18)=2.161, p=.044 (an unexpected finding, discussed in detail below). These results are presented in Figure 30.

Figure 30. JR-220 (20 mg/kg) and Acamprosate (300 mg/kg) in DID



# **DID (Screen) Summary**

Results from both DID experiments indicated the abilities of CP and JR to reduce binge-like consumption in this limited-access drinking paradigm. In the first experimental screen, due to concerns about potential secondary effects of JR-220 (i.e., sedation), we selected the lowest dose (10 mg/kg) of JR which demonstrated efficacy in previous drinking screens. Due to the lack of data concerning CP-101 in ETOH consumption paradigms, we selected a moderate dose (10 mg/kg) based on other animal studies which demonstrated positive behavior effects (e.g., Kundrotiene et al., 2004). Both compounds reduced consumption by a magnitude of ~50%. In the subsequent screen, a higher dose of JR was selected in order to establish (or at least begin to provide evidence for) a dosedependent effect. While such an effect would have been interesting to examine for CP-101 as well, we prioritized the examination of acamprosate in order to demonstrate the predictive validity of the screen under our particular experimental methods. The higher dose of JR (20 mg/kg) reduced consumption by an even greater proportion, relative to saline-treated animals.

Acamprosate was unexpectedly associated with increases in consumption. Exactly what this indicates is unclear, however it should be noted that consumption following saline injection during screen 2 was unusually low (~2.25 g/kg) compared with screen 1 (~3.25 g/kg), and may have either driven or contributed to this effect. Vehicle-associated consumption in the DID literature resembles our screen 1 results, suggesting untreated consumption in screen 2 was abnormally low. The nature of our screening procedure is such that to maximize the number of compounds examined, lower subject sizes than might otherwise be expected in more rigorous experiments, are utilized. Thus, although not explicitly noted above, our *post hoc* analyses and treatment of family-wise error throughout this project are generally liberal. While advantageous in some respects, this increases the probability of type 1 errors. Considering this liberality, the low magnitude of the observed effect (~.5 g/kg), the abnormality of screen 2 vehicle-associated consumption and the inconsistency with Dr. Rhodes' examinations of acamprosate in a similar model, we felt drawing conclusion from this result would be premature.

While acamprosate effects in our DID screen should be investigated further, results from Experiments 1-5 suggested that more rigorous exploration using standardized models with larger *n*'s was warranted. While any numbers of well-used models in the preclinical literature might have been selected from, DID was attractive for two major reasons. Firstly, relative to relapse and cue-conditioning models, NMDAr antagonism has remained largely unexplored in models of binge-like consumption, thus DID allowed for both a pointed examination of the potential of these two compounds, as well as an opportunity to contribute to an emerging literature. Secondly, while screening results from JR and CP appeared quite promising, it was concerning that in our hands acamprosate was ineffective; DID remained the only paradigm in which JR/CP results

99

were inconsistent with acamprosate results, which seemed to warrant further investigation. Both compounds were tested in the standard DID model (Experiment 8).

These results supported the hypothesis that inhibitory polyamine modulation would reduce binge-like consumption in a limited access DID screen.

#### **Experiment 7: Open Field Activity**

While the positive activity of both JR and CP in the screens presented here is encouraging, one interpretational concern involved the effects of these compounds on general activity levels. Additionally, the hypoactive effect of JR noted in the EPM, as well as the general reduction in fluid consumption noted in ADE, raised suspicion that JR may be altering activity. For these reasons alone, examining activity seemed prudent, however the examination of these compounds also afforded their comparison to other GLUergic manipulations, as well as secondary analyses of center-zone activity; entries into the center are generally associated with reductions in anxiety and are negatively correlated with behavioral and physiological measures of fear (Archer, 1973), however may also evidence deficits in inhibitory control.

Open field results are presented by species, using the same order in which the behavioral experiments are presented, including Swiss Webster mice (Experiments 2 & 3), Sprague-Dawley rats (Experiment 4) and C57BL/6J mice (Experiments 5 & 6). All open field subjects were drug-naïve (i.e., not used in any previous experiments).

# Analysis

While methods varied depending on species/strain, activity was analyzed similarly, using RM ANOVAs (time x treatment), with either Fisher's protected *t* or Dunnett's *post hoc* tests, as appropriate. Center-dwell time was analyzed with one-way ANOVA (treatment), with Fisher's protected *t* tests where appropriate.

#### **Open Field Methods (Swiss Webster)**

The activity of adult male Swiss Webster mice  $(30\pm2 \text{ g}; N=20; n's=4)$  was analyzed following the administration of both CP and JR. The apparatus was a square, black, plexiglass chamber (64 x 64 x 64 cm). Subjects were transported to a darkened testing room and habituated for 10 min. Each subject was then individually placed in the open field and recorded for 10 min using a tripod-mounted video recorder (SONY). For analysis, the open field was divided into quadrants, each comprising 25% of the total area. Additionally, a smaller square (25% of the total area) was super-imposed over the center of the open field. The dependent variables included number of quadrant crosses and time spent in the center zone.

#### **Results (Swiss Webster)**

High-dose CP (20 mg/kg) was associated with hyperactivity, while high-dose JR-220 induced hypoactivity. The initial RM ANOVA (time x treatment) indicated main effects of both time F(4,60)=29.622, p<.001, and treatment, F(4,15)=10.562, p<.001. To further examine the treatment effect, a one-way ANOVA was conducted using total quadrant crosses over the 10-minute activity period. Again, a significant effect of treatment was noted, F(4,19)=10.692, p<.001, with Dunnett's tests indicating significant increases in crosses associated with 20 mg/kg CP (p=.054) and decreases associated with 40 mg/kg JR (p=.007). These results are depicted across time (by block) in Figure 31a, as well as summed, in Figure 31b.

Figure 31a. Open Field Quadrant Crosses (By Block) Following Saline, JR and CP



Figure 31b. Open Field Quadrant Crosses (Total) Following Saline, JR and CP



Finally, time spent in the 25% center zone was analyzed using a one-way ANOVA (treatment). A significant effect of treatment was noted F(4,19)=5.594, p=.006. Dunnett's tests indicated this effect was driven by increased center dwell-time of 20 mg/kg CP-treated animals (p=.032). Time spent in the center zone is depicted in Figure 32, below.





# **Open Field Methods (Sprague-Dawley)**

The activity of (PND45) male Sprague-Dawley rats (*N*=18) was analyzed following administration of JR-220. The apparatus was a circular chamber (36 cm height; 58 cm diameter) designed to prevent thigmotaxis or excessive time in corners. Subjects were injected with IP Saline, 10 or 20 mg/kg JR 30 min prior to activity testing. 10 min prior to testing, subjects were habituated to the darkened test room. Each subject was then individually placed in the open field and recorded for 30 min using a video tracking system (SMART program; Panlab, S.L.). Due to anecdotal observation that acute sedative effects of JR were transient, an additional 30 min session was performed, beginning 3 hours following the completion of the first session (4-4.5 hr following JR injection). For analysis, the open field was divided into center and outer zones,

comprising 25% and 75% of the total area, respectively. The dependent variables included distance traveled (in 5 min blocks) and the ratio of activity in the center vs. total area of the field.

### **Results (Sprague-Dawley)**

20 mg/kg JR was associated with reductions in activity. An initial RM ANOVA for the first 30-min activity session indicated an interaction of treatment and time, F(2,15)=4.252, p=.034, as well as a main effect of JR treatment, F(2,15)=4.055, p=.039, thus individual one-way ANOVAs (treatment) were performed for each 5 min block. Significant effects of treatment were noted during block 1, F(2,17)=4.731, p=.026; 3 F(2,17)=4.669 p=.027; and 4 F(2,17)=6.128, p=.003. During block 1 Fisher's protected *t post hoc* tests indicated a significant reduction in activity associated with 20 mg/kg JR treatment, relative to saline (p=.008). During block 3, the 20 mg/kg dose reduced activity relative to saline (p=.011) as well as the 10 mg/kg treatment (p=.038). Finally, during block 4 the 20 mg/kg dose reduced activity relative to saline treatment, only (p=.003). These results are depicted in Figure 33. ANOVA performed for center activity failed to reveal any significant effect of treatment.

Figure 33. Activity 30-60 min Following JR-220 Administration(Sprague Dawleys)



At four hours post-injection, activity reductions in 20 mg/kg JR-treated animals remained apparent. An initial RM ANOVA for the second 30-min activity session indicated an interaction of treatment and time, F(2,15)=9.112, p=.003, as well as a main effect of JR treatment, F(2,15)=3.748, p=.048, thus individual one-way ANOVAs (treatment) were performed for each 5 min block. Significant effects of treatment were noted during blocks 1 [F(2,17)=10.650, p=.001], and 2 [F(2,17)=5.129, p=.019]. During block 1 post hoc tests indicated the 20 mg/kg dose reduced activity relative to saline (p=.001) as well as the 10 mg/kg treatment (p=.001). During block 2 significant activity reductions were again noted for 20 mg/kg JR-treated animals, relative to both saline (p=.039) and 10 mg/kg (p=.007) treatment. These results are depicted in Figure 34. ANOVA performed for center activity failed to reveal any significant effect of treatment.



Figure 34. Activity 4-4.5 hr Following JR-220 Administration (Sprague Dawleys)

## **Open Field Methods (C57BL/6J)**

The activity of male C57 mice  $(30\pm2 \text{ g})$  was analyzed following the administration of both CP and JR. Nineteen male C57 mice  $(30\pm2 \text{ grams})$  were administered 0, 5, 10 or 20 mg/kg CP-101,606 (*n*'s=4-5/group). In a separate experiment, 24 additional C57s were administered 0, 10, 20 or 30 mg/kg JR-220 (*n*'s=6/group). Otherwise, methods were exactly as described for Swiss Webster testing, above.

# Results (C57BL/6J)

An RM ANOVA (time x treatment) conducted on CP-treated animals yielded neither a main effect of, nor interaction with, treatment. As conducted previously, a oneway ANOVA (treatment) using total quadrant crosses similarly failed to detect any effect of CP treatment. Quadrant crossings by block are depicted in Figure 35, below. No difference in center dwell-time was detected between treatment conditions.

Figure 35. Open Field Quadrant Crosses Following Saline or CP(C57 Mice)



The highest dose of JR (30 mg/kg) was associated with marked reductions in activity. A RM ANOVA (time x treatment) conducted on JR-treated animals indicated both a time by treatment interaction, F(12,80)=3.700, p<.001, and a main effect of treatment F(3,20)=23.635, p<.001. To further examine these effects, one-way ANOVAs (treatment) were conducted for each block, individually. Significant treatment effects for block 1, F(3,23)=12.852, p<.001, block 2, F(3,23)=15.292, p<.001 and block 3, F(3,23)=60.056, p<.001 were noted, such that 30 mg/kg JR reduced activity relative to all other groups (all p's<.001). The same effect was noted for block 4, F(3,23)=4.159, p=.019, wherein 30 mg/kg reduced activity compared to saline (p=.015), 10 (p=.006) and 20 mg/kg (p=.010), and block 5 F(3,23)=8.516, p=.001, wherein 30 mg/kg reduced activity compared to saline (p=.001). Additionally, a one-way ANOVA (treatment) was conducted using total quadrant crosses

as the dependent variable. Again, a significant effect of treatment was detected, F(3,23)=23.748, p<.001, such that 30 mg/kg JR-treated animals were hypoactive compared to all others (all p's<.001). These results are depicted across time in Figure 36, and summed in Figure 37, below. No difference in center dwell-time was detected between treatment conditions.

Figure 36. Open Field Quadrant Crosses Following Saline or JR (C57 Mice)



Figure 37. Open Field Quadrant Crosses (Total) Following Saline, 10, 20 or 30 mg/kg JR (C57 Mice)



# **Open Field Summary**

This final experiment was somewhat atypical compared with those preceding it; while it can be considered a screen, its main purpose was to facilitate interpretation of experiments 1-6. Taken together, the activity data presented above indicate that while JR and CP are both capable of behavioral disruption at higher doses (including doses analyzed in previous experiments), several lower doses which tested positively throughout the screening procedure showed no evidence of such disruption.

The first open field analysis included Swiss Webster mice, and was designed to analyze the highest and lowest doses of JR and CP which demonstrated efficacy in the behavioral experiments (10 and 40 mg/kg and 1 and 20 mg/kg doses, respectively). Importantly, at doses which significantly reduced seizure behaviors, CP and JR-treated animals were indistinguishable from controls. However, an interesting difference emerged at the high doses. 40 mg/kg JR was associated with an approximate decrease in activity of 60%, while 20 mg/kg CP was associated with an approximately 40% increase.

The second open field analysis included Sprague-Dawley rats, and analyzed only JR-220, and examined doses used in the ADE experiment. Anecdotally, JR appeared to induce transient sedation in our Sprague-Dawley rats, however observable in-cage evidence of sedation disappeared quickly. Therefore in addition to analyzing initial (and possibly transient) alterations in activity, 30 min following administration, we re-tested the animals 4.5 h following administration. Results were remarkably similar across testing periods. The 10 mg/kg dose produced activity which was indistinguishable from controls; while the 20 mg/kg dose appeared to reduce activity at both time points, producing nearly identical patterns/magnitudes of activity. While activity was certainly reduced among 20 mg/kg animals, it should be noted that animals remained active throughout both 30 min testing periods, traveling similar distances as the 10 mg/kg and saline groups during the last 10 min of the initial test and last 20 min of the final test, suggesting the sedation was mild. Importantly, the 10 mg/kg dose reduced relapse-like behavior, was not associated with reductions in water consumption and did not induce hypoactive behaviors, either initially or several hours post-injection.

The final open field analysis included C57 mice, and the full range of JR doses examined in the restraint stress and DID experiments: 10, 20 and 30 mg/kg doses. Additionally, CP was analyzed in 5, 10 and 20 mg/kg doses. While only the 10 mg/kg dose was analyzed in experiment 6, this dose ranged was analyzed in anticipation of a more thorough DID analysis (described below). While activity among saline and CPtreated animals was statistically indistinguishable, the lack of an effect was likely due to high variance and relatively low power. The trend toward higher activity among animals receiving 10 and/or 20 mg/kg doses was consistent with the observed increase in activity displayed by Swiss Webster mice. At the two lower JR doses examined (10 and 20 mg/kg), no evidence of activity disturbance was observed, however the 30 mg/kg dose was associated with a substantial reduction in activity. Unlike activity data generated in rats, the observed activity deficit persisted across all blocks.

While the additional examination of potential anxiolytic actions of these drugs was an advantage of including an open-field assessment, alterations in center-zone activity were only evident in the Swiss Webster mice, and the pattern of center-zone activity was nearly identical to the general pattern of activity, likely suggesting that periods of immobility in these animals largely occurred in the more protected periphery. While it is possible that center-zone patterns reflected actions on anxiety-related behaviors, the interpretation would include anxiogenic actions of JR-220, which is inconsistent with the examinations of compounds thought to have similar mechanisms of action (including CP-101).

Taken together these results suggest that neither JR nor CP disrupt activity at lower doses, but each is associated with disruption at higher doses, albeit in opposing directions.

#### **Experiment 8: Drinking in the Dark (Model)**

The medications development project, of which this dissertation represents only a fraction, was specifically designed for the screening of novel compounds, with the intention that "hits" would be subjected to a further testing with more established models, using more rigorous methodology, more appropriate controls and/or greater *n*'s. Experiment 8 was designed and included in this dissertation as the first, albeit modest, step toward such testing. The DID model was specifically selected as the first postscreening experiment for several reasons. The paucity of NMDAr-associated manipulations in the paradigm suggested a gap in the literature, allowing this experiment both to advance our compounds of interest (potentially) as well as contribute to the rapidly growing base of DID knowledge. Furthermore, since acamprosate has demonstrated efficacy under standardized DID conditions (Gupta et al., 2008), the model appears to possess predictive validity which was notably lacking from our initial DID screens. Experiment 8 analyzed a range of doses for both compounds, and adhered more rigidly to established DID methodologies.

# **DID (Model) Subjects**

Mice (n=28; Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME) arrived at 15 wks of age, and were left undisturbed for 7 days prior to testing. A reverse light:dark cycle was again employed, with lights turned on at 2100 h and off at 900 h.

## **DID (Model) Procedure**

Animals were habituated, housed and handled as previously detailed. Procedures for Experiment 8 differed in that only one week (4 days, total) of ETOH access was given prior to the first week of treatments. Additionally, the treatment schedule was varied, however as in Experiment 6, all animals received all doses of each compounds, in a within-subjects, latin-square design (see Figures 38 & 39). Finally, a 3 hr delay (Rhodes et al., 2005) between ETOH access and initiation of the dark cycle was used (vs. 4 hr in screening).

*Figure 38. Latin-Square Treatment Design* (Weeks 1-2: 0, 5, 10, 20 mg/kg CP; Weeks 3-4: 0, 5, 10, 20 mg/kg JR)

	We	ek 1	Week 2		
Group	Tx 1	Tx 2	Tx 3	Tx 4	
Group 1 ( <i>n</i> =7)	Saline	20 mg/kg CP	10 mg/kg CP	5 mg/kg CP	
Group 2 ( <i>n</i> =7)	5 mg/kg CP	Saline	20 mg/kg CP	10 mg/kg CP	
Group 3 ( <i>n</i> =7)	10 mg/kg CP	5 mg/kg CP	Saline	20 mg/kg CP	
Group 4 ( <i>n</i> =7)	20 mg/kg CP	10 mg/kg CP	5 mg/kg CP	Saline	
	Week 3		Week 4		
	We	ek 3	We	ek 4	
Group	We Tx 1	ek 3 Tx 2	We Tx 3	ek 4 Tx 4	
Group Group 1 (n=7)	Wee Tx 1 Saline	ek 3 Tx 2 20 mg/kg JR	We Tx 3 10 mg/kg JR	ek 4 Tx 4 5 mg/kg JR	
Group Group 1 ( <i>n</i> =7) Group 2 ( <i>n</i> =7)	Wes Tx 1 Saline 5 mg/kg JR	ek 3 Tx 2 20 mg/kg JR Saline	We Tx 3 10 mg/kg JR 20 mg/kg JR	ek 4 Tx 4 5 mg/kg JR 10 mg/kg JR	
Group 1 ( <i>n</i> =7) Group 2 ( <i>n</i> =7) Group 3 ( <i>n</i> =7)	Wea Tx 1 Saline 5 mg/kg JR 10 mg/kg JR	ek 3 Tx 2 20 mg/kg JR Saline 5 mg/kg JR	We Tx 3 10 mg/kg JR 20 mg/kg JR Saline	ek 4 Tx 4 5 mg/kg JR 10 mg/kg JR 20 mg/kg JR	

<u>Pre-treatment Drinking</u>: The water bottles were replaced with cylinders containing 20% ethanol, which remained undisturbed for 4 hours, after which consumption was recorded and water bottles returned. Habituation lasted for one week (4 days of ETOH access).

<u>Week 1 & 2:</u> Methods were identical to habituation drinking, with the addition of injections (0, 5, 10, 20 mg/kg, ip) of CP-101,606 on treatment days, given immediately prior to ETOH access.

<u>Week 3 & 4:</u> Methods were identical to habituation drinking, with the addition of injections (0, 5, 10, 20 mg/kg, ip) of JR-220 on treatment days, given immediately prior to ETOH access.

*Figure 39. DID ETOH Access Schedule* (Single Drug Treatment; Dark/Light Boxes Indicate ETOH/Water, Respectively)



# **DID** (Model) Results

CP significantly reduced ETOH intake, F(1,27)=59.627, p<.001. Paired-samples *t*-tests revealed all doses differed from saline, including 5 t(27)=3.243, p=.003, 10, t(27)=7.444, p<.001, and 20 mg/kg, t(27)=6.065, p<.001. These results are depicted in Figure 40.

Figure 40. Ethanol Consumption Following CP-101,606 Administration



JR significantly reduced ETOH intake, F(1,26)=232.346, p<.001. Paired-samples *t*-tests revealed all doses differed from saline, including 5 t(26)=6.206, p=.001, 10, t(26)=8.986, p<.001, and 20 mg/kg, t(26)=16.103, p<.001. These results are depicted in Figure 41.

Figure 41. Ethanol Consumption Following JR-220 Administration



### **DID (Model) Discussion**

Results of this experiment were consistent with screening results; CP appeared to reduce consumption relative to vehicle at all doses, however, these reductions did not appear dose-dependent. JR also reduced consumption, however, consistent with the screening results, such reduction appeared dose-dependent, with the 20 mg/kg dose drastically reducing intake. These results are also consistent with the observations of Rhodes and colleagues (*Rhodes, personal communication*), who examined JR-220 at these doses as well, however this group observed significant reductions in ETOH consumption only at the highest (20 mg/kg) dose.

The relevance of these results is supported by the relatively recent recognition of DID as a powerful preclinical tool for medications development, with a number of promising compounds having recently demonstrated reduction in binge-like intake,

including baclofen, CRF antagonists, mGLUr antagonists, mecamylamine and lobeline (Moore & Boehm, 2009; Sajja & Rahman, 2011; Gupta et al., 2008; Hendrickson, Zhao-Shea & Tapper, 2009; Sparta et al., 2008). While somewhat surprising that NMDAr compounds have remained unexamined, our results serve the dual-purpose of advancing the development of CP and JR, as well as further implicating the role of glutamate (in general), NMDAr (in particular) and polyamine-sensitive receptor subtypes (specifically) in binge-like intake, a behavior which they are not well-recognized for.

#### **Chapter 8. General Discussion**

### 8.1 Summary of Results

Current evidence suggests that JR-220 and CP-101,606 (Haradahira et al., 2002; Mott et al., 1998) are both inhibitory modulators of the NMDAr, whose mechanisms of action involve interference with polyamine binding. Thus, for numerous reasons discussed above, it was hypothesized that both would perform positively in screens designed to examine withdrawal symptoms, neurotoxicity, ETOH reinforcement, relapse behavior, stress-associated drinking and ETOH-associated cue conditioning (see Figure XX, below). Furthermore, based on success in these screens, efficacy in a standardized DID model was hypothesized. Our results were consistent with these hypotheses, despite the recognitions that CP needs to be examined in additional screens (e.g., ADE) and that some findings deserve more thorough re-examination (e.g., reductions in stretched-attend posture).

Figure 42. Model of Drinking Progression With Experimental Evidence for Intervention



Our results suggested that both JR and CP possess neuroprotective potential in an *in vitro* screen using organotypic hippocampal slices withdrawn from ETOH. Consistent with this demonstration of *in vitro* neuroprotection, our behavioral HIC screen demonstrated the ability of these compounds to reduce withdrawal-associated convulsive behaviors, which are associated with underlying excitotoxic insult and index withdrawal severity. Taken together with molecular screens conducted previous to this dissertation, and with the results of behavioral data from neonatal studies which used JR and CP as neuroprotective interventions during developmental ETOH exposure (Lewis et al.,

*submitted*; Wellmann et al., *in press*), evidence for the neuroprotective potential of both compounds is strong.

Our EPM screen suggested JR's ability to reduce ETOH-associated cue conditioning, although these data should be interpreted carefully, given the potential hypoactive and/or anxiolytic effects of JR in this paradigm. Results from the ADE screen indicated anti-relapse efficacy. Our restraint-stress screen demonstrated JR's ability to reduce ETOH's negative reinforcing value, while our DID experiments suggested the ability to reduce its positive reinforcing value. Taken together, these results suggest JR's ability to reduce multiple motivational factors contributing to relapse. While full screening of CP was not possible, its similar mechanism of action, similar action in HIC screening, and positive performance in all DID experiments suggests that it too possesses strong potential, however more thorough screening is required. *Taken together, the performance of these compounds in our screening procedure provides strong evidence for both drugs as potential pharmacotherapeutics for alcoholism, and further implicate polyamines and NR2B subunits in multiple mechanisms of ETOH consumption and withdrawal.* 

Although these two drugs are thought to have similar mechanisms of action, albeit in variable receptor populations, dissociations in their performance were particularly interesting. For instance, CP-101 appeared far more potent in the screens for neuroprotective potential (OHSC and HICs). Current evidence suggests that NR2B/2Bcontaining receptors represent a high-risk subpopulation that is particularly sensitive to such insults. However, at equal doses CP's performance was not distinguishable from JR's in the DID paradigm, suggesting that while NR2B/2B subpopulations appear to contribute to this type of drinking behavior, their contribution is shared. A particularly interesting, if somewhat puzzling, dissociation in the behavioral effects of these compounds involves the bidirectionality of their effects on activity. CP appears to increase open-field activity, while JR-220 appears to reduce it. This difference may be indicative of the differential contributions of NR2B-containing subpopulations to activity. It is possible that antagonism of NR2B/2B stimulates motor activity, while antagonism of

121

a more heterogenous receptor population depresses it. While supported by the observation that nonspecific antagonism depresses activity (Ghasemi et al., 2010) the lack of clear indication in the literature as to ifenprodil/eliprodil effects on open field activity makes this interpretation tentative, at best. An alternate interpretation would suggest that one or both compounds may be interacting with unknown and unanticipated transmitter systems, the resulting in disrupted activity. Regardless, such differences illustrate the clear need for further investigation of both compounds.

# **8.2 Clinical Futures**

This dissertation has used our group's screening procedure as a hypothesis-testing device. Although the screens provide useful data which allows for the constant reevaluation and alteration of our underlying hypotheses, their primary utility is the discovery and development of novel compounds for eventual clinical use. However, even perfect performance throughout the screening hierarchy cannot be taken as evidence of the compounds' ability to clear any of the numerous hurdles involved with progression from 'bench to bedside'. While not the focus of this dissertation, potential future difficulties in the advancement of JR-220 (and similar agmatine analogues) are worth consideration, and may guide future studies.

Recent estimates suggest that for every one compound receiving FDA approval, approximately 10,000 molecules are synthesized in drug discovery programs. Of these 10,000, roughly 2.5% will advance to preclinical testing and only .05% to Phase I trials. That said, it must be noted that while JR-220's influence on ETOH intake behavior is marked, little more than gross toxicity analyses have been performed; none of the numerous toxicology screens (e.g., genotoxicity, hemolysis, cardiotoxicity, mitochondrial toxicity, reactive metabolite screening, etc.) have been conducted, nor have any 'ADME' (absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion) screens. Our application to the NIH Rapid Access to Interventional Development (RAID) program, if accepted, will begin such examination. If JR-220 survives the significant failure rate associated with such

122

toxicological/kinetic measures and advances to Phase I testing, its chances remain low: CNS drugs have a historically low success rate, with roughly 7.5% of Phase 1 trials producing marketable compounds. While JR-220 has several advantages which may increase these odds, including its similarity to an endogenous molecule (agmatine), and its modulatory action at the target (thought to be a self-limiting characteristic in terms of toxicity) its chances of advancement to bedside are limited. An objective acceptance of the sizeable odds against JR-220's success is useful to avoid the recognized pitfall of "championing" a promising compound which represents a significant amount of invested time and money, past the point at which evidence suggests its limited utility. However the recognition of such sizeable odds should not be taken as reluctance or reservation to continue JR-220's investigation. Unlike other areas of drug discovery, many of which have existing pharmacotherapies with acceptable effectiveness, the success of current FDA-approved medications for treating alcohol related disorders has been marginal, at best. When considered alongside the number of people affected by alcohol dependence issues, the 'big risk/big reward' assessment of medications development work in this field becomes apparent. Thus, despite probable failure, the cost-benefit analysis of continuing to invest in JR-220 and in future medications development endeavors of this nature seems clear.

In contrast with JR, CP has already surmounted many of the challenges involved in progressing to humans. CP is orally bioavailable (Taylor et al., 2006), and appears well-tolerated, with a favorable side-effect profile. However, clinical trials for several (non ETOH-related) diseases have revealed only modest effects. A clinical TBI study indicated outcome improvements and reductions in mortality rates, however effects were only marginally significant (p's = .07 and .08, respectively; Yurkewicz et al., 2005). A clinical Parkinson's study found CP was effective at reducing levodopa-induced dyskinesia effects, but not Parkinsonism itself (Nutt et al., 2008). Interestingly, it appears to produce antidepressant effects in patients unresponsive to serotonin selective reuptake inhibitors (Skolnick et al., 2009). However, interest in the compound appears to be decreasing; pubmed searches indicated 15 publications related to CP during 2004-2005 (at the time when our group noted the compound and began examining it in FASD experiments), however only 5 five were noted from 2010 to the current date, all of which utilize it as a pharmacological tool in preclinical examinations. Such loss of interest may reflect clinical shortcomings of CP, but may also be related to the recognition that CP shares discriminative stimuli with phencyclidine; it is self-administered in non-human primates who were experienced with PCP administration (Nicholson et al., 2007), consistent with observations that CP is dose-dependently associated with dissociative and amnestic effects (Nutt et al., 2008).

The current work is focused specifically on alcoholism and alcohol-related effects, however, as the aforementioned investigations of CP indicate, NMDAr modulators are implicated as potential pharmacotherapeutics for a startlingly large number of conditions, including chronic pain, Huntington's, Parkinson's, migraine, major depression, stroke/ischemic injury, epilepsy, and others. While speculative, it is not unlikely that in the discovery and development of inhibitory modulators for alcohol dependence, compounds with utility in some, if not many, of these additional disorders may be produced. An alternate future for these compounds, mentioned only briefly in the introduction, involves neuroprotection from ETOH insult in utero, and in particular, from the prolonged withdrawal following birth. No pharmacotherapeutic intervention is currently available for FASDs, which are thought to involve similar if not identical excitotoxic mechanisms as those presented here, providing yet another potential avenue of JR-220 development.

Though not explicitly stated thus far, one potential contribution of the current work may not include either compound, but rather the demonstration of this type of project's utility. JR's transition from simple molecular screening to success in a strong preclinical model (the majority of which is contained herein) provides evidence that a small research team can accomplish this type of directed drug discovery and development. Furthermore, our inclusion of CP in various screens demonstrates the

124

flexibility of the program, which allows for both 'bottom-up' examination of novel compounds, as well as 'top-down' testing of known compounds.

Finally, while this dissertation represents only one of the first few steps toward the potential clinical development of these compounds, our results provide strong evidence for both drugs as potential pharmacotherapies, further implicate polyamines and NR2B subunits as critical mechanisms in ETOH consumption and withdrawal and demonstrate the utility of academic drug discovery and development programs.

#### **Appendix A: Table Legend**

### Table 1. Species/Strain Use by Experiment

### Table 2. JR-220 Treatments & Subjects

Experiments with JR utilized six litters (N=217), distributed across 20 treatment groups. These included Control (n=23), ETOH (n=22), Control + 20N (n=18), ETOH + 20n (n=19), Control + MK (n=18), ETOH + MK (n=20), Control + 50  $\mu$ M JR (n=8), Control + 60  $\mu$ M JR (n=7), Control + 75  $\mu$ M JR (n=16), Control + 80  $\mu$ M JR (n=4), Control + 90  $\mu$ M JR (n=3) Control + 100  $\mu$ M JR (n=4), Control + 125  $\mu$ M JR (n=4), ETOH + 50  $\mu$ M JR (n=7), ETOH + 60  $\mu$ M JR (n=8), ETOH + 75  $\mu$ M JR (n=18), ETOH + 80  $\mu$ M JR (n=3), ETOH + 90  $\mu$ M JR (n=4), ETOH + 90  $\mu$ M JR (n=4), ETOH + 100  $\mu$ M JR (n=4) and ETOH + 125  $\mu$ M JR (n=6).

# Table 3. CP-101 Treatments & Subjects

Experiments with CP utilized five litters (N=177), distributed across 16 treatment groups. These included Control (n=21), ETOH (n=21), Control + 20N (n=12), ETOH + 20N (n=12), Control + MK (n=12), ETOH + MK (n=12), Control + 5 nM CP (n=6), Control + 10 nM CP (n=10), Control + 25 nM CP (n=12), Control + 75 nM CP (n=4), ETOH + 5 nM CP (n=6), ETOH + 10 nM CP (n=9), ETOH + 25 nM CP (n=12), ETOH + 50 nM CP (n=12) and ETOH + 75 nM CP (n=4).

# Table 4. Handling-Induced Convulsion Assessment Scale

Adapted/modified from Wilson & Little, 1998.

Table 5. Sucrose Fading Schedule

#### Appendix B: Figure Legend

Figure 1. Simplified Polyamine Biosynthesis (adapted from Coffino, 2001)

Figure 2. Contributions of ETOH Withdrawal to Reinforcement and Cue Salience

Figure 3. Molecular Structure of Ifenprodil and its Analogue, CP-101,606

Figure 4. Molecular Structure of Agmatine and its Analogue, JR-220

Figure 5. Treatment Distribution Within a Single Culture

Figure 6. JR-220 in CA1

PI florescence, by group mean + S.E.M, in CA1 of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. Data collapsed across sex and converted to % control. Horizontal black line indicates 100% control fluorescence. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to ETOH control group; # indicates significance relative to ETOH-naïve control group.

#### Figure 7. JR-220 in CA3

PI florescence, by group mean + S.E.M, in CA3 of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. Data collapsed across sex and converted to % control. Horizontal black line indicates 100% control fluorescence. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to ETOH control group; # indicates significance relative to ETOH-naïve control group.

#### Figure 8. JR-220 in DG

PI florescence, by group mean + S.E.M, in DG of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. Data collapsed across sex and converted to % control. Horizontal black line indicates 100% control fluorescence. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to ETOH control group; # indicates significance relative to ETOH-naïve control group.

#### Figure 9. CP-101,606 in CA1

PI florescence, by group mean + S.E.M, in CA1 of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. Data collapsed across sex and converted to % control. Horizontal black line indicates 100% control fluorescence. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to ETOH control group; # indicates significance relative to ETOH-naïve control group.

#### Figure 10. CP-101 in CA3

PI florescence, by group mean + S.E.M, in CA3 of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. Data collapsed across sex and converted to % control. Horizontal black line indicates 100% control fluorescence \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to ETOH control group; # indicates significance relative to ETOH-naïve control group.

#### Figure 11. CP-101 in DG

PI florescence, by group mean (+S.E.M.), in CA3 of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. Data collapsed across sex and converted to % control. Horizontal black line indicates 100% control fluorescence.

\* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to ETOH control group; # indicates significance relative to ETOHnaïve control group.

### Figure 12. Representative Slices From Select Treatment Groups

Including Control (a), ETOH (b), 20  $\mu M$  NMDA (c), 50  $\mu M$  JR-220 (d), 25 nM CP-101 (e), and 20  $\mu M$  MK-801 (f).

# Figure 13. BEC as a Function of Time and 4MP Treatment

Blood ethanol content, presented as mean ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) mg/dl, following 2.5 g/kg ETOH administration. Groups included 4MP (9 mg/kg) and control. \* indicates significance (p<.05) between groups.

# Figure 14. JR-220 HICs, Percent Control Values

Handling Induced Convulsion scores, presented as mean (+S.E.M.) percentage of ETOH-naïve scores. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to drug-naïve (0 mg/kg) group.

# Figure 15. CP-101,606 in HICs, Percant Control Values

Handling Induced Convulsion scores, presented as mean (+S.E.M.) percentage of ETOH-naïve scores. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to drug-naïve (0 mg/kg) group.

# Figure 16. Stretched-Attend Behaviors

Stretched-attend postures, presented as mean (+S.E.M.). Groups included ETOH-treated and ETOH-naïve animals, treatments included saline and 20 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significance (p<.05) between treatment conditions.

#### Figure 17. Time Spent in Closed vs. Open arms

Time in open and closed arms, respectively, presented by as mean (+S.E.M.) seconds. Groups included ETOH-treated and ETOH-naïve animals, treatments included saline and 20 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significance (p<.05) between treatment conditions.

#### Figure 18. Total Arm Entries

Arm entries (open and closed), presented as mean (+S.E.M.) entries. Groups included ETOH-treated and ETOH-naïve animals, treatments included saline and 20 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significance (p<.05) between treatment conditions.

#### Figure 19. 20 mg/kg JR in ADE

ETOH consumption during baseline, untreated ADE period, and treated ADE period. Presented as daily mean (+S.E.M.) g/kg. Treatments included vehicle and 20 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to baseline consumption.

#### Figure 20. Water consumption in ADE reinstatement phases (20 mg/kg)

Water consumption during baseline, untreated ADE period, and treated ADE period. Presented as daily mean (+S.E.M.) g/kg. Treatments included vehicle and 20 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to baseline consumption.

#### Figure 21. 10 mg/kg JR-220 in ADE

ETOH consumption during baseline, untreated ADE period, and treated ADE period. Presented as daily mean (+S.E.M.) g/kg. Treatments included vehicle and 10 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to baseline consumption.

#### Figure 22. Water Consumption during ADE reinstatement phases (10 mg/kg)

Water consumption during baseline, untreated ADE period, and treated ADE period. Presented as daily mean (+S.E.M.) g/kg. Treatments included vehicle and 10 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to baseline consumption.

#### Figure 23. Restrained vs. Unrestrained Drinking

ETOH consumption, presented as mean ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) g/kg. Treatments included restraint-stress and control handling. \* indicates significance (p<.05) between treatments.

#### Figure 24. JR-220 Treatment (Following 5-day Restraint Period)

ETOH consumption among restrained animals, presented as mean (+S.E.M.) g/kg. Treatments included 0, 10, 20 and 30 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significantly (p<.05) increased consumption relative to all other groups. # indicates significantly (p<.05) reduced consumption relative to all other groups.

#### Figure 25. Unrestrained Animals, 0 vs. 30 mg/kg JR

ETOH consumption among unrestrained animals, presented as mean (±S.E.M.) g/kg. Treatments included 0 and 30 mg/kg JR-220.

#### Figure 26. Latin-Square Design for Screen 1 and Screen 2

Screen 1: Saline, 10 mg/kg CP, 10 mg/kg JR; Screen 2: Saline, 20 mg/kg JR, 300 mg/kg Acamprosate

#### Figure 27. DID ETOH Access Schedule

#### Figure 28. Daily DID Consumption (4hr/day) Prior to Treatment Phase

ETOH consumption during the last three weeks of untreated 4 hr consumption, presented as mean  $(\pm S.E.M.)$  g/kg ETOH consumption.

#### Figure 29. CP-101,606 (10 mg/kg) and JR-220 (10 mg/kg) in DID

ETOH consumption during the first DID treatment phase, presented as mean (+S.E.M.) g/kg ETOH consumption. Treatments included CP-101 (10 mg/kg), JR-220 (10 mg/kg), and saline. \* indicates significant (p<.05) difference from vehicle treated drinking.

#### Figure 30. JR-220 (20 mg/kg) and Acamprosate (300 mg/kg) in DID

ETOH consumption during the second DID treatment phase, presented as mean (+S.E.M.) g/kg ETOH consumption. Treatments included JR-220 (20 mg/kg), acamprosate (300 mg/kg) and saline. \* indicates significant (p<.05) difference from vehicle treated drinking.

#### Figure 31a. Open Field Quadrant Crosses (By Block) Following Saline, JR and CP

Open field activity among Swiss Webster mice, presented as presented as mean (±S.E.M.) quadrant crosses, per 2 min block. Groups includes JR-220 (10 and 40 mg/kg), CP-101 (1 and 20 mg/kg) and saline.

### Figure 31b. Open Field Quadrant Crosses (Total) Following Saline, JR and CP

Open field activity among Swiss Webster mice, presented as presented as mean ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) total quadrant crosses. Groups includes JR-220 (10 and 40 mg/kg), CP-101 (1 and 20 mg/kg) and saline. \* indicates significant (p<.05) difference relative to saline control.

# Figure 32. Open Field Center Dwell-Time Following Saline, JR and CP Treatment

Center zone activity among Swiss Webster mice, presented as mean (+S.E.M.) time spent (sec). Groups includes JR-220 (10 and 40 mg/kg), CP-101 (1 and 20 mg/kg) and saline. \* indicates significant (p<.05) difference relative to saline control.

# Figure 33. Activity 30-60 min Following JR-220 Administration (Sprague Dawleys)

Open field activity among Sprague-Dawley rats, recorded 30 min following drug administration, presented as mean ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) distance (cm) in 5 min bins. Treatments included JR-220 (10 and 20 mg/kg) and saline. \*indicates significant (p<.05) treatment effect, such that activity differed between saline and 20 mg/kg treated animals.

# Figure 34. Activity 4-4.5 hr Following JR-220 Administration (Sprague Dawleys)

Open field activity among Sprague-Dawley rats, recorded 4 hr following drug administration, presented as mean ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) distance (cm) in 5 min bins. Treatments included JR-220 (10 and 20 mg/kg) and saline. \*indicates significant (p<.05) treatment effect, such that activity differed between saline and 20 mg/kg treated animals.

# Figure 35. Open Field Quadrant Crosses Following Saline or CP (C57 Mice)

Open field activity among C57BL/6J mice, presented as mean ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) quadrant crosses in 2 min bins. Treatments include 0, 5, 10 or 20 mg/kg CP-101.

# Figure 36. Open Field Quadrant Crosses Following Saline or JR (C57 Mice)

Open field activity among C57BL/6J mice, presented as mean ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) quadrant crosses in 2 min bins. Treatments include 0, 10, 20 or 30 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significance (p<.05) relative to saline control.

#### Figure 37. Open Field Quadrant Crosses (Total) Following Saline, 10, 20, or 30 mg/kg JR

Open field activity among C57BL/6 mice, presented as presented as mean ( $\pm$ S.E.M.) total quadrant crosses. Groups includes 0, 10, 20 and 30 mg/kg doses of JR-220. \* indicates a significant (p<.05) difference relative to all other groups.

#### Figure 38. Latin Square Treatment Design

Weeks 1-2: 0, 5, 10, 20 mg/kg CP; Weeks 3-4: 0, 5, 10, 20 mg/kg JR

Figure 39. DID ETOH Access Schedule

Figure 40. Ethanol Consumption Following CP-101,606 Administrationin
ETOH consumption during the first DID treatment phase, presented as mean (+S.E.M.) ETOH consumption (mL), following injections of 0, 5, 10, and 20 mg/kg CP-101,606. \* indicates significant (p<.05) difference from vehicle treated drinking.

## Figure 41. Ethanol Consumption Following JR-220 Administration

ETOH consumption during the first DID treatment phase, presented as mean (+S.E.M.) ETOH consumption (mL), following injections of 0, 5, 10, and 20 mg/kg JR-220. \* indicates significant (p<.05) difference from vehicle treated drinking.

## Figure 42. Model of Relapse Progression with Experimental Evidence for Intervention

## References

Abdollah, S., & Brien, J. F. (1995). Glutamate and N-methyl-D-aspartate binding sites in the guinea pig hippocampus: ontogeny and effect of acute in vitro ethanol exposure. Alcohol, 12(4), 369-375.

Abe, K., Abe, Y., & Saito, H. (2003). Agmatine induces glutamate release and cell death in cultured rat cerebellar granule neurons. Brain Res, 990(1-2), 165-171.

Addolorato, G., Caputo, F., Capristo, E., Colombo, G., Gessa, G. L., & Gasbarrini, G. (2000). Ability of baclofen in reducing alcohol craving and intake: II--Preliminary clinical evidence. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 24(1), 67-71.

Adinoff, B., Iranmanesh, A., Veldhuis, J., & Fisher, L. (1998). Disturbances of the stress response: the role of the HPA axis during alcohol withdrawal and abstinence. Alcohol Health Res World, 22(1), 67-72.

Adinoff, B., Risher-Flowers, D., De Jong, J., Ravitz, B., Bone, G. H., Nutt, D. J., et al. (1991). Disturbances of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis functioning during ethanol withdrawal in six men. Am J Psychiatry, 148(8), 1023-1025.

Agabio, R., Carai, M. A., Lobina, C., Pani, M., Reali, R., Vacca, G., et al. (2000). Development of shortlasting alcohol deprivation effect in sardinian alcohol-preferring rats. Alcohol, 21(1), 59-62.

Aistrup, G. L., Marszalec, W., & Narahashi, T. (1999). Ethanol modulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor currents in cultured cortical neurons. Mol Pharmacol, 55(1), 39-49.

al Qatari, M., Bouchenafa, O., & Littleton, J. (1998). Mechanism of action of acamprosate. Part II. Ethanol dependence modifies effects of acamprosate on NMDA receptor binding in membranes from rat cerebral cortex. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 22(4), 810-814.

al Qatari, M., Khan, S., Harris, B., & Littleton, J. (2001). Acamprosate is neuroprotective against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity when enhanced by ethanol withdrawal in neocortical cultures of fetal rat brain. Alcoholism, clinical and experimental research.(9), 1276-1283.

Allen, D. N., Goldstein, G., & Seaton, B. E. (1997). Cognitive rehabilitation of chronic alcohol abusers. Neuropsychol Rev, 7(1), 21-39.

Allgaier, C. (2002). Ethanol sensitivity of NMDA receptors. Neurochem Int, 41(6), 377-382.

American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (Revised 4th ed.). Washington, DC.

Annis, H. M., Sklar, S. M., & Moser, A. E. (1998). Gender in relation to relapse crisis situations, coping, and outcome among treated alcoholics. Addict Behav, 23(1), 127-131.

Anton, R. F., O'Malley, S. S., Ciraulo, D. A., Cisler, R. A., Couper, D., Donovan, D. M., et al. (2006). Combined pharmacotherapies and behavioral interventions for alcohol dependence: the COMBINE study: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 295(17), 2003-2017.

Anton, R. F., Oroszi, G., O'Malley, S., Couper, D., Swift, R., Pettinati, H., et al. (2008). An evaluation of mu-opioid receptor (OPRM1) as a predictor of naltrexone response in the treatment of alcohol dependence: results from the Combined Pharmacotherapies and Behavioral Interventions for Alcohol Dependence (COMBINE) study. Arch Gen Psychiatry, 65(2), 135-144.

Archer, J. (1973). Tests for emotionality in rats and mice: a review. Anim Behav, 21(2), 205-235.

Aricioglu, F., Regunathan, Soundar, & Piletz, John E. (2003). Is agmatine an endogenous factor against stress? Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1009, 127-132.

Armanini, M. P., Hutchins, C., Stein, B. A., & Sapolsky, R. M. (1990). Glucocorticoid endangerment of hippocampal neurons is NMDA-receptor dependent. Brain Res, 532(1-2), 7-12.

Armstrong, C. M., & Binstock, L. (1964). The Effects of Several Alcohols on the Properties of the Squid Giant Axon. J Gen Physiol, 48, 265-277.

Askalany, A. R., Yamakura, T., Petrenko, A. B., Kohno, T., Sakimura, K., & Baba, H. (2005). Effect of agmatine on heterometric N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor channels. *Neuroscience Research*, *52*(4), 387-392.

Auguet, M., Viossat, I., Marin, J. G., & Chabrier, P. E. (1995). Selective inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase by agmatine. *Japanese Journal of Pharmacology*, 69(3), 285-287.

Avenet, P., Leonardon, J., Besnard, F., Graham, D., Depoortere, H., & Scatton, B. (1997). Antagonist properties of eliprodil and other NMDA receptor antagonists at rat NR1A/NR2A and NR1A/NR2B receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. Neurosci Lett, 223(2), 133-136.

Bachteler, D., Economidou, D., Danysz, W., Ciccocioppo, R., & Spanagel, R. (2005). The effects of acamprosate and neramexane on cue-induced reinstatement of ethanol-seeking behavior in rat. Neuropsychopharmacology, 30(6), 1104-1110.

Backstrom, P., Bachteler, D., Koch, S., Hyytia, P., & Spanagel, R. (2004). mGluR5 antagonist MPEP reduces ethanol-seeking and relapse behavior. Neuropsychopharmacology, 29(5), 921-928.

Backstrom, P., & Hyytia, P. (2004). Ionotropic glutamate receptor antagonists modulate cue-induced reinstatement of ethanol-seeking behavior. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 28(4), 558-565.

Bailey, S. M., Patel, V. B., Young, T. A., Asayama, K., & Cunningham, C. C. (2001). Chronic ethanol consumption alters the glutathione/glutathione peroxidase-1 system and protein oxidation status in rat liver. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 25(5), 726-733.

Baldwin, H. A., Rassnick, S., Rivier, J., Koob, G. F., & Britton, K. T. (1991). CRF antagonist reverses the "anxiogenic" response to ethanol withdrawal in the rat. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 103(2), 227-232.

Barbour, B., Keller, B. U., Llano, I., & Marty, A. (1994). Prolonged presence of glutamate during excitatory synaptic transmission to cerebellar Purkinje cells. Neuron, 12(6), 1331-1343.

Bath, C. P., Farrell, L. N., Gilmore, J., Ward, M. A., Hicks, C. A., O'Neill, M. J., et al. (1996). The effects of ifenprodil and eliprodil on voltage-dependent Ca2+ channels and in gerbil global cerebral ischaemia. Eur J Pharmacol, 299(1-3), 103-112.

Bayard, M., McIntyre, J., Hill, K. R., & Woodside, J., Jr. (2004). Alcohol withdrawal syndrome. Am Fam Physician, 69(6), 1443-1450.

Benjamin, D., Grant, E. R., & Pohorecky, L. A. (1993). Naltrexone reverses ethanol-induced dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens in awake, freely moving rats. Brain Res, 621(1), 137-140.

Benveniste, M., & Mayer, M. L. (1993). Multiple effects of spermine on N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor responses of rat cultured hippocampal neurones. J Physiol, 464, 131-163.

Besheer, J., Grondin, J. J., Cannady, R., Sharko, A. C., Faccidomo, S., & Hodge, C. W. (2010). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 activity in the nucleus accumbens is required for the maintenance of ethanol self-administration in a rat genetic model of high alcohol intake. Biol Psychiatry, 67(9), 812-822.

Bevins, R. A., & Bardo, M. T. (1999). Conditioned increase in place preference by access to novel objects: antagonism by MK-801. Behav Brain Res, 99(1), 53-60.

Bialer, M. (1993). Comparative pharmacokinetics of the newer antiepileptic drugs. Clin Pharmacokinet, 24(6), 441-452.

Bienkowski, P., Krzascik, P., Koros, E., Kostowski, W., Scinska, A., & Danysz, W. (2001). Effects of a novel uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist, MRZ 2/579 on ethanol self-administration and ethanol withdrawal seizures in the rat. Eur J Pharmacol, 413(1), 81-89.

Bienkowski, P., Stefanski, R., & Kostowski, W. (1996). Competitive NMDA receptor antagonist, CGP 40116, substitutes for the discriminative stimulus effects of ethanol. Eur J Pharmacol, 314(3), 277-280.

Biermann, T., Bonsch, D., Reulbach, U., Kornhuber, J., & Bleich, S. (2007). Dopamine and N-methyl-Daspartate receptor expression in peripheral blood of patients undergoing alcohol withdrawal. J Neural Transm, 114(8), 1081-1084. Biermann, T., Reulbach, U., Lenz, B., Frieling, H., Muschler, M., Hillemacher, T., et al. (2009). N-methyl-D-aspartate 2b receptor subtype (NR2B) promoter methylation in patients during alcohol withdrawal. J Neural Transm, 116(5), 615-622.

Biton, B., Granger, P., Carreau, A., Depoortere, H., Scatton, B., & Avenet, P. (1994). The NMDA receptor antagonist eliprodil (SL 82.0715) blocks voltage-operated Ca2+ channels in rat cultured cortical neurons. Eur J Pharmacol, 257(3), 297-301.

Blahos, J., 2nd, & Wenthold, R. J. (1996). Relationship between N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR1 splice variants and NR2 subunits. J Biol Chem, 271(26), 15669-15674.

Bleich, S., Wiltfang, J., & Kornhuber, J. (2003). Memantine in moderate-to-severe Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med, 349(6), 609-610; author reply 609-610.

Blomqvist, O., Engel, J. A., Nissbrandt, H., & Soderpalm, B. (1993). The mesolimbic dopamine-activating properties of ethanol are antagonized by mecamylamine. Eur J Pharmacol, 249(2), 207-213.

Blomqvist, O., Ericson, M., Johnson, D. H., Engel, J. A., & Soderpalm, B. (1996). Voluntary ethanol intake in the rat: effects of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor blockade or subchronic nicotine treatment. Eur J Pharmacol, 314(3), 257-267.

Bogaert, E., d'Ydewalle, C., & Van Den Bosch, L. (2010). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and excitotoxicity: from pathological mechanism to therapeutic target. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets, 9(3), 297-304.

Boileau, I., Assaad, J. M., Pihl, R. O., Benkelfat, C., Leyton, M., Diksic, M., et al. (2003). Alcohol promotes dopamine release in the human nucleus accumbens. Synapse, 49(4), 226-231.

Bonuccelli, U., & Del Dotto, P. (2006). New pharmacologic horizons in the treatment of Parkinson disease. Neurology, 67(7 Suppl 2), S30-38.

Bouza, C., Angeles, M., Munoz, A., & Amate, J. M. (2004). Efficacy and safety of naltrexone and acamprosate in the treatment of alcohol dependence: a systematic review. Addiction, 99(7), 811-828.

Bowers, B. J., McClure-Begley, T. D., Keller, J. J., Paylor, R., Collins, A. C., & Wehner, J. M. (2005). Deletion of the alpha7 nicotinic receptor subunit gene results in increased sensitivity to several behavioral effects produced by alcohol. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 29(3), 295-302.

Boyce, S., Wyatt, A., Webb, J. K., O'Donnell, R., Mason, G., Rigby, M., et al. (1999). Selective NMDA NR2B antagonists induce antinociception without motor dysfunction: correlation with restricted localisation of NR2B subunit in dorsal horn. Neuropharmacology, 38(5), 611-623.

Boyce-Rustay, J. M., Janos, A. L., & Holmes, A. (2008). Effects of chronic swim stress on EtOH-related behaviors in C57BL/6J, DBA/2J and BALB/cByJ mice. Behav Brain Res, 186(1), 133-137.

Brackett, R. L., Pouw, B., Blyden, J. F., Nour, M., & Matsumoto, R. R. (2000). Prevention of cocaineinduced convulsions and lethality in mice: effectiveness of targeting different sites on the NMDA receptor complex. Neuropharmacology, 39(3), 407-418.

Breese, G. R., Morrow, A. L., Simson, P. E., Criswell, H. E., McCown, T. J., Duncan, G. E., et al. (1993). The neuroanatomical specificity of ethanol action on ligand-gated ion channels: a hypothesis. Alcohol Alcohol Suppl, 2, 309-313.

Britton, K. T., Lee, G., Vale, W., Rivier, J., & Koob, G. F. (1986). Corticotropin releasing factor (CRF) receptor antagonist blocks activating and 'anxiogenic' actions of CRF in the rat. Brain Res, 369(1-2), 303-306.

Broadbent, J., Kampmueller, K. M., & Koonse, S. A. (2003). Expression of behavioral sensitization to ethanol by DBA/2J mice: the role of NMDA and non-NMDA glutamate receptors. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 167(3), 225-234.

Brown, D. G., & Krupp, J. J. (2006). N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA) antagonists as potential pain therapeutics. Curr Top Med Chem, 6(8), 749-770.

Brown, T. E., Lee, B. R., & Sorg, B. A. (2008). The NMDA antagonist MK-801 disrupts reconsolidation of a cocaine-associated memory for conditioned place preference but not for self-administration in rats. Learn Mem, 15(12), 857-865.

Bullock, M. R., Merchant, R. E., Carmack, C. A., Doppenberg, E., Shah, A. K., Wilner, K. D., et al. (1999). An open-label study of CP-101,606 in subjects with a severe traumatic head injury or spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 890, 51-58.

Burish, T. G., Maisto, S. A., Cooper, A. M., & Sobell, M. B. (1981). Effects of voluntary short-term abstinence from alcohol on subsequent drinking patterns of college students. J Stud Alcohol, 42(11), 1013-1020.

Butler, T. R., Self, R. L., Smith, K. J., Sharrett-Field, L. J., Berry, J. N., Littleton, J. M., et al. (2010). Selective vulnerability of hippocampal cornu ammonis 1 pyramidal cells to excitotoxic insult is associated with the expression of polyamine-sensitive N-methyl-D-asparate-type glutamate receptors. Neuroscience, 165(2), 525-534.

Butterworth, R. F. (1995). Pathophysiology of alcoholic brain damage: synergistic effects of ethanol, thiamine deficiency and alcoholic liver disease. Metab Brain Dis, 10(1), 1-8.

Cagetti, E., Baicy, K. J., & Olsen, R. W. (2004). Topiramate attenuates withdrawal signs after chronic intermittent ethanol in rats. Neuroreport, 15(1), 207-210.

Calton, J. L., Wilson, W. A., & Moore, S. D. (1998). Magnesium-dependent inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated synaptic transmission by ethanol. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 287(3), 1015-1019.

Chandler, L. J., Norwood, D., & Sutton, G. (1999). Chronic ethanol upregulates NMDA and AMPA, but not kainate receptor subunit proteins in rat primary cortical cultures. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 23(2), 363-370.

Chandler, L. J., Sutton, G., Norwood, D., Sumners, C., & Crews, F. T. (1997). Chronic ethanol increases N-methyl-D-aspartate-stimulated nitric oxide formation but not receptor density in cultured cortical neurons. Mol Pharmacol, 51(5), 733-740.

Charness, M. E., Hu, G., Edwards, R. H., & Querimit, L. A. (1993). Ethanol increases delta-opioid receptor gene expression in neuronal cell lines. Mol Pharmacol, 44(6), 1119-1127.

Chatterton, J. E., Awobuluyi, M., Premkumar, L. S., Takahashi, H., Talantova, M., Shin, Y., et al. (2002). Excitatory glycine receptors containing the NR3 family of NMDA receptor subunits. Nature, 415(6873), 793-798.

Chazot, P. L., Lawrence, S., & Thompson, C. L. (2002). Studies on the subtype selectivity of CP-101,606: evidence for two classes of NR2B-selective NMDA receptor antagonists. Neuropharmacology, 42(3), 319-324.

Chazot, P. L., & Stephenson, F. A. (1997). Molecular dissection of native mammalian forebrain NMDA receptors containing the NR1 C2 exon: direct demonstration of NMDA receptors comprising NR1, NR2A, and NR2B subunits within the same complex. J Neurochem, 69(5), 2138-2144.

Chen, H. S., & Lipton, S. A. (1997). Mechanism of memantine block of NMDA-activated channels in rat retinal ganglion cells: uncompetitive antagonism. J Physiol, 499 (Pt 1), 27-46.

Chenard, B. L., Shalaby, I. A., Koe, B. K., Ronau, R. T., Butler, T. W., Prochniak, M. A., et al. (1991). Separation of alpha 1 adrenergic and N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist activity in a series of ifenprodil compounds. J Med Chem, 34(10), 3085-3090.

Chesler, M., & Kaila, K. (1992). Modulation of pH by neuronal activity. *Trends in Neurosciences*, *15*(10), 396-402.

Chizh, B. A., & Headley, P. M. (2005). NMDA antagonists and neuropathic pain--multiple drug targets and multiple uses. Curr Pharm Des, 11(23), 2977-2994.

Choi, D. W. (1985). Glutamate neurotoxicity in cortical cell culture is calcium dependent. Neurosci Lett, 58(3), 293-297.

Choi, D. W. (1987). Ionic dependence of glutamate neurotoxicity. J Neurosci, 7(2), 369-379.

Chu, B., Anantharam, V., & Treistman, S. N. (1995). Ethanol inhibition of recombinant heteromeric NMDA channels in the presence and absence of modulators. J Neurochem, 65(1), 140-148.

Chung, H. J., Huang, Y. H., Lau, L. F., & Huganir, R. L. (2004). Regulation of the NMDA receptor complex and trafficking by activity-dependent phosphorylation of the NR2B subunit PDZ ligand. J Neurosci, 24(45), 10248-10259.

Coffino, P. (2001). Regulation of cellular polyamines by antizyme. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 2(3), 188-194.

Cole, J. C., Littleton, J. M., & Little, H. J. (1999). Effects of repeated ethanol administration in the plus maze; a simple model for conditioned abstinence behaviour. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 142(3), 270-279.

Cole, J. C., Littleton, J. M., & Little, H. J. (2000). Acamprosate, but not naltrexone, inhibits conditioned abstinence behaviour associated with repeated ethanol administration and exposure to a plus-maze. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 147(4), 403-411.

Collingridge, G. L., & Lester, R. A. (1989). Excitatory amino acid receptors in the vertebrate central nervous system. Pharmacol Rev, 41(2), 143-210.

Collingridge, G. L., & Singer, W. (1990). Excitatory amino acid receptors and synaptic plasticity. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 11(7), 290-296.

Colombo, G., Agabio, R., Carai, M. A., Lobina, C., Pani, M., Reali, R., et al. (2000). Ability of baclofen in reducing alcohol intake and withdrawal severity: I--Preclinical evidence. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 24(1), 58-66.

Colombo, G., & Grant, K. A. (1992). NMDA receptor complex antagonists have ethanol-like discriminative stimulus effects. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 654, 421-423.

Colombo, G., Serra, S., Brunetti, G., Atzori, G., Pani, M., Vacca, G., et al. (2002). The GABA(B) receptor agonists baclofen and CGP 44532 prevent acquisition of alcohol drinking behaviour in alcohol-preferring rats. Alcohol Alcohol, 37(5), 499-503.

Colombo, G., Serra, S., Brunetti, G., Vacca, G., Carai, M. A., & Gessa, G. L. (2003). Suppression by baclofen of alcohol deprivation effect in Sardinian alcohol-preferring (sP) rats. Drug Alcohol Depend, 70(1), 105-108.

Colombo, G., Vacca, G., Serra, S., Brunetti, G., Carai, M. A., & Gessa, G. L. (2003). Baclofen suppresses motivation to consume alcohol in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 167(3), 221-224.

Connors, G. J., Maisto, S. A., & Donovan, D. M. (1996). Conceptualizations of relapse: a summary of psychological and psychobiological models. Addiction, 91 Suppl, S5-13.

Cooney, N. L., Kadden, R. M., Litt, M. D., & Getter, H. (1991). Matching alcoholics to coping skills or interactional therapies: two-year follow-up results. J Consult Clin Psychol, 59(4), 598-601.

Covernton, P. J., & Connolly, J. G. (1997). Differential modulation of rat neuronal nicotinic receptor subtypes by acute application of ethanol. Br J Pharmacol, 122(8), 1661-1668.

Crabbe, J. C., Harris, R. A., & Koob, G. F. (2011). Preclinical studies of alcohol binge drinking. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1216, 24-40.

Crabbe, J. C., Janowsky, J. S., Young, E. R., & Rigter, H. (1980). Handling induced convulsions in twenty inbred strains of mice. Subst Alcohol Actions Misuse, 1(2), 159-163.

Cull-Candy, S., Brickley, S., & Farrant, M. (2001). NMDA receptor subunits: diversity, development and disease. Curr Opin Neurobiol, 11(3), 327-335.

Dahchour, A., & De Witte, P. (2003). Effects of acamprosate on excitatory amino acids during multiple ethanol withdrawal periods. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 27(3), 465-470.

Dahchour, A., Lallemand, F., Ward, R. J., & De Witte, P. (2005). Production of reactive oxygen species following acute ethanol or acetaldehyde and its reduction by acamprosate in chronically alcoholized rats. Eur J Pharmacol, 520(1-3), 51-58.

Danysz, W., Dyr, W., Jankowska, E., Glazewski, S., & Kostowski, W. (1992). The involvement of NMDA receptors in acute and chronic effects of ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 16(3), 499-504.

Davidson, M., Shanley, B., & Wilce, P. (1995). Increased NMDA-induced excitability during ethanol withdrawal: a behavioural and histological study. Brain Res, 674(1), 91-96.

Davidson, M., & Wilce, P. (1998). Chronic ethanol treatment leads to increased ornithine decarboxylase activity: implications for a role of polyamines in ethanol dependence and withdrawal. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 22(6), 1205-1211.

Davis, K. M., & Wu, J. Y. (2001). Role of glutamatergic and GABAergic systems in alcoholism. J Biomed Sci, 8(1), 7-19.

Davis, M., Rainnie, D., & Cassell, M. (1994). Neurotransmission in the rat amygdala related to fear and anxiety. Trends Neurosci, 17(5), 208-214.

Davis, W. L., Crawford, L. A., Cooper, O. J., Farmer, G. R., Thomas, D. L., & Freeman, B. L. (1990). Ethanol induces the generation of reactive free radicals by neural crest cells in vitro. J Craniofac Genet Dev Biol, 10(3), 277-293.

Dawson, V. L., Dawson, T. M., London, E. D., Bredt, D. S., & Snyder, S. H. (1991). Nitric oxide mediates glutamate neurotoxicity in primary cortical cultures. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 88(14), 6368-6371.

Dawson, V. L., Kizushi, V. M., Huang, P. L., Snyder, S. H., & Dawson, T. M. (1996). Resistance to neurotoxicity in cortical cultures from neuronal nitric oxide synthase-deficient mice. J Neurosci, 16(8), 2479-2487.

de Fiebre, C. M., Meyer, E. M., Henry, J. C., Muraskin, S. I., Kem, W. R., & Papke, R. L. (1995). Characterization of a series of anabaseine-derived compounds reveals that the 3-(4)-dimethylaminocinnamylidine derivative is a selective agonist at neuronal nicotinic alpha 7/125I-alpha-bungarotoxin receptor subtypes. Mol Pharmacol, 47(1), 164-171.

Demady, D. R., Jianmongkol, S., Vuletich, J. L., Bender, A. T., & Osawa, Y. (2001a). Agmatine enhances the NADPH oxidase activity of neuronal NO synthase and leads to oxidative inactivation of the enzyme. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *59*(1), 24-29.

De Witte, P., Littleton, J., Parot, P., & Koob, G. (2005). Neuroprotective and abstinence-promoting effects of acamprosate: elucidating the mechanism of action. CNS Drugs, 19(6), 517-537.

Deitrich, R. A., Dunwiddie, T. V., Harris, R. A., & Erwin, V. G. (1989). Mechanism of action of ethanol: initial central nervous system actions. Pharmacol Rev, 41(4), 489-537.

Di Chiara, G., & Imperato, A. (1985). Ethanol preferentially stimulates dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of freely moving rats. Eur J Pharmacol, 115(1), 131-132.

Di, X., Bullock, R., Watson, J., Fatouros, P., Chenard, B., White, F., et al. (1997). Effect of CP101,606, a novel NR2B subunit antagonist of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, on the volume of ischemic brain damage off cytotoxic brain edema after middle cerebral artery occlusion in the feline brain. Stroke, 28(11), 2244-2251.

Diana, M., Pistis, M., Carboni, S., Gessa, G. L., & Rossetti, Z. L. (1993). Profound decrement of mesolimbic dopaminergic neuronal activity during ethanol withdrawal syndrome in rats: electrophysiological and biochemical evidence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 90(17), 7966-7969.

Dildy-Mayfield, J. E., & Harris, R. A. (1992). Comparison of ethanol sensitivity of rat brain kainate, DLalpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxalone proprionic acid and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 262(2), 487-494.

Dingledine, R., Borges, K., Bowie, D., & Traynelis, S. F. (1999). The glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol Rev, 51(1), 7-61.

Dodd, P. R., Beckmann, A. M., Davidson, M. S., & Wilce, P. A. (2000). Glutamate-mediated transmission, alcohol, and alcoholism. Neurochem Int, 37(5-6), 509-533.

Dole, V. P., & Gentry, R. T. (1984). Toward an analogue of alcoholism in mice: scale factors in the model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 81(11), 3543-3546.

Doweiko, H. E. (2010). Concepts of chemical dependency (8th Ed. ed.). Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole.

Dugan, L. L., Sensi, S. L., Canzoniero, L. M., Handran, S. D., Rothman, S. M., Lin, T. S., et al. (1995). Mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species in cortical neurons following exposure to N-methyl-D-aspartate. J Neurosci, 15(10), 6377-6388.

Dunn, R. W., Corbett, R., & Fielding, S. (1989). Effects of 5-HT1A receptor agonists and NMDA receptor antagonists in the social interaction test and the elevated plus maze. Eur J Pharmacol, 169(1), 1-10.

Eberling, J. L., & Jagust, W. J. (1995). Imaging studies of aging, neurodegenerative disease, and alcoholism. Alcohol Health & Research World, 19(4), 279-286.

Ericson, M., Blomqvist, O., Engel, J. A., & Soderpalm, B. (1998). Voluntary ethanol intake in the rat and the associated accumbal dopamine overflow are blocked by ventral tegmental mecamylamine. Eur J Pharmacol, 358(3), 189-196.

Evert, D. L., & Oscarberman, M. (1995). Alcohol-Related Cognitive Impairments - an Overview of How Alcoholism May Affect the Workings of the Brain. Alcohol Health & Research World, 19(2), 89-96.

Fadda, F., Garau, B., Marchei, F., Colombo, G., & Gessa, G. L. (1991). MDL 72222, a selective 5-HT3 receptor antagonist, suppresses voluntary ethanol consumption in alcohol-preferring rats. Alcohol Alcohol, 26(2), 107-110.

Fahlke, C., Hansen, S., Engel, J. A., & Hard, E. (1994). Effects of ventral striatal 6-OHDA lesions or amphetamine sensitization on ethanol consumption in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 47(2), 345-349.

Faiman, C. P., Viu, E., Skolnick, P., & Trullas, R. (1994). Differential effects of compounds that act at strychnine-insensitive glycine receptors in a punishment procedure. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 270(2), 528-533.

Fan, M. M., & Raymond, L. A. (2007). N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor function and excitotoxicity in Huntington's disease. Prog Neurobiol, 81(5-6), 272-293.

Farb, C. R., Aoki, C., & Ledoux, J. E. (1995). Differential localization of NMDA and AMPA receptor subunits in the lateral and basal nuclei of the amygdala: a light and electron microscopic study. J Comp Neurol, 362(1), 86-108.

Farook, J. M., Lewis, B., Littleton, J. M., & Barron, S. (2009). Topiramate attenuates the stress-induced increase in alcohol consumption and preference in male C57BL/6J mice. Physiol Behav, 96(1), 189-193.

Farook, J. M., Krazem, A., Lewis, B., Morrell, D. J., Littleton, J. M., & Barron, S. (2008). Acamprosate attenuates the handling induced convulsions during alcohol withdrawal in Swiss Webster mice. Physiol Behav, 95(1-2), 267-270.

Farook, J. M., Morrell, D. J., Lewis, B., Littleton, J. M., & Barron, S. (2007). Topiramate (Topamax) reduces conditioned abstinence behaviours and handling-induced convulsions (HIC) after chronic administration of alcohol in Swiss-Webster mice. Alcohol Alcohol, 42(4), 296-300.

Feeney, G. F., Connor, J. P., Mc, D. Y. R., Tucker, J., & McPherson, A. (2006). Is acamprosate use in alcohol dependence treatment reflected in improved subjective health status outcomes beyond cognitive behavioural therapy alone? J Addict Dis, 25(4), 49-58.

Feng, Y., LeBlanc, M. H., & Regunathan, S. (2005). Agmatine reduces extracellular glutamate during pentylenetetrazole-induced seizures in rat brain: a potential mechanism for the anticonvulsive effects. Neurosci Lett, 390(3), 129-133.

de Fiebre, N. C., & de Fiebre, C. M. (2005). alpha7 Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor knockout selectively enhances ethanol-, but not beta-amyloid-induced neurotoxicity. *Neuroscience Letters*, *373*(1), 42-47.

Field, M., & Powell, H. (2007). Stress increases attentional bias for alcohol cues in social drinkers who drink to cope. Alcohol Alcohol, 42(6), 560-566.

Fink, K., & Gothert, M. (1996). Both ethanol and ifenprodil inhibit NMDA-evoked release of various neurotransmitters at different, yet proportional potency: potential relation to NMDA receptor subunit composition. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol, 354(3), 312-319.

Follesa, P., & Ticku, M. K. (1995). Chronic ethanol treatment differentially regulates NMDA receptor subunit mRNA expression in rat brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 29(1), 99-106.

Follesa, P., & Ticku, M. K. (1996). Chronic ethanol-mediated up-regulation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor polypeptide subunits in mouse cortical neurons in culture. J Biol Chem, 271(23), 13297-13299.

Follesa, P., & Ticku, M. K. (1996). NMDA receptor upregulation: molecular studies in cultured mouse cortical neurons after chronic antagonist exposure. J Neurosci, 16(7), 2172-2178.

Forman, S. A., Righi, D. L., & Miller, K. W. (1989). Ethanol increases agonist affinity for nicotinic receptors from Torpedo. Biochim Biophys Acta, 987(1), 95-103.

Fuller, R. K., & Gordis, E. (2004). Does disulfiram have a role in alcoholism treatment today? Addiction, 99(1), 21-24.

Fullgrabe, M. W., Vengeliene, V., & Spanagel, R. (2007). Influence of age at drinking onset on the alcohol deprivation effect and stress-induced drinking in female rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 86(2), 320-326.

Galea, E., Regunathan, S, Eliopoulos, V., Feinstein, D. L., & Reis, D. J. (1996). Inhibition of mammalian nitric oxide synthases by agmatine, an endogenous polyamine formed by decarboxylation of arginine. *The Biochemical Journal*, *316* (*Pt 1*), 247-249.

Gallagher, M. J., Huang, H., Grant, E. R., & Lynch, D. R. (1997). The NR2B-specific interactions of polyamines and protons with the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J Biol Chem, 272(40), 24971-24979.

Ghasemi, M., Raza, M., & Dehpour, A. R. (2010). NMDA receptor antagonists augment antidepressantlike effects of lithium in the mouse forced swimming test. *Journal of Psychopharmacology (Oxford, England)*, 24(4), 585-594.

Gibson, D., Harris, B., Prendergast, M., Hart, S., Blanchard, J. n., Holley, R., et al. (2003). Polyamines contribute to ethanol withdrawal-induced neurotoxicity in rat hippocampal slice cultures through interactions with the NMDA receptor. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 27(7), 1099-1106.

Gibson, D. A., Harris, B. R., Rogers, D. T., & Littleton, J. M. (2002). Radioligand binding studies reveal agmatine is a more selective antagonist for a polyamine-site on the NMDA receptor than arcaine or ifenprodil. Brain Res, 952(1), 71-77.

Giffard, R. G., Monyer, H., Christine, C. W., & Choi, D. W. (1990). Acidosis reduces NMDA receptor activation, glutamate neurotoxicity, and oxygen-glucose deprivation neuronal injury in cortical cultures. *Brain Research*, *506*(2), 339-342.

Gilad, G. M., Salame, K., Rabey, J. M., & Gilad, V. H. (1996). Agmatine treatment is neuroprotective in rodent brain injury models. Life Sci, 58(2), PL 41-46.

Gill, K., & Amit, Z. (1989). Serotonin uptake blockers and voluntary alcohol consumption. A review of recent studies. Recent Dev Alcohol, 7, 225-248.

Glautier, S., & Drummond, D. C. (1994). Alcohol dependence and cue reactivity. J Stud Alcohol, 55(2), 224-229.

Goldstein, D. B., & Pal, N. (1971). Alcohol dependence produced in mice by inhalation of ethanol: grading the withdrawal reaction. Science, 172(980), 288-290.

Gonzales, R., Bungay, P. M., Kilanmaa, K., Samson, H. H., & Rosselti, Z. L. (1996). In vivo links between neurochemistry and behavioral effects of ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 20(8 Suppl), 203A-209A.

Gonzales, R. A., Job, M. O., & Doyon, W. M. (2004). The role of mesolimbic dopamine in the development and maintenance of ethanol reinforcement. Pharmacol Ther, 103(2), 121-146.

Gonzales, R. A., & Weiss, F. (1998). Suppression of ethanol-reinforced behavior by naltrexone is associated with attenuation of the ethanol-induced increase in dialysate dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens. J Neurosci, 18(24), 10663-10671.

Goracke-Postle, C. J., Nguyen, H. O. X., Stone, L. S., & Fairbanks, C. A. (2006). Release of tritiated agmatine from spinal synaptosomes. *Neuroreport*, *17*(1), 13-17.

Gorelick, D. A., & Paredes, A. (1992). Effect of fluoxetine on alcohol consumption in male alcoholics. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 16(2), 261-265.

Grant, B. D., D.A.; Chou, S.P.; Ruan, W.J.; Pickering, R.P. (2004). Co-occurrence of 12-Month Alcohol and Drug Use Disorders and Personality Disorders in the United States. Arch Gen Psychiatry(61), 361-368.

Grant, K. A. (1999). Strategies for understanding the pharmacological effects of ethanol with drug discrimination procedures. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 64(2), 261-267.

Grant, K. A., Valverius, P., Hudspith, M., & Tabakoff, B. (1990). Ethanol withdrawal seizures and the NMDA receptor complex. Eur J Pharmacol, 176(3), 289-296.

Green, K. L., & Grant, K. A. (1998). Evidence for overshadowing by components of the heterogeneous discriminative stimulus effects of ethanol. Drug Alcohol Depend, 52(2), 149-159.

Gremel, C. M., & Cunningham, C. L. (2009). Involvement of amygdala dopamine and nucleus accumbens NMDA receptors in ethanol-seeking behavior in mice. Neuropsychopharmacology, 34(6), 1443-1453.

Grobin, A. C., Matthews, D. B., Devaud, L. L., & Morrow, A. L. (1998). The role of GABA(A) receptors in the acute and chronic effects of ethanol. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 139(1-2), 2-19.

Gulley, J. M., McNamara, C., Barbera, T. J., Ritz, M. C., & George, F. R. (1995). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: effects of chronic treatment on ethanol-reinforced behavior in mice. Alcohol, 12(3), 177-181.

Gulya, K., Grant, K. A., Valverius, P., Hoffman, P. L., & Tabakoff, B. (1991). Brain regional specificity and time-course of changes in the NMDA receptor-ionophore complex during ethanol withdrawal. Brain Res, 547(1), 129-134.

Gupta, T., Syed, Y. M., Revis, A. A., Miller, S. A., Martinez, M., Cohn, K. A., et al. (2008). Acute effects of acamprosate and MPEP on ethanol Drinking-in-the-Dark in male C57BL/6J mice. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 32(11), 1992-1998.

Guscott, M. R., Clarke, H. F., Murray, F., Grimwood, S., Bristow, L. J., & Hutson, P. H. (2003). The effect of (+/-)-CP-101,606, an NMDA receptor NR2B subunit selective antagonist, in the Morris watermaze. Eur J Pharmacol, 476(3), 193-199.

Halaris, A., & Plietz, J. (2007). Agmatine  $\Box$ : metabolic pathway and spectrum of activity in brain. *CNS Drugs*, 21(11), 885-900.

Hammerman, C., & Kaplan, M. (1998). Ischemia and reperfusion injury. The ultimate pathophysiologic paradox. Clin Perinatol, 25(3), 757-777.

Hara, M. R., Agrawal, N., Kim, S. F., Cascio, M. B., Fujimuro, M., Ozeki, Y., et al. (2005). S-nitrosylated GAPDH initiates apoptotic cell death by nuclear translocation following Siah1 binding. Nat Cell Biol, 7(7), 665-674.

Haradahira, T., Maeda, J., Okauchi, T., Zhang, M.-R., Hojo, J., Kida, T., Arai, T., et al. (2002). Synthesis, in vitro and in vivo pharmacology of a C-11 labeled analog of CP-101,606, (+/-)threo-1-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-2-[4-hydroxy-4-(p-[11C]methoxyphenyl)piperidino]-1-propanol, as a PET tracer for NR2B subunit-containing NMDA receptors. *Nuclear Medicine and Biology*, *29*(5), 517-525.

Haraguchi, M., Samson, H. H., & Tolliver, G. A. (1990). Reduction in oral ethanol self-administration in the rat by the 5-HT uptake blocker fluoxetine. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 35(1), 259-262.

Hardingham, G. E., Fukunaga, Y., & Bading, H. (2002). Extrasynaptic NMDARs oppose synaptic NMDARs by triggering CREB shut-off and cell death pathways. Nat Neurosci, 5(5), 405-414.

Hardy, P. A., Chen, W., & Wilce, P. A. (1999). Chronic ethanol exposure and withdrawal influence NMDA receptor subunit and splice variant mRNA expression in the rat cerebral cortex. Brain Res, 819(1-2), 33-39.

Harris, B. R., Gibson, D. A., Prendergast, M. A., Blanchard, J. A., Holley, R. C., Hart, S. R., et al. (2003). The neurotoxicity induced by ethanol withdrawal in mature organotypic hippocampal slices might involve cross-talk between metabotropic glutamate type 5 receptors and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 27(11), 1724-1735.

Harris, B. R., Prendergast, M. A., Gibson, D. A., Rogers, D. T., Blanchard, J. A., Holley, R. C., et al. (2002). Acamprosate inhibits the binding and neurotoxic effects of trans-ACPD, suggesting a novel site of action at metabotropic glutamate receptors. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 26(12), 1779-1793.

Harwood, H. (2000). Updating Estimates of the Economic Costs of Alcohol Abuse in the United States: Estimates, Update Methods, and Data. Report prepared by The Lewin Group for the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism.

Hawkins, L. M., Chazot, P. L., & Stephenson, F. A. (1999). Biochemical evidence for the co-association of three N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) R2 subunits in recombinant NMDA receptors. J Biol Chem, 274(38), 27211-27218.

Hayashida, M., Alterman, A. I., McLellan, A. T., O'Brien, C. P., Purtill, J. J., Volpicelli, J. R., et al. (1989). Comparative effectiveness and costs of inpatient and outpatient detoxification of patients with mild-to-moderate alcohol withdrawal syndrome. N Engl J Med, 320(6), 358-365.

Heinz, A., Schafer, M., Higley, J. D., Krystal, J. H., & Goldman, D. (2003). Neurobiological correlates of the disposition and maintenance of alcoholism. Pharmacopsychiatry, 36 Suppl 3, S255-258.

Henderson, G. I., Devi, B. G., Perez, A., & Schenker, S. (1995). In utero ethanol exposure elicits oxidative stress in the rat fetus. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 19(3), 714-720.

Hendrickson, L. M., Zhao-Shea, R., & Tapper, A. R. (2009). Modulation of ethanol drinking-in-the-dark by mecamylamine and nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonists in C57BL/6J mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 204(4), 563-572.

Hendricson, A. W., Sibbald, J. R., & Morrisett, R. A. (2004). Ethanol alters the frequency, amplitude, and decay kinetics of Sr2+-supported, asynchronous NMDAR mEPSCs in rat hippocampal slices. J Neurophysiol, 91(6), 2568-2577.

Hershon, H. I. (1977). Alcohol withdrawal symptoms and drinking behavior. J Stud Alcohol, 38(5), 953-971.

Hertz, A. (1997). Endogenous opioid systems and alcohol addiction. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 129(2), 99-111.

Hestrin, S. (1992). Activation and desensitization of glutamate-activated channels mediating fast excitatory synaptic currents in the visual cortex. Neuron, 9(5), 991-999.

Heyser, C. J., Moc, K., & Koob, G. F. (2003). Effects of naltrexone alone and in combination with acamprosate on the alcohol deprivation effect in rats. Neuropsychopharmacology, 28(8), 1463-1471.

Higgins, G. A., Ballard, T. M., Enderlin, M., Haman, M., & Kemp, J. A. (2005). Evidence for improved performance in cognitive tasks following selective NR2B NMDA receptor antagonist pre-treatment in the rat. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 179(1), 85-98.

Hodge, C. W., & Cox, A. A. (1998). The discriminative stimulus effects of ethanol are mediated by NMDA and GABA(A) receptors in specific limbic brain regions. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 139(1-2), 95-107.

Hodge, C. W., Cox, A. A., Bratt, A. M., Camarini, R., Iller, K., Kelley, S. P., et al. (2001). The discriminative stimulus properties of self-administered ethanol are mediated by GABA(A) and NMDA receptors in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 154(1), 13-22.

Hodge, C. W., Samson, H. H., Lewis, R. S., & Erickson, H. L. (1993). Specific decreases in ethanol- but not water-reinforced responding produced by the 5-HT3 antagonist ICS 205-930. Alcohol, 10(3), 191-196.

Hoffman, P. L. (2003). NMDA receptors in alcoholism. Int Rev Neurobiol, 56, 35-82.

Hoffman, P. L., Iorio, K. R., Snell, L. D., & Tabakoff, B. (1995). Attenuation of glutamate-induced neurotoxicity in chronically ethanol-exposed cerebellar granule cells by NMDA receptor antagonists and ganglioside GM1. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 19(3), 721-726.

Hoffman, P. L., Rabe, C. S., Moses, F., & Tabakoff, B. (1989). N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors and ethanol: inhibition of calcium flux and cyclic GMP production. J Neurochem, 52(6), 1937-1940.

Holford, N. H. (1987). Clinical pharmacokinetics of ethanol. Clin Pharmacokinet, 13(5), 273-292.

Holter, S. M., Danysz, W., & Spanagel, R. (2000). Novel uncompetitive N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)receptor antagonist MRZ 2/579 suppresses ethanol intake in long-term ethanol-experienced rats and generalizes to ethanol cue in drug discrimination procedure. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 292(2), 545-552.

Howard, E. C., Schier, C. J., Wetzel, J. S., Duvauchelle, C. L., & Gonzales, R. A. (2008). The shell of the nucleus accumbens has a higher dopamine response compared with the core after non-contingent intravenous ethanol administration. Neuroscience, 154(3), 1042-1053.

Hu, X. J., Follesa, P., & Ticku, M. K. (1996). Chronic ethanol treatment produces a selective upregulation of the NMDA receptor subunit gene expression in mammalian cultured cortical neurons. Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 36(2), 211-218.

Huang, M. J., Regunathan, S., Botta, M., Lee, K., McClendon, E., Yi, G. B., et al. (2003). Structure-activity analysis of guanidine group in agmatine for brain agmatinase. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1009, 52-63.

Ikemoto, S., McBride, W. J., Murphy, J. M., Lumeng, L., & Li, T. K. (1997). 6-OHDA-lesions of the nucleus accumbens disrupt the acquisition but not the maintenance of ethanol consumption in the alcohol-preferring P line of rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 21(6), 1042-1046.

Iyer, R. K., Kim, H. K., Tsoa, R. W., Grody, W. W., & Cederbaum, S. D. (2002). Cloning and characterization of human agmatinase. *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism*, 75(3), 209-218.

Iyo, A. H., Zhu, M.-Y., Ordway, G. A., & Regunathan, Soundar. (2006). Expression of arginine decarboxylase in brain regions and neuronal cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 96(4), 1042-1050.

Izumi, Y., Nagashima, K., Murayama, K., & Zorumski, C. F. (2005). Acute effects of ethanol on hippocampal long-term potentiation and long-term depression are mediated by different mechanisms. Neuroscience, 136(2), 509-517.

Jarjour, S., Bai, L., & Gianoulakis, C. (2009). Effect of acute ethanol administration on the release of opioid peptides from the midbrain including the ventral tegmental area. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 33(6), 1033-1043.

Jin, C., & Woodward, J. J. (2006). Effects of 8 different NR1 splice variants on the ethanol inhibition of recombinant NMDA receptors. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 30(4), 673-679.

Johnson, B. A. (2008). Update on neuropharmacological treatments for alcoholism: scientific basis and clinical findings. Biochem Pharmacol, 75(1), 34-56.

Johnson, B. A., Ait-Daoud, N., Bowden, C. L., DiClemente, C. C., Roache, J. D., Lawson, K., et al. (2003). Oral topiramate for treatment of alcohol dependence: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 361(9370), 1677-1685.

Johnson, B. A., Rosenthal, N., Capece, J. A., Wiegand, F., Mao, L., Beyers, K., et al. (2007). Topiramate for treating alcohol dependence: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 298(14), 1641-1651.

Johnson, J. W., & Kotermanski, S. E. (2006). Mechanism of action of memantine. Curr Opin Pharmacol, 6(1), 61-67.

Johnson, K., Shah, A., Jaw-Tsai, S., Baxter, J., & Prakash, C. (2003). Metabolism, pharmacokinetics, and excretion of a highly selective N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, traxoprodil, in human cytochrome P450 2D6 extensive and poor metabolizers. Drug Metab Dispos, 31(1), 76-87.

Kaku, D. A., Giffard, R. G., & Choi, D. W. (1993). Neuroprotective effects of glutamate antagonists and extracellular acidity. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 260(5113), 1516-1518.

Kalivas, P. W., Duffy, P., & Eberhardt, H. (1990). Modulation of A10 dopamine neurons by gammaaminobutyric acid agonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 253(2), 858-866.

Kalluri, H. S., Mehta, A. K., & Ticku, M. K. (1998). Up-regulation of NMDA receptor subunits in rat brain following chronic ethanol treatment. Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 58(1-2), 221-224.

Kamdar, N. K., Miller, S. A., Syed, Y. M., Bhayana, R., Gupta, T., & Rhodes, J. S. (2007). Acute effects of naltrexone and GBR 12909 on ethanol drinking-in-the-dark in C57BL/6J mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 192(2), 207-217.

Kash, T. L., Matthews, R. T., & Winder, D. G. (2008). Alcohol inhibits NR2B-containing NMDA receptors in the ventral bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. Neuropsychopharmacology, 33(6), 1379-1390.

Kashiwagi, K., Fukuchi, J., Chao, J., Igarashi, K., & Williams, K. (1996). An aspartate residue in the extracellular loop of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor controls sensitivity to spermine and protons. Mol Pharmacol, 49(6), 1131-1141.

Katner, S. N., Kerr, T. M., & Weiss, F. (1996). Ethanol anticipation enhances dopamine efflux in the nucleus accumbens of alcohol-preferring (P) but not Wistar rats. Behav Pharmacol, 7(7), 669-674.

Kaplan, H.I., Sadock, B.J., & Grebb, J.A. (1994) Kaplan and Sadock's Synopsis of Psychiatry: Behavioral Sciences, Clinical Psychiatry. In: (7th edn.), Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore (1994), pp. 1052–1058.

Keedwell, P. A., Poon, L., Papadopoulos, A. S., Marshall, E. J., & Checkley, S. A. (2001). Salivary cortisol measurements during a medically assisted alcohol withdrawal. Addict Biol, 6(3), 247-256.

Kelland, M.D. & Chiodo, L.A., (1996) Serotoninergic modulation of midbrain dopamine systems. In: Ashby Jr, C.R. Editor, 1996. *The Modulation of Dopaminergic Neurotransmission by Other Neurotransmitters* CRC Press, New York, pp. 87–122.

Kenna, G. A. (2010). Medications acting on the serotonergic system for the treatment of alcohol dependent patients. Curr Pharm Des, 16(19), 2126-2135.

Kenny, P. J., & Markou, A. (2004). The ups and downs of addiction: role of metabotropic glutamate receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 25(5), 265-272.

Kew, J. N., & Kemp, J. A. (1998). An allosteric interaction between the NMDA receptor polyamine and ifenprodil sites in rat cultured cortical neurones. J Physiol, 512 (Pt 1), 17-28.

Keynan, O., Mirovsky, Y., Dekel, S., Gilad, V. H., & Gilad, G. M. (2010). Safety and Efficacy of Dietary Agmatine Sulfate in Lumbar Disc-associated Radiculopathy. An Open-label, Dose-escalating Study Followed by a Randomized, Double-blind, Placebo-controlled Trial. Pain Med, 11(3), 356-368.

Kiianmaa, K., Andersson, K., & Fuxe, K. (1979). On the role of ascending dopamine systems in the control of voluntary ethanol intake and ethanol intoxication. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 10(4), 603-608.

Kim, M., Campeau, S., Falls, W. A., & Davis, M. (1993). Infusion of the non-NMDA receptor antagonist CNQX into the amygdala blocks the expression of fear-potentiated startle. Behav Neural Biol, 59(1), 5-8.

Koenig, H., Goldstone, A. D., Lu, C. Y., & Trout, J. J. (1990). Brain polyamines are controlled by Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors during ischemia and recirculation. Stroke, 21(11 Suppl), III98-102.

Kohr, G. (2007). NMDA receptor antagonists: tools in neuroscience with promise for treating CNS pathologies. J Physiol, 581(Pt 1), 1-2.

Koistinen, M., Tuomainen, P., Hyytia, P., & Kiianmaa, K. (2001). Naltrexone suppresses ethanol intake in 6-hydroxydopamine-treated rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 25(11), 1605-1612.

Kolb, J. E., Trettel, J., & Levine, E. S. (2005). BDNF enhancement of postsynaptic NMDA receptors is blocked by ethanol. Synapse, 55(1), 52-57.

Koob, G. F. (2003). Alcoholism: allostasis and beyond. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 27(2), 232-243.

Koob, G. F., & Le Moal, M. (2001). Drug addiction, dysregulation of reward, and allostasis. *Neuropsychopharmacology: Official Publication of the American College of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 24(2), 97-129.

Koob, G. F., & Volkow, N. D. (2010). Neurocircuitry of addiction. Neuropsychopharmacology, 35(1), 217-238.

Koop, D. R. (2006). Alcohol metabolism's damaging effects on the cell: a focus on reactive oxygen generation by the enzyme cytochrome P450 2E1. Alcohol Res Health, 29(4), 274-280.

Kornet, M., Goosen, C., & Van Ree, J. M. (1990). The effect of interrupted alcohol supply on spontaneous alcohol consumption by rhesus monkeys. Alcohol Alcohol, 25(4), 407-412.

Kossel, A. (1910). Über das Agmatin. Zeitschrift für physiologische Chemie.(66), 257-261.

Kotlinska, J. (2001). NMDA antagonists inhibit the development of ethanol dependence in rats. Pol J Pharmacol, 53(1), 47-50.

Kotlinska, J., & Liljequist, S. (1997). The NMDA/glycine receptor antagonist, L-701,324, produces discriminative stimuli similar to those of ethanol. Eur J Pharmacol, 332(1), 1-8.

Kranzler, H. R., & Ciraulo, D. A. (2005). Clinical manual of addiction psychopharmacology (1st ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Pub.

Kranzler, H. R., & Van Kirk, J. (2001). Efficacy of naltrexone and acamprosate for alcoholism treatment: a meta-analysis. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 25(9), 1335-1341.

Krupitsky, E. M., Neznanova, O., Masalov, D., Burakov, A. M., Didenko, T., Romanova, T., et al. (2007). Effect of memantine on cue-induced alcohol craving in recovering alcohol-dependent patients. Am J Psychiatry, 164(3), 519-523.

Krupitsky, E. M., Rudenko, A. A., Burakov, A. M., Slavina, T. Y., Grinenko, A. A., Pittman, B., et al. (2007). Antiglutamatergic strategies for ethanol detoxification: comparison with placebo and diazepam. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 31(4), 604-611.

Krystal, J. H., Cramer, J. A., Krol, W. F., Kirk, G. F., & Rosenheck, R. A. (2001). Naltrexone in the treatment of alcohol dependence. N Engl J Med, 345(24), 1734-1739.

Krystal, J. H., Petrakis, I. L., Krupitsky, E., Schutz, C., Trevisan, L., & D'Souza, D. C. (2003). NMDA receptor antagonism and the ethanol intoxication signal: from alcoholism risk to pharmacotherapy. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1003, 176-184.

Kumari, M., & Ticku, M. K. (2000). Regulation of NMDA receptors by ethanol. Prog Drug Res, 54, 152-189.

Kundrotiene, J., Cebers, G., Wagner, A., & Liljequist, S. (2004). The NMDA NR2B subunit-selective receptor antagonist, CP-101,606, enhances the functional recovery the NMDA NR2B subunit-selective receptor and reduces brain damage after cortical compression-induced brain ischemia. J Neurotrauma, 21(1), 83-93.

Kuner, T., Schoepfer, R., & Korpi, E. R. (1993). Ethanol inhibits glutamate-induced currents in heteromeric NMDA receptor subtypes. Neuroreport, 5(3), 297-300.

Lafon-Cazal, M., Culcasi, M., Gaven, F., Pietri, S., & Bockaert, J. (1993). Nitric oxide, superoxide and peroxynitrite: putative mediators of NMDA-induced cell death in cerebellar granule cells. Neuropharmacology, 32(11), 1259-1266.

Latt, N. C., Jurd, S., Houseman, J., & Wutzke, S. E. (2002). Naltrexone in alcohol dependence: a randomised controlled trial of effectiveness in a standard clinical setting. Med J Aust, 176(11), 530-534.

Lau, A., & Tymianski, M. (2010). Glutamate receptors, neurotoxicity and neurodegeneration. Pflugers Arch, 460(2), 525-542.

Lavinsky, D., Arteni, N. S., & Netto, C. A. (2003). Agmatine induces anxiolysis in the elevated plus maze task in adult rats. Behav Brain Res, 141(1), 19-24.

Lee, J. L., & Everitt, B. J. (2008). Appetitive memory reconsolidation depends upon NMDA receptormediated neurotransmission. Neurobiol Learn Mem, 90(1), 147-154.

Leggio, L., Garbutt, J. C., & Addolorato, G. (2010). Effectiveness and safety of baclofen in the treatment of alcohol dependent patients. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets, 9(1), 33-44.

LeMarquand, D., Pihl, R. O., & Benkelfat, C. (1994). Serotonin and alcohol intake, abuse, and dependence: findings of animal studies. Biol Psychiatry, 36(6), 395-421.

Lerma, J. (1992). Spermine regulates N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor desensitization. Neuron, 8(2), 343-352.

Lewis, B., Wellmann, K. A., & Barron, S. (2007). Agmatine reduces balance deficits in a rat model of third trimester binge-like ethanol exposure. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 88(1), 114-121.

Li, G., Regunathan, S., Barrow, C. J., Eshraghi, J., Cooper, R., & Reis, D. J. (1994). Agmatine: an endogenous clonidine-displacing substance in the brain. Science, 263(5149), 966-969.

Li, T. K., Lumeng, L., & Doolittle, D. P. (1993). Selective breeding for alcohol preference and associated responses. Behav Genet, 23(2), 163-170.

Li, Z., Snigdha, S., Roseman, A. S., Dai, J., & Meltzer, H. Y. (2008). Effect of muscarinic receptor agonists xanomeline and sabcomeline on acetylcholine and dopamine efflux in the rat brain; comparison with effects of 4-[3-(4-butylpiperidin-1-yl)-propyl]-7-fluoro-4H-benzo[1,4]oxazin-3-one (AC260584) and N-desmethylclozapine. Eur J Pharmacol, 596(1-3), 89-97.

Lieber, C. S. (1999). Microsomal ethanol-oxidizing system (MEOS): the first 30 years (1968-1998)--a review. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 23(6), 991-1007.

Lieber, C. S. (2004). CYP2E1: from ASH to NASH. Hepatol Res, 28(1), 1-11.

Liljequist, S. (1991). The competitive NMDA receptor antagonist, CGP 39551, inhibits ethanol withdrawal seizures. Eur J Pharmacol, 192(1), 197-198.

Lipton, S. A. (2006). Paradigm shift in neuroprotection by NMDA receptor blockade: memantine and beyond. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 5(2), 160-170.

Lipton, S. A. (2007). Pathologically-activated therapeutics for neuroprotection: mechanism of NMDA receptor block by memantine and S-nitrosylation. Curr Drug Targets, 8(5), 621-632.

Lister, R. G., & Linnoila, M. (1991). Alcohol, the chloride ionophore and endogenous ligands for benzodiazepine receptors. Neuropharmacology, 30(12B), 1435-1440.

Littleton, J. (1995). Acamprosate in alcohol dependence: how does it work? Addiction, 90(9), 1179-1188.

Littleton, J. M., Lovinger, D., Liljequist, S., Ticku, R., Matsumoto, I., & Barron, S. (2001). Role of polyamines and NMDA receptors in ethanol dependence and withdrawal. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 25(5 Suppl ISBRA), 132S-136S.

Liu, X., & Weiss, F. (2002). Additive effect of stress and drug cues on reinstatement of ethanol seeking: exacerbation by history of dependence and role of concurrent activation of corticotropin-releasing factor and opioid mechanisms. J Neurosci, 22(18), 7856-7861.

Lobo, I. A., & Harris, R. A. (2008). GABA(A) receptors and alcohol. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 90(1), 90-94.

Lodge, D. J., & Lawrence, A. J. (2003). The CRF1 receptor antagonist antalarmin reduces volitional ethanol consumption in isolation-reared fawn-hooded rats. Neuroscience, 117(2), 243-247.

Lovinger, D. M. (1993). Excitotoxicity and alcohol-related brain damage. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 17(1), 19-27.

Lovinger, D. M. (1993). High ethanol sensitivity of recombinant AMPA-type glutamate receptors expressed in mammalian cells. Neurosci Lett, 159(1-2), 83-87.

Lovinger, D. M. (1995). Developmental decrease in ethanol inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in rat neocortical neurons: relation to the actions of ifenprodil. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 274(1), 164-172.

Lovinger, D. M., White, G., & Weight, F. F. (1989). Ethanol inhibits NMDA-activated ion current in hippocampal neurons. Science, 243(4899), 1721-1724.

Lovinger, D. M., White, G., & Weight, F. F. (1990). NMDA receptor-mediated synaptic excitation selectively inhibited by ethanol in hippocampal slice from adult rat. J Neurosci, 10(4), 1372-1379.

Lovinger, D. M., & Zhou, Q. (1994). Alcohols potentiate ion current mediated by recombinant 5-HT3RA receptors expressed in a mammalian cell line. Neuropharmacology, 33(12), 1567-1572.

Lu, Y., Chung, H. J., Li, Y., & Rosenberg, P. A. (2003). NMDA receptor-mediated extracellular adenosine accumulation in rat forebrain neurons in culture is associated with inhibition of adenosine kinase. Eur J Neurosci, 17(6), 1213-1222.

Lucas, D. R., & Newhouse, J. P. (1957). The toxic effect of sodium L-glutamate on the inner layers of the retina. AMA Arch Ophthalmol, 58(2), 193-201.

Lupton, C., Burd, L., & Harwood, R. (2004). Cost of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet, 127C(1), 42-50.

Ma, Y. Y., Chu, N. N., Guo, C. Y., Han, J. S., & Cui, C. L. (2007). NR2B-containing NMDA receptor is required for morphine-but not stress-induced reinstatement. Exp Neurol, 203(2), 309-319.

Ma, Y. Y., Guo, C. Y., Yu, P., Lee, D. Y., Han, J. S., & Cui, C. L. (2006). The role of NR2B containing NMDA receptor in place preference conditioned with morphine and natural reinforcers in rats. Exp Neurol, 200(2), 343-355.

Maldonado, R., Saiardi, A., Valverde, O., Samad, T. A., Roques, B. P., & Borrelli, E. (1997). Absence of opiate rewarding effects in mice lacking dopamine D2 receptors. Nature, 388(6642), 586-589.

Maldve, R. E., Zhang, T. A., Ferrani-Kile, K., Schreiber, S. S., Lippmann, M. J., Snyder, G. L., et al. (2002). DARPP-32 and regulation of the ethanol sensitivity of NMDA receptors in the nucleus accumbens. Nat Neurosci, 5(7), 641-648.

Malinowska, B., Napiorkowska-Pawlak, D., Pawlak, R., Buczko, W., & Gothert, M. (1999). Ifenprodil influences changes in mouse behaviour related to acute and chronic ethanol administration. Eur J Pharmacol, 377(1), 13-19.

Mann, K., Kiefer, F., Spanagel, R., & Littleton, J. (2008). Acamprosate: recent findings and future research directions. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 32(7), 1105-1110.

Mason, B. J., Goodman, A. M., Chabac, S., & Lehert, P. (2006). Effect of oral acamprosate on abstinence in patients with alcohol dependence in a double-blind, placebo-controlled trial: the role of patient motivation. J Psychiatr Res, 40(5), 383-393.

Masood, K., Wu, C., Brauneis, U., & Weight, F. F. (1994). Differential ethanol sensitivity of recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunits. Mol Pharmacol, 45(2), 324-329.

Matsumoto, I., Davidson, M., & Wilce, P. A. (1993). Polyamine-enhanced NMDA receptor activity: effect of ethanol. Eur J Pharmacol, 247(3), 289-294.

Matthews, D. B., Morrow, A. L., O'Buckley, T., Flanigan, T. J., Berry, R. B., Cook, M. N., et al. (2008). Acute mild footshock alters ethanol drinking and plasma corticosterone levels in C57BL/6J male mice, but not DBA/2J or A/J male mice. Alcohol, 42(6), 469-476.

Mayer, S., Harris, B., Gibson, D., Blanchard, J., Prendergast, M., Holley, R., et al. (2002). Acamprosate, MK-801, and ifenprodil inhibit neurotoxicity and calcium entry induced by ethanol withdrawal in organotypic slice cultures from neonatal rat hippocampus. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 26(10), 1468-1478.

Mayer, S., Harris, B., Gibson, D. A., Blanchard, J., Prendergast, M. A., Holley, R. C., et al. (2002). Acamprosate has no effect on NMDA-induced toxicity but reduces toxicity induced by spermidine or by changing the medium in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures from rat. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 26(5), 655-662.

McBain, C. J., & Mayer, M. L. (1994). N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor structure and function. Physiol Rev, 74(3), 723-760.

McBride, W. J., Le, A. D., & Noronha, A. (2002). Central nervous system mechanisms in alcohol relapse. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 26(2), 280-286.

McBride, W. J., Murphy, J. M., Gatto, G. J., Levy, A. D., Yoshimoto, K., Lumeng, L., et al. (1993). CNS mechanisms of alcohol self-administration. Alcohol Alcohol Suppl, 2, 463-467.

McCool, B. A., & Lovinger, D. M. (1995). Ifenprodil inhibition of the 5-hydroxytryptamine3 receptor. Neuropharmacology, 34(6), 621-629.

McGeehan, A. J., & Olive, M. F. (2003). The anti-relapse compound acamprosate inhibits the development of a conditioned place preference to ethanol and cocaine but not morphine. Br J Pharmacol, 138(1), 9-12.

McGinnis, J. M., & Foege, W. H. (1999). Mortality and morbidity attributable to use of addictive substances in the United States. Proc Assoc Am Physicians, 111(2), 109-118.

McGovern, P. E., Zhang, J., Tang, J., Zhang, Z., Hall, G. R., Moreau, R. A., et al. (2004). Fermented beverages of pre- and proto-historic China. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 101(51), 17593-17598.

McGurk, J. F., Bennett, M. V., & Zukin, R. S. (1990). Polyamines potentiate responses of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors expressed in xenopus oocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87(24), 9971-9974.

Melendez, R. I., Rodd-Henricks, Z. A., Engleman, E. A., Li, T. K., McBride, W. J., & Murphy, J. M. (2002). Microdialysis of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens of alcohol-preferring (P) rats during anticipation and operant self-administration of ethanol. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 26(3), 318-325.

Mello, N. K., & Mendelson, J. H. (1972). Drinking patterns during work-contingent and noncontingent alcohol acquisition. Psychosom Med, 34(2), 139-164.

Mendelson, J. H. (1971). Effects of alcohol on the central nervous system. N Engl J Med, 284(2), 104-105.

Menniti, F., Chenard, B., Collins, M., Ducat, M., Shalaby, I., & White, F. (1997). CP-101,606, a potent neuroprotectant selective for forebrain neurons. Eur J Pharmacol, 331(2-3), 117-126.

Merchant, R. E., Bullock, M. R., Carmack, C. A., Shah, A. K., Wilner, K. D., Ko, G., et al. (1999). A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of CP-101,606 in patients with a mild or moderate traumatic brain injury. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 890, 42-50.

Merlo Pich, E., Lorang, M., Yeganeh, M., Rodriguez de Fonseca, F., Raber, J., Koob, G. F., et al. (1995). Increase of extracellular corticotropin-releasing factor-like immunoreactivity levels in the amygdala of awake rats during restraint stress and ethanol withdrawal as measured by microdialysis. J Neurosci, 15(8), 5439-5447.

Middaugh, L. D., & Bandy, A. L. (2000). Naltrexone effects on ethanol consumption and response to ethanol conditioned cues in C57BL/6 mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 151(4), 321-327.

Middaugh, L. D., Kelley, B. M., Bandy, A. L., & McGroarty, K. K. (1999). Ethanol consumption by C57BL/6 mice: influence of gender and procedural variables. Alcohol, 17(3), 175-183.

Middaugh, L. D., Szumlinski, K. K., Van Patten, Y., Marlowe, A. L., & Kalivas, P. W. (2003). Chronic ethanol consumption by C57BL/6 mice promotes tolerance to its interoceptive cues and increases extracellular dopamine, an effect blocked by naltrexone. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 27(12), 1892-1900.

Mihic, S. J., & Harris, R. A. (1996). Inhibition of rho1 receptor GABAergic currents by alcohols and volatile anesthetics. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 277(1), 411-416.

Mikolajczak, P., Okulicz-Kozaryn, I., Polanska, A., Szczawinska, K., & Bobkiewicz-Kozlowska, T. (2002). Effect of multiple ifenprodil or spermidine treatment on social recognition in rats. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol, 13(1), 61-67.

Mirshahi, T., & Woodward, J. (1995). Ethanol sensitivity of heteromeric NMDA receptors: effects of subunit assembly, glycine and NMDAR1 Mg(2+)-insensitive mutants. Neuropharmacology, 34(3), 347-355.

Miserendino, M. J., Sananes, C. B., Melia, K. R., & Davis, M. (1990). Blocking of acquisition but not expression of conditioned fear-potentiated startle by NMDA antagonists in the amygdala. Nature, 345(6277), 716-718.

Monaghan, D. T., Andaloro, V. J., & Skifter, D. A. (1998). Molecular determinants of NMDA receptor pharmacological diversity. Prog Brain Res, 116, 171-190.

Monti, P. M., Rohsenow, D. J., Hutchison, K. E., Swift, R. M., Mueller, T. I., Colby, S. M., et al. (1999). Naltrexone's effect on cue-elicited craving among alcoholics in treatment. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 23(8), 1386-1394.

Moore, E. M., & Boehm, S. L., 2nd (2009). Site-specific microinjection of baclofen into the anterior ventral tegmental area reduces binge-like ethanol intake in male C57BL/6J mice. Behav Neurosci, 123(3), 555-563.

Moore, J. W., Ulbricht, W., & Takata, M. (1964). Effect of Ethanol on the Sodium and Potassium Conductances of the Squid Axon Membrane. J Gen Physiol, 48, 279-295.

Morrisett, R. A., Martin, D., Oetting, T. A., Lewis, D. V., Wilson, W. A., & Swartzwelder, H. S. (1991). Ethanol and magnesium ions inhibit N-methyl-D-aspartate-mediated synaptic potentials in an interactive manner. Neuropharmacology, 30(11), 1173-1178.

Morrisett, R. A., Mott, D. D., Lewis, D. V., Wilson, W. A., & Swartzwelder, H. S. (1990). Reduced sensitivity of the N-methyl-D-aspartate component of synaptic transmission to magnesium in hippocampal slices from immature rats. Brain Res Dev Brain Res, 56(2), 257-262.

Mott, D. D., Doherty, J. J., Zhang, S., Washburn, M. S., Fendley, M. J., Lyuboslavsky, P., Traynelis, S. F., et al. (1998). Phenylethanolamines inhibit NMDA receptors by enhancing proton inhibition. *Nature Neuroscience*, *1*(8), 659-667.

Moykkynen, T. P., Coleman, S. K., Keinanen, K., Lovinger, D. M., & Korpi, E. R. (2009). Ethanol increases desensitization of recombinant GluR-D AMPA receptor and TARP combinations. Alcohol, 43(4), 277-284.

Mulholland, P. J., Self, R. L., Harris, B. R., Little, H. J., Littleton, J. M., & Prendergast, M. A. (2005). Corticosterone increases damage and cytosolic calcium accumulation associated with ethanol withdrawal in rat hippocampal slice cultures. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 29(5), 871-881.

Murphy, J. M., Waller, M. B., Gatto, G. J., McBride, W. J., Lumeng, L., & Li, T. K. (1988). Effects of fluoxetine on the intragastric self-administration of ethanol in the alcohol preferring P line of rats. Alcohol, 5(4), 283-286.

Myers, R. D., & Quarfordt, S. D. (1991). Alcohol drinking attenuated by sertraline in rats with 6-OHDA or 5,7-DHT lesions of N. accumbens: a caloric response? Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 40(4), 923-928.

Naassila, M., Hammoumi, S., Legrand, E., Durbin, P., & Daoust, M. (1998). Mechanism of action of acamprosate. Part I. Characterization of spermidine-sensitive acamprosate binding site in rat brain. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 22(4), 802-809.

Nagy, J. (2004). The NR2B subtype of NMDA receptor: a potential target for the treatment of alcohol dependence. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord, 3(3), 169-179.

Nakanishi, S. (1992). Molecular diversity of the glutamate receptors. Clin Neuropharmacol, 15 Suppl 1 Pt A, 4A-5A.

Napiorkowska-Pawlak, D., Malinowska, B., Pawlak, R., Buczko, W., & Gothert, M. (2000). Attenuation of the acute amnestic effect of ethanol by ifenprodil: comparison with ondansetron and dizocilpine. Fundam Clin Pharmacol, 14(2), 125-131.

Narita, M., Soma, M., Mizoguchi, H., Tseng, L. F., & Suzuki, T. (2000). Implications of the NR2B subunitcontaining NMDA receptor localized in mouse limbic forebrain in ethanol dependence. Eur J Pharmacol, 401(2), 191-195.

Nash, J. E., Fox, S. H., Henry, B., Hill, M. P., Peggs, D., McGuire, S., et al. (2000). Antiparkinsonian actions of ifenprodil in the MPTP-lesioned marmoset model of Parkinson's disease. Exp Neurol, 165(1), 136-142.

Nash, J. E., Hill, M. P., & Brotchie, J. M. (1999). Antiparkinsonian actions of blockade of NR2Bcontaining NMDA receptors in the reserpine-treated rat. Exp Neurol, 155(1), 42-48.

Nash, J. E., Ravenscroft, P., McGuire, S., Crossman, A. R., Menniti, F. S., & Brotchie, J. M. (2004). The NR2B-selective NMDA receptor antagonist CP-101,606 exacerbates L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia and provides mild potentiation of anti-parkinsonian effects of L-DOPA in the MPTP-lesioned marmoset model of Parkinson's disease. Exp Neurol, 188(2), 471-479.

National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (2004) Economic Evaluation of Alcoholism Treatment. Available at http://pubs.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/arh291/27-33.htm.

Narahashi, T., Aistrup, G. L., Marszalec, W., & Nagata, K. (1999). Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: a new target site of ethanol. *Neurochemistry International*, *35*(2), 131-141.

Navasumrit, P., Ward, T. H., Dodd, N. J., & O'Connor, P. J. (2000). Ethanol-induced free radicals and hepatic DNA strand breaks are prevented in vivo by antioxidants: effects of acute and chronic ethanol exposure. Carcinogenesis, 21(1), 93-99.

Nicholson, K. L., Mansbach, R. S., Menniti, F. S., & Balster, R. L. (2007). The phencyclidine-like discriminative stimulus effects and reinforcing properties of the NR2B-selective N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist CP-101 606 in rats and rhesus monkeys. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, *18*(8), 731-743.

Nie, Z., Madamba, S. G., & Siggins, G. R. (1994). Ethanol inhibits glutamatergic neurotransmission in nucleus accumbens neurons by multiple mechanisms. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 271(3), 1566-1573.

Noraberg, J., & Zimmer, J. (1998). Ethanol induces MAP2 changes in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. Neuroreport, 9(14), 3177-3182.

Nose, I., Higashi, H., Inokuchi, H., & Nishi, S. (1991). Synaptic responses of guinea pig and rat central amygdala neurons in vitro. J Neurophysiol, 65(5), 1227-1241.

Nunez, M. J., Rivas, M., Riveiro, P., Suarez, J., Balboa, J., Nunez, L. A., et al. (2002). Effects of nefazodone on voluntary ethanol consumption induced by isolation stress in young and aged rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 73(3), 689-696.

Nutt, J. G., Gunzler, S. A., Kirchhoff, T., Hogarth, P., Weaver, J. L., Krams, M., Jamerson, B., et al. (2008). Effects of a NR2B selective NMDA glutamate antagonist, CP-101,606, on dyskinesia and Parkinsonism. *Movement Disorders: Official Journal of the Movement Disorder Society*, 23(13), 1860-1866.

Obara, I., Bell, R. L., Goulding, S. P., Reyes, C. M., Larson, L. A., Ary, A. W., et al. (2009). Differential effects of chronic ethanol consumption and withdrawal on homer/glutamate receptor expression in subregions of the accumbens and amygdala of P rats. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 33(11), 1924-1934.

O'Brien, C. P., Childress, A. R., Ehrman, R., & Robbins, S. J. (1998). Conditioning factors in drug abuse: can they explain compulsion? J Psychopharmacol, 12(1), 15-22.

Okiyama, K., Smith, D. H., White, W. F., & McIntosh, T. K. (1998). Effects of the NMDA antagonist CP-98,113 on regional cerebral edema and cardiovascular, cognitive, and neurobehavioral function following experimental brain injury in the rat. Brain Res, 792(2), 291-298.

Okiyama, K., Smith, D. H., White, W. F., Richter, K., & McIntosh, T. K. (1997). Effects of the novel NMDA antagonists CP-98,113, CP-101,581 and CP-101,606 on cognitive function and regional cerebral edema following experimental brain injury in the rat. J Neurotrauma, 14(4), 211-222.

Olive, M. F., Koenig, H. N., Nannini, M. A., & Hodge, C. W. (2002). Elevated extracellular CRF levels in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis during ethanol withdrawal and reduction by subsequent ethanol intake. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 72(1-2), 213-220.

Olmos, G., DeGregorio-Rocasolano, N., Paz Regalado, M., Gasull, T., Assumpció Boronat, M., Trullas, R., Villarroel, A., et al. (1999). Protection by imidazol(ine) drugs and agmatine of glutamate-induced neurotoxicity in cultured cerebellar granule cells through blockade of NMDA receptor. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *127*(6), 1317-1326.

Onal, A., Delen, Y., Ulker, S., & Soykan, N. (2003). Agmatine attenuates neuropathic pain in rats: possible mediation of nitric oxide and noradrenergic activity in the brainstem and cerebellum. Life Sci, 73(4), 413-428.

Oscar-Berman, M., Shagrin, B., Evert, D. L., & Epstein, C. (1997). Impairments of brain and behavior -The neurological effects of alcohol. Alcohol Health & Research World, 21(1), 65-75.

Paez, A. M., Shannon, M., Maher, T., & Quang, L. (2004). Effects of 4-methylpyrazole on ethanol neurobehavioral toxicity in CD-1 mice. Acad Emerg Med, 11(8), 820-826.

Parsons, C. G., Danysz, W., & Quack, G. (1998). Glutamate in CNS disorders as a target for drug development: an update. Drug News Perspect, 11(9), 523-569.

Pawlak, R., Melchor, J. P., Matys, T., Skrzypiec, A. E., & Strickland, S. (2005). Ethanol-withdrawal seizures are controlled by tissue plasminogen activator via modulation of NR2B-containing NMDA receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 102(2), 443-448.

Peoples, R. W., & Weight, F. F. (1992). Ethanol inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate-activated ion current in rat hippocampal neurons is not competitive with glycine. Brain Res, 571(2), 342-344.

Peoples, R. W., White, G., Lovinger, D. M., & Weight, F. F. (1997). Ethanol inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate-activated current in mouse hippocampal neurones: whole-cell patch-clamp analysis. Br J Pharmacol, 122(6), 1035-1042.

Pettinati, H. M., Oslin, D. W., Kampman, K. M., Dundon, W. D., Xie, H., Gallis, T. L., et al. (2010). A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial combining sertraline and naltrexone for treating co-occurring depression and alcohol dependence. Am J Psychiatry, 167(6), 668-675.

Pfefferbaum, A., Lim, K. O., Zipursky, R. B., Mathalon, D. H., Rosenbloom, M. J., Lane, B., et al. (1992). Brain gray and white matter volume loss accelerates with aging in chronic alcoholics: a quantitative MRI study. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 16(6), 1078-1089.

Pfefferbaum, A., Rosenbloom, M., Crusan, K., & Jernigan, T. L. (1988). Brain CT changes in alcoholics: effects of age and alcohol consumption. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 12(1), 81-87.

Pierrefiche, O., Daoust, M., & Naassila, M. (2004). Biphasic effect of acamprosate on NMDA but not on GABAA receptors in spontaneous rhythmic activity from the isolated neonatal rat respiratory network. Neuropharmacology, 47(1), 35-45.

Piletz, J. E., May, P. J., Wang, G., & Zhu, H. (2003). Agmatine crosses the blood-brain barrier. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1009, 64-74.

Piletz, J E, Chikkala, D. N., & Ernsberger, P. (1995). Comparison of the properties of agmatine and endogenous clonidine-displacing substance at imidazoline and alpha-2 adrenergic receptors. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 272(2), 581-587.

Popik, P., Wrobel, M., Rygula, R., Bisaga, A., & Bespalov, A. Y. (2003). Effects of memantine, an NMDA receptor antagonist, on place preference conditioned with drug and nondrug reinforcers in mice. Behav Pharmacol, 14(3), 237-244.

Popp, R. L., Lickteig, R., Browning, M. D., & Lovinger, D. M. (1998). Ethanol sensitivity and subunit composition of NMDA receptors in cultured striatal neurons. Neuropharmacology, 37(1), 45-56.

Popp, R. L., Lickteig, R. L., & Lovinger, D. M. (1999). Factors that enhance ethanol inhibition of Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors in cerebellar granule cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 289(3), 1564-1574. Popp, R. L., & Lovinger, D. M. (2000). Interaction of acamprosate with ethanol and spermine on NMDA receptors in primary cultured neurons. Eur J Pharmacol, 394(2-3), 221-231.

Premkumar, L. S., & Auerbach, A. (1997). Stoichiometry of recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor channels inferred from single-channel current patterns. J Gen Physiol, 110(5), 485-502.

Prendergast, M. A., Harris, B. R., Blanchard, J. A., 2nd, Mayer, S., Gibson, D. A., & Littleton, J. M. (2000). In vitro effects of ethanol withdrawal and spermidine on viability of hippocampus from male and female rat. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 24(12), 1855-1861.

Prendergast, M. A., Rogers, D. T., Mulholland, P. J., Littleton, J. M., Wilkins, L. H., Jr., Self, R. L., et al. (2002). Neurotoxic effects of the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 transcription factor Tat require function of a polyamine sensitive-site on the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. Brain Res, 954(2), 300-307.

Prochaska, J. O., DiClemente, C. C., & Norcross, J. C. (1992). In search of how people change. Applications to addictive behaviors. Am Psychol, 47(9), 1102-1114.

Pulvirenti, L., & Diana, M. (2001). Drug dependence as a disorder of neural plasticity: focus on dopamine and glutamate. Rev Neurosci, 12(2), 141-158.

Rassnick, S., Heinrichs, S. C., Britton, K. T., & Koob, G. F. (1993). Microinjection of a corticotropinreleasing factor antagonist into the central nucleus of the amygdala reverses anxiogenic-like effects of ethanol withdrawal. Brain Res, 605(1), 25-32.

Rassnick, S., Pulvirenti, L., & Koob, G. F. (1992). Oral ethanol self-administration in rats is reduced by the administration of dopamine and glutamate receptor antagonists into the nucleus accumbens. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 109(1-2), 92-98.

Rassnick, S., Stinus, L., & Koob, G. F. (1993). The effects of 6-hydroxydopamine lesions of the nucleus accumbens and the mesolimbic dopamine system on oral self-administration of ethanol in the rat. Brain Res, 623(1), 16-24.

Reagan, L. P., & McEwen, B. S. (1997). Controversies surrounding glucocorticoid-mediated cell death in the hippocampus. J Chem Neuroanat, 13(3), 149-167.

Reinke, L. A., Lai, E. K., DuBose, C. M., & McCay, P. B. (1987). Reactive free radical generation in vivo in heart and liver of ethanol-fed rats: correlation with radical formation in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 84(24), 9223-9227.

Reis, D. J., & Regunathan, S. (2000). Is agmatine a novel neurotransmitter in brain? *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, *21*(5), 187-193.

Reis, D. J., Yang, X. C., & Milner, T. A. (1998). Agmatine containing axon terminals in rat hippocampus form synapses on pyramidal cells. *Neuroscience Letters*, 250(3), 185-188.

Ren, H., Honse, Y., & Peoples, R. W. (2003). A site of alcohol action in the fourth membrane-associated domain of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. J Biol Chem, 278(49), 48815-48820.

Reyes, M., Reyes, A., Opitz, T., Kapin, M. A., & Stanton, P. K. (1998). Eliprodil, a non-competitive, NR2B-selective NMDA antagonist, protects pyramidal neurons in hippocampal slices from hypoxic/ischemic damage. Brain Res, 782(1-2), 212-218.

Reynolds, I. J., & Hastings, T. G. (1995). Glutamate induces the production of reactive oxygen species in cultured forebrain neurons following NMDA receptor activation. J Neurosci, 15(5 Pt 1), 3318-3327.

Reynolds, I. J., & Rush, E. A. (1990). Role of lipid solubility in the interaction of drugs with the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. Synapse, 5(1), 71-76.

Rhodes, J. S., Best, K., Belknap, J. K., Finn, D. A., & Crabbe, J. C. (2005). Evaluation of a simple model of ethanol drinking to intoxication in C57BL/6J mice. Physiol Behav, 84(1), 53-63.

Rhodes, J. S., Ford, M. M., Yu, C. H., Brown, L. L., Finn, D. A., Garland, T., Jr., et al. (2007). Mouse inbred strain differences in ethanol drinking to intoxication. Genes Brain Behav, 6(1), 1-18.

Ring, J. R. (2006). Synthetic aromatic agmatine analogs as allosteric modulators of the n-methyl-d-aspartate (nmda) receptor channel (Doctoral dissertation).

Ripley, T. L., & Little, H. J. (1995). Effects on ethanol withdrawal hyperexcitability of chronic treatment with a competitive N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 272(1), 112-118.

Roberto, M., Schweitzer, P., Madamba, S. G., Stouffer, D. G., Parsons, L. H., & Siggins, G. R. (2004). Acute and chronic ethanol alter glutamatergic transmission in rat central amygdala: an in vitro and in vivo analysis. J Neurosci, 24(7), 1594-1603.

Roberts, A. J., McArthur, R. A., Hull, E. E., Post, C., & Koob, G. F. (1998). Effects of amperozide, 8-OH-DPAT, and FG 5974 on operant responding for ethanol. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 137(1), 25-32.

Roberts, A. J., Heyser, C. J., & Koob, G. F. (1999). Operant self-administration of sweetened versus unsweetened ethanol: effects on blood alcohol levels. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 23(7), 1151-1157.

Rock, D. M., & Macdonald, R. L. (1992). The polyamine spermine has multiple actions on N-methyl-Daspartate receptor single-channel currents in cultured cortical neurons. Mol Pharmacol, 41(1), 83-88.

Rodd, Z. A., Bell, R. L., Sable, H. J., Murphy, J. M., & McBride, W. J. (2004). Recent advances in animal models of alcohol craving and relapse. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 79(3), 439-450.

Rodd-Henricks, Z. A., McKinzie, D. L., Murphy, J. M., McBride, W. J., Lumeng, L., & Li, T. K. (2000). The expression of an alcohol deprivation effect in the high-alcohol-drinking replicate rat lines is dependent on repeated deprivations. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 24(6), 747-753.

Romach, M. K., & Sellers, E. M. (1991). Management of the alcohol withdrawal syndrome. Annu Rev Med, 42, 323-340.

Romano, C., Williams, K., DePriest, S., Seshadri, R., Marshall, G. R., Israel, M., & Molinoff, P. B. (1992). Effects of mono-, di-, and triamines on the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor complex: a model of the polyamine recognition site. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *41*(4), 785-792.

Ronald, K. M., Mirshahi, T., & Woodward, J. J. (2001). Ethanol inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors is reduced by site-directed mutagenesis of a transmembrane domain phenylalanine residue. J Biol Chem, 276(48), 44729-44735.

Rose, D. P. (1988). American Health Foundation workshop on alcohol and breast cancer, December 1, 1987. Discussion of future studies. Hormones, alcohol, and breast cancer risk. Prev Med, 17(6), 694-699.

Rossetti, Z. L., & Carboni, S. (1995). Ethanol withdrawal is associated with increased extracellular glutamate in the rat striatum. Eur J Pharmacol, 283(1-3), 177-183.

Rubin, M. A., Berlese, D. B., Stiegemeier, J. A., Volkweis, M. A., Oliveira, D. M., dos Santos, T. L., et al. (2004). Intra-amygdala administration of polyamines modulates fear conditioning in rats. J Neurosci, 24(9), 2328-2334.

Rubin, M. A., Boemo, R. L., Jurach, A., Rojas, D. B., Zanolla, G. R., Obregon, A. D., et al. (2000). Intrahippocampal spermidine administration improves inhibitory avoidance performance in rats. Behav Pharmacol, 11(1), 57-61.

Rubin, M. A., Stiegemeier, J. A., Volkweis, M. A., Oliveira, D. M., Fenili, A. C., Boemo, R. L., et al. (2001). Intra-amygdala spermidine administration improves inhibitory avoidance performance in rats. Eur J Pharmacol, 423(1), 35-39.

Rustembegovic, A., Sofic, E., & Kroyer, G. (2002). A pilot study of Topiramate (Topamax) in the treatment of tonic-clonic seizures of alcohol withdrawal syndromes. Med Arh, 56(4), 211-212.

Ryabinin, A. E., Galvan-Rosas, A., Bachtell, R. K., & Risinger, F. O. (2003). High alcohol/sucrose consumption during dark circadian phase in C57BL/6J mice: involvement of hippocampus, lateral septum and urocortin-positive cells of the Edinger-Westphal nucleus. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 165(3), 296-305.

Sastre, M., Regunathan, S, & Reis, D. J. (1997). Uptake of agmatine into rat brain synaptosomes: possible role of cation channels. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 69(6), 2421-2426.

Sastre, M., Regunathan, S, Galea, E., & Reis, D. J. (1996). Agmatinase activity in rat brain: a metabolic pathway for the degradation of agmatine. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 67(4), 1761-1765.

Sajja, R. K., & Rahman, S. (2011). Lobeline and cytisine reduce voluntary ethanol drinking behavior in male C57BL/6J mice. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry, 35(1), 257-264.

Salimov, R., Salimova, N., Klodt, P., & Maisky, A. (1993). Interaction between alcohol deprivation and morphine withdrawal in mice. Drug Alcohol Depend, 34(1), 59-66.

Sanna, E., Serra, M., Cossu, A., Colombo, G., Follesa, P., Cuccheddu, T., et al. (1993). Chronic ethanol intoxication induces differential effects on GABAA and NMDA receptor function in the rat brain. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 17(1), 115-123.

Sattler, R., Charlton, M. P., Hafner, M., & Tymianski, M. (1998). Distinct influx pathways, not calcium load, determine neuronal vulnerability to calcium neurotoxicity. J Neurochem, 71(6), 2349-2364.

Sattler, R., Xiong, Z., Lu, W. Y., Hafner, M., MacDonald, J. F., & Tymianski, M. (1999). Specific coupling of NMDA receptor activation to nitric oxide neurotoxicity by PSD-95 protein. Science, 284(5421), 1845-1848.

Schorge, S., & Colquhoun, D. (2003). Studies of NMDA receptor function and stoichiometry with truncated and tandem subunits. J Neurosci, 23(4), 1151-1158.

Schwartz, T. L., Siddiqui, U. A., Raza, S., & Costello, A. (2010). Acamprosate calcium as augmentation therapy for anxiety disorders. Ann Pharmacother, 44(12), 1930-1932.

Schwartz, T. L., Chilton, M., & Aneja, A. (2007). An eight-week, open-label, prospective case series of acamprosate calcium as monotherapy for patients with comorbid anxiety symptoms and alcohol misuse: an evaluation for alcohol sobriety and anxiolysis. Psychiatry (Edgmont), 4(4), 19-20.

Seiler, N., & Schmidt-Glenewinkel, T. (1975). Regional distribution of putrescine, spermidine and spermine in relation to the distribution of RNA and DNA in the rat nervous system. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 24(4), 791-795.

Self, R. L., Mulholland, P. J., Harris, B. R., Nath, A., & Prendergast, M. A. (2004). Cytotoxic effects of exposure to the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 protein Tat in the hippocampus are enhanced by prior ethanol treatment. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 28(12), 1916-1924.

Sharma, T. A., & Reynolds, I. J. (1999). Characterization of the effects of polyamines on [1251]MK-801 binding to recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 289(2), 1041-1047.

Sher, K. J., Grekin, E. R., & Williams, N. A. (2005). The development of alcohol use disorders. Annu Rev Clin Psychol, 1, 493-523.

Shibley, I. A., Jr., Gavigan, M. D., & Pennington, S. N. (1995). Ethanol's effect on tissue polyamines and ornithine decarboxylase activity: a concise review. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 19(1), 209-215.

Shimizu, H., Kakimoto, Y., & Sano, I. (1964). The determination and distribution of polyamines in mammalian nervous system. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *143*, 199-204.

Shoemaker, W. J., Vavrousek-Jakuba, E., Arons, C. D., & Kwok, F. C. (2002). The acquisition and maintenance of voluntary ethanol drinking in the rat: effects of dopaminergic lesions and naloxone. Behav Brain Res, 137(1-2), 139-148.

Siggins, G. R., Martin, G., Roberto, M., Nie, Z., Madamba, S., & De Lecea, L. (2003). Glutamatergic transmission in opiate and alcohol dependence. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1003, 196-211.

Simpson, R. J., Lawton, D. J., Watt, M. H., & Tiplady, B. (1981). Effect of zimelidine, a new antidepressant, on appetite and body weight. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 11(1), 96-98.

Simson, P. E., Criswell, H. E., Johnson, K. B., Hicks, R. E., & Breese, G. R. (1991). Ethanol inhibits NMDA-evoked electrophysiological activity in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 257(1), 225-231.

Sinclair, J. D., & Li, T. K. (1989). Long and short alcohol deprivation: effects on AA and P alcoholpreferring rats. Alcohol, 6(6), 505-509.

Sinclair, J.D., & Senter, R.J. (1967). Increased preference for ethanol in rats following deprivation. Psychon Sci. 8(1), 11–12

Sinclair, J. D., Walker, S., & Jordan, W. (1973). Behavioral and physiological changes associated with various durations of alcohol deprivation in rats. Q J Stud Alcohol, 34(3), 744-757.

Sinha, R. (2001). How does stress increase risk of drug abuse and relapse? Psychopharmacology (Berl), 158(4), 343-359.

Sinha, R., Fuse, T., Aubin, L. R., & O'Malley, S. S. (2000). Psychological stress, drug-related cues and cocaine craving. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 152(2), 140-148.

Slotkin, T., & Bartolome, J. (1986). Role of ornithine decarboxylase and the polyamines in nervous system development: a review. Brain Res Bull, 17(3), 307-320.

Slotkin, T. A., Ferguson, S. A., Cada, A. M., McCook, E. C., & Seidler, F. J. (2000). Neonatal polyamine depletion by alpha-difluoromethylornithine: effects on adenylyl cyclase cell signaling are separable from effects on brain region growth. Brain Res, 887(1), 16-22.

Smothers, C. T., Clayton, R., Blevins, T., & Woodward, J. J. (2001). Ethanol sensitivity of recombinant human N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors. Neurochem Int, 38(4), 333-340.

Snell, L. D., Nunley, K. R., Lickteig, R. L., Browning, M. D., Tabakoff, B., & Hoffman, P. L. (1996). Regional and subunit specific changes in NMDA receptor mRNA and immunoreactivity in mouse brain following chronic ethanol ingestion. Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 40(1), 71-78.

Snell, L. D., Tabakoff, B., & Hoffman, P. L. (1993). Radioligand binding to the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor/ionophore complex: alterations by ethanol in vitro and by chronic in vivo ethanol ingestion. Brain Res, 602(1), 91-98.

Solomon, R. L. (1980). The opponent-process theory of acquired motivation: the costs of pleasure and the benefits of pain. Am Psychol, 35(8), 691-712.

Spanagel, R., Holter, S. M., Allingham, K., Landgraf, R., & Zieglgansberger, W. (1996). Acamprosate and alcohol: I. Effects on alcohol intake following alcohol deprivation in the rat. Eur J Pharmacol, 305(1-3), 39-44.

Spanagel, R., Pendyala, G., Abarca, C., Zghoul, T., Sanchis-Segura, C., Magnone, M. C., et al. (2005). The clock gene Per2 influences the glutamatergic system and modulates alcohol consumption. Nat Med, 11(1), 35-42.

Spanagel, R., & Zieglgansberger, W. (1997). Anti-craving compounds for ethanol: new pharmacological tools to study addictive processes. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 18(2), 54-59.

Sparta, D. R., Sparrow, A. M., Lowery, E. G., Fee, J. R., Knapp, D. J., & Thiele, T. E. (2008). Blockade of the corticotropin releasing factor type 1 receptor attenuates elevated ethanol drinking associated with drinking in the dark procedures. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 32(2), 259-265.

Steece-Collier, K., Chambers, L. K., Jaw-Tsai, S. S., Menniti, F. S., & Greenamyre, J. T. (2000). Antiparkinsonian actions of CP-101,606, an antagonist of NR2B subunit-containing N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors. Exp Neurol, 163(1), 239-243.

Stepanyan, T. D., Farook, J. M., Kowalski, A., Kaplan, E., Barron, S., & Littleton, J. M. (2008). Alcohol withdrawal-induced hippocampal neurotoxicity in vitro and seizures in vivo are both reduced by memantine. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 32(12), 2128-2135.

Sterling, P. & Eyer, J., (1988) Allostasis: A new paradigm to explain arousal pathology. In: S. Fisher & J. Reason (Eds.), *Handbook of Life Stress, Cognition and Health.* John Wiley & Sons, New York.

Stoppini, L., Buchs, P. A., & Muller, D. (1991). A simple method for organotypic cultures of nervous tissue. J Neurosci Methods, 37(2), 173-182.

Streeton, C., & Whelan, G. (2001). Naltrexone, a relapse prevention maintenance treatment of alcohol dependence: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Alcohol Alcohol, 36(6), 544-552.

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Office of Applied Studies (2008). *Results from the 2007 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: National Findings* (NSDUH Series H-34, DHHS Publication No. SMA 08-4343). Rockville, MD.

Sucher, N. J., Awobuluyi, M., Choi, Y. B., & Lipton, S. A. (1996). NMDA receptors: from genes to channels. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 17(10), 348-355.

Sullivan, E. V., Rosenbloom, M. J., Lim, K. O., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2000). Longitudinal changes in cognition, gait, and balance in abstinent and relapsed alcoholic men: relationships to changes in brain structure. Neuropsychology, 14(2), 178-188.

Sullivan, E. V., Rosenbloom, M. J., & Pfefferbaum, A. (2000). Pattern of motor and cognitive deficits in detoxified alcoholic men. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 24(5), 611-621.

Sun, A. Y., Chen, Y. M., James-Kracke, M., Wixom, P., & Cheng, Y. (1997). Ethanol-induced cell death by lipid peroxidation in PC12 cells. Neurochem Res, 22(10), 1187-1192.

Suvarna, N., Borgland, S. L., Wang, J., Phamluong, K., Auberson, Y. P., Bonci, A., et al. (2005). Ethanol alters trafficking and functional N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR2 subunit ratio via H-Ras. J Biol Chem, 280(36), 31450-31459.

Suzuki, T., Kato, H., Tsuda, M., Suzuki, H., & Misawa, M. (1999). Effects of the non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonist ifenprodil on the morphine-induced place preference in mice. Life Sci, 64(12), PL151-156.

Tabakoff, B., & Hoffman, P. L. (1996). Alcohol addiction: an enigma among us. Neuron, 16(5), 909-912.

Taksande, B. G., Kotagale, N. R., Patel, M. R., Shelkar, G. P., Ugale, R. R., & Chopde, C. T. (2010). Agmatine, an endogenous imidazoline receptor ligand modulates ethanol anxiolysis and withdrawal anxiety in rats. Eur J Pharmacol, 637(1-3), 89-101.

Tang, C. M., Dichter, M., & Morad, M. (1989). Quisqualate activates a rapidly inactivating high conductance ionic channel in hippocampal neurons. Science, 243(4897), 1474-1477.

Tang, C. M., Dichter, M., & Morad, M. (1990). Modulation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate channel by extracellular H+. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 87(16), 6445-6449.

Taylor, T. J., Diringer, K., Russell, T., Venkatakrishnan, K., Wilner, K., Crownover, P. H., Benincosa, L. J., et al. (2006). Absolute oral bioavailability of traxoprodil in cytochrome P450 2D6 extensive and poor metabolisers. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, *45*(10), 989-1001.

Terdal, E. S., & Crabbe, J. C. (1994). Indexing withdrawal in mice: matching genotypes for exposure in studies using ethanol vapor inhalation. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 18(3), 542-547.

Thomas, J. D., Garcia, G. G., Dominguez, H. D., & Riley, E. P. (2004). Administration of eliprodil during ethanol withdrawal in the neonatal rat attenuates ethanol-induced learning deficits. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 175(2), 189-195.

Toulmond, S., Serrano, A., Benavides, J., & Scatton, B. (1993). Prevention by eliprodil (SL 82.0715) of traumatic brain damage in the rat. Existence of a large (18 h) therapeutic window. Brain Res, 620(1), 32-41.

Tovar, K. R., & Westbrook, G. L. (1999). The incorporation of NMDA receptors with a distinct subunit composition at nascent hippocampal synapses in vitro. J Neurosci, 19(10), 4180-4188.

Traynelis, S. F., & Cull-Candy, S. G. (1990). Proton inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors in cerebellar neurons. *Nature*, *345*(6273), 347-350.

Trevisan, L., Fitzgerald, L. W., Brose, N., Gasic, G. P., Heinemann, S. F., Duman, R. S., et al. (1994). Chronic ingestion of ethanol up-regulates NMDAR1 receptor subunit immunoreactivity in rat hippocampus. J Neurochem, 62(4), 1635-1638.

Trussell, L. O., & Fischbach, G. D. (1989). Glutamate receptor desensitization and its role in synaptic transmission. Neuron, 3(2), 209-218.

Trussell, L. O., Thio, L. L., Zorumski, C. F., & Fischbach, G. D. (1988). Rapid desensitization of glutamate receptors in vertebrate central neurons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 85(12), 4562-4566.

Tsai, G., & Coyle, J. T. (1998). The role of glutamatergic neurotransmission in the pathophysiology of alcoholism. Annu Rev Med, 49, 173-184.

Tsuchida, E., Rice, M., & Bullock, R. (1997). The neuroprotective effect of the forebrain-selective NMDA antagonist CP101,606 upon focal ischemic brain damage caused by acute subdural hematoma in the rat. J Neurotrauma, 14(6), 409-417.

Tymianski, M., Charlton, M. P., Carlen, P. L., & Tator, C. H. (1993). Source specificity of early calcium neurotoxicity in cultured embryonic spinal neurons. J Neurosci, 13(5), 2085-2104.

Tzschentke, T. M. (2002). Glutamatergic mechanisms in different disease states: overview and therapeutical implications -- an introduction. Amino Acids, 23(1-3), 147-152.

Ulrichsen, J., Haugbol, S., Brandt, C. F., Allerup, P., & Hemmingsen, R. (1998). Irreversibility of kindled alcohol-withdrawal behaviour in rats. Alcohol Alcohol, 33(3), 230-243.

Uzbay, I. T. (2009). [New pharmacological approaches to the treatment of schizophrenia]. Turk Psikiyatri Derg, 20(2), 175-182.

Uzbay, I. T., Yesilyurt, O., Celik, T., Ergun, H., & Isimer, A. (2000). Effects of agmatine on ethanol withdrawal syndrome in rats. Behav Brain Res, 107(1-2), 153-159.

Valdez, G. R., Roberts, A. J., Chan, K., Davis, H., Brennan, M., Zorrilla, E. P., et al. (2002). Increased ethanol self-administration and anxiety-like behavior during acute ethanol withdrawal and protracted abstinence: regulation by corticotropin-releasing factor. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 26(10), 1494-1501.

Vengeliene, V., Bachteler, D., Danysz, W., & Spanagel, R. (2005). The role of the NMDA receptor in alcohol relapse: a pharmacological mapping study using the alcohol deprivation effect. Neuropharmacology, 48(6), 822-829.

Vengeliene, V., Celerier, E., Chaskiel, L., Penzo, F., & Spanagel, R. (2009). Compulsive alcohol drinking in rodents. Addict Biol, 14(4), 384-396.

Vengeliene, V., Leonardi-Essmann, F., Sommer, W. H., Marston, H. M., & Spanagel, R. (2010). Glycine transporter-1 blockade leads to persistently reduced relapse-like alcohol drinking in rats. Biol Psychiatry, 68(8), 704-711.

Vengeliene, V., Siegmund, S., Singer, M. V., Sinclair, J. D., Li, T. K., & Spanagel, R. (2003). A comparative study on alcohol-preferring rat lines: effects of deprivation and stress phases on voluntary alcohol intake. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 27(7), 1048-1054.

Wafford, K. A., Bain, C. J., Le Bourdelles, B., Whiting, P. J., & Kemp, J. A. (1993). Preferential coassembly of recombinant NMDA receptors composed of three different subunits. Neuroreport, 4(12), 1347-1349.

Wang, C. X., & Shuaib, A. (2005). NMDA/NR2B selective antagonists in the treatment of ischemic brain injury. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord, 4(2), 143-151.

Wang, J., Carnicella, S., Phamluong, K., Jeanblanc, J., Ronesi, J. A., Chaudhri, N., et al. (2007). Ethanol induces long-term facilitation of NR2B-NMDA receptor activity in the dorsal striatum: implications for alcohol drinking behavior. J Neurosci, 27(13), 3593-3602.

Wei, X. L., Su, R. B., Lu, X. Q., Liu, Y., Yu, S. Z., Yuan, B. L., et al. (2005). Inhibition by agmatine on morphine-induced conditioned place preference in rats. Eur J Pharmacol, 515(1-3), 99-106.

Weiland, N. G., Orchinik, M., & Tanapat, P. (1997). Chronic corticosterone treatment induces parallel changes in N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor subunit messenger RNA levels and antagonist binding sites in the hippocampus. Neuroscience, 78(3), 653-662.

Weiner, J. L., Dunwiddie, T. V., & Valenzuela, C. F. (1999). Ethanol inhibition of synaptically evoked kainate responses in rat hippocampal CA3 pyramidal neurons. Mol Pharmacol, 56(1), 85-90.

Wilkins, L. H., Jr., Prendergast, M. A., Blanchard, J., Holley, R. C., Chambers, E. R., & Littleton, J. M. (2006). Potential value of changes in cell markers in organotypic hippocampal cultures associated with chronic EtOH exposure and withdrawal: comparison with NMDA-induced changes. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 30(10), 1768-1780.

Williams, K. (1997). Interactions of polyamines with ion channels. Biochem J, 325 (Pt 2), 289-297.

Williams, K. (1997). Modulation and block of ion channels: a new biology of polyamines. Cell Signal, 9(1), 1-13.

Williams, K., Kashiwagi, K., Fukuchi, J., & Igarashi, K. (1995). An acidic amino acid in the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor that is important for spermine stimulation. Mol Pharmacol, 48(6), 1087-1098.

Williams, K., Zappia, A., Pritchett, D., Shen, Y., & Molinoff, P. (1994). Sensitivity of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor to polyamines is controlled by NR2 subunits. Mol Pharmacol, 45(5), 803-809.

Wilson, J., & Little, H. J. (1998). CCK(B) antagonists protect against some aspects of the ethanol withdrawal syndrome. Pharmacol Biochem Behav, 59(4), 967-973.

Wirkner, K., Eberts, C., Poelchen, W., Allgaier, C., & Illes, P. (2000). Mechanism of inhibition by ethanol of NMDA and AMPA receptor channel functions in cultured rat cortical neurons. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol, 362(6), 568-576.

Wlaz, P., Ebert, U., & Loscher, W. (1999). Anticonvulsant effects of eliprodil alone or combined with the glycineB receptor antagonist L-701,324 or the competitive NMDA antagonist CGP 40116 in the amygdala kindling model in rats. Neuropharmacology, 38(2), 243-251.

Wright, J. M., Peoples, R. W., & Weight, F. F. (1996). Single-channel and whole-cell analysis of ethanol inhibition of NMDA-activated currents in cultured mouse cortical and hippocampal neurons. Brain Res, 738(2), 249-256.

Wu, N., Su, R.-B., Liu, Y., Lu, X.-Q., Zheng, J.-Q., Cong, B., & Li, J. (2006). Modulation of agmatine on calcium signal in morphine-dependent CHO cells by activation of IRAS, a candidate for imidazoline I1 receptor. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *548*(1-3), 21-28.

Xi, Z. X., & Stein, E. A. (1998). Nucleus accumbens dopamine release modulation by mesolimbic GABAA receptors-an in vivo electrochemical study. Brain Res, 798(1-2), 156-165.

Yin, H. H., Park, B. S., Adermark, L., & Lovinger, D. M. (2007). Ethanol reverses the direction of long-term synaptic plasticity in the dorsomedial striatum. Eur J Neurosci, 25(11), 3226-3232.

Yurkewicz, L., Weaver, J., Bullock, M. R., & Marshall, L. F. (2005). The effect of the selective NMDA receptor antagonist traxoprodil in the treatment of traumatic brain injury. J Neurotrauma, 22(12), 1428-1443.

Zeise, M. L., Kasparov, S., Capogna, M., & Zieglgansberger, W. (1993). Acamprosate (calciumacetylhomotaurinate) decreases postsynaptic potentials in the rat neocortex: possible involvement of excitatory amino acid receptors. Eur J Pharmacol, 231(1), 47-52.

Zheng, X., Zhang, L., Wang, A. P., Araneda, R. C., Lin, Y., Zukin, R. S., et al. (1999). Mutation of structural determinants lining the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor channel differentially affects phencyclidine block and spermine potentiation and block. Neuroscience, 93(1), 125-134.

Zhu, W., Bie, B., & Pan, Z. Z. (2007). Involvement of non-NMDA glutamate receptors in central amygdala in synaptic actions of ethanol and ethanol-induced reward behavior. J Neurosci, 27(2), 289-298.

Zimmer, J., Kristensen, B. W., Jakobsen, B., & Noraberg, J. (2000). Excitatory amino acid neurotoxicity and modulation of glutamate receptor expression in organotypic brain slice cultures. Amino Acids, 19(1), 7-21.

## Vita Ben Lewis

Born Birth Date	Raleigh, North Carolina 11/15/1980	
Education	University of Kentucky Lexington, KY Behavioral Neuroscience & Psychopharmacology Doctora GPA: 3.9	ıl Program
	New College of Florida Sarasota, FL Honors College of the State University System GPA: N/A (Written evaluations only) Major: Psychology Senior Thesis: <i>Early Experience and Basal Ganglia Funct</i>	ion
	Jacksonville University Jacksonville, FL Academic Honors Program GPA: 3.8 Transferred 2001	
Awards	RCTF Dissertation Completion Fellowship, 2010-2011 Psychology Department Teaching Award 2010 Enoch Gordis Award Finalist 2010 Teaching Assistantship, University of Kentucky 2007-2009 Research Assistantship, University of Kentucky 2005-2008 Research Society on Alcoholism Student Travel Award, 2006-2011 Intl. Society for Developmental Psychobiology Travel Award, 2007 New College Admissions Committee Scholarship, 2001 Jacksonville University Dean's List, 1999-2001 Jacksonville University Foundation Scholarship, 1999-2001 Florida Bright Futures Scholarship, 1999	
Research Experience	University of Kentucky Psychology Department Mentor: Susan Barron, PhD	Lexington, KY 2005-2011
	University of Florida Psychiatry Department Mentors: Adrie Bruijnzeel, PhD	Gainesville, FL 2004-2005
	University of Florida Psychiatry Department	Gainesville, FL

	Mentor: John Petitto, PhD	2003-2004	
	New College Psychology Department Mentor: Kim Ryan, PhD	Sarasota, FL 2002	
	University of North Carolina Psychiatry Department Mentor: Richard Mailman, PhD	Chapel Hill, NC 1997	
Publications	Wellmann, K.A., Lewis, B., and Barron, S. (2010). Agmatine reduces ultrasonic vocalization deficits in female rat pups exposed neonatally to ethanol. <i>Neurotoxicology and Teratology 32(2):</i> 158-163.		
	Farook, J.M., Lewis, B., Gaddis, J.G., Littleton, J.M., & Barron Lobeline, a nicotinic partial agonist attenuates alcohol consumpt preference in male C57BL/6J mice. <i>Physiology &amp; Behavior</i> , 97(		
	Farook, J.M., Lewis, B., Gaddis, J.G., Littleton, J.M., & Barron & Effects of mecamylamine on alcohol consumption in C57BL/6J <i>Pharmacology</i> , <i>83</i> (6): 379-84		
	Farook, J.M., Lewis, B., Littleton, J.M., & Barron, S. (2 attenuates the stress-induced increase in alcohol consum preference in male C57BL/6J mice. <i>Physiology &amp; Beha</i>	<ul> <li>a, J.M., Lewis, B., Littleton, J.M., &amp; Barron, S. (2009) Topiramate ates the stress-induced increase in alcohol consumption and ence in male C57BL/6J mice. <i>Physiology &amp; Behavior</i>, 96(1):189-93.</li> <li>M.A., Wellmann, K.A., Lewis, B., Overgaauw, B.O., Littleton, Barron, S. (2009) Difluoromethylornithine (DFMO) reduces deficits ation-induced ultrasonic vocalizations and balance following al ethanol exposure in rats. <i>Pharmacology, Biochemistry &amp; For</i>, 92(1):44-50.</li> </ul>	
	Rubin, M.A., Wellmann, K.A., Lewis, B., Overgaauw, J.M., Barron, S. (2009) Difluoromethylornithine (DFM in isolation-induced ultrasonic vocalizations and balance neonatal ethanol exposure in rats. <i>Pharmacology, Bioch Behavior</i> , 92(1):44-50.		
	Farook, J.M., Krazem, A., Lewis, B., Morrell, D.J., Litt Barron, S. (2008) Acamprosate attenuates the handling convulsions during alcohol withdrawal in Swiss Webste & Behavior. 95(1-2):267-70.	leton, J.M. & induced er mice. <i>Physiology</i>	
	Lewis, B., Wellmann, K.W., Barron, S. (2007) Agmatin Deficits In a Rat Model of Third Trimester Binge-Like <i>Pharmacology, Biochemistry and Behavior</i> , 88(1):114-	ne Reduces Balance Ethanol Exposure. 21.	
	Farook, J.M., Morrell, D.J., Lewis, B., Littleton, J.M., & Topiramate (Topamax®) Reduces Conditioned Abstine Handling Induced Convulsion (HIC) After Chronic Ada Alcohol in Swiss-Webster Mice. <i>Alcohol and Alcoholis</i>	& Barron, S. (2007) ence Behaviors and ministration of m, 42(4):296-300.	

Bruijnzeel, A.W., Lewis, B., Bajpai, L.K., Morey, T.E., Dennis, D.M., & Gold, M. (2006) Severe deficit in brain reward function associated with fentanyl withdrawal in rats. *Biological Psychiatry*, *59*(5):477-80.

Lewis, M.H., Presti, M., Lewis, J.B. & Turner, C.A. (2006) Neurobiology of stereotypy I: Environmental Complexity. In G. Mason & J. Rushen (Eds.), *Stereotypic Animal Behavior: Fundamentals and Applications to Welfare*, 2<sup>nd</sup> (pp 190-226). Oxfordshire, UK: Cromwell Press.